
 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting 
 

Regulatory Committee 
 

Date and Time Wednesday, 16th November, 2022 at 10.00 am 
  
Place Ashburton Hall - HCC 
  
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk 
  
Carolyn Williamson FCPFA 
Chief Executive 
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
 
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the County Council’s website and 
available for repeat viewing, it may also be recorded and filmed by the press and 
public. Filming or recording is only permitted in the meeting room whilst the meeting is 
taking place so must stop when the meeting is either adjourned or closed.  Filming is 
not permitted elsewhere in the building at any time. Please see the Filming Protocol 
available on the County Council’s website. 

 
AGENDA 

  
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence received. 

  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 

any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest 
and, having regard to Part 3 Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members’ Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter is 
discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with 
Paragraph 1.6 of the Code.  Furthermore all Members with a Personal 
Interest in a matter being considered at the meeting should consider, 
having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 4 of the Code, whether such interest 
should be declared, and having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 5 of the 
Code, consider whether it is appropriate to leave the meeting while the 
matter is discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance 
with the Code. 
  

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 3 - 12) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting. 

  

Public Document Pack



4. DEPUTATIONS   
 
 To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12. 

  
5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make. 

  
6. LAND AT FARNHAM ROAD, BOWLING ALLEY CRONDALL  (Pages 

13 - 66) 
 
 To consider a report from the Assistant Director of Minerals, Waste and 

Environment regarding a planning application for change of use of part of 
land forming Redfields Plant Centre to use for recycling of inert materials 
at land at Farnham Road, Bowling Alley, Crondall, GU10 5RW.  
  
 

 
 
 
ABOUT THIS AGENDA: 
On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages. 
 
ABOUT THIS MEETING: 
The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the 
meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require 
wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for 
assistance. 
 
 
County Councillors attending as appointed members of this Committee or by 
virtue of Standing Order 18.5; or with the concurrence of the Chairman in 
connection with their duties as members of the Council or as a local County 
Councillor qualify for travelling expenses. 

mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk


 

1 
 

AT A MEETING of the Regulatory Committee of HAMPSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL held at the castle, Winchester on Wednesday, 19th October, 2022 

 
Chairman: 

* Councillor Peter Latham 
 

* Councillor Lance Quantrill 
  Councillor Lulu Bowerman 
* Councillor Steven Broomfield 
* Councillor Mark Cooper 
* Councillor Rod Cooper 
  Councillor Michael Ford 
  Councillor Keith House 
* Councillor Gary Hughes 
  Councillor Adam Jackman 

* Councillor Alexis McEvoy 
* Councillor Stephen Parker 
*  Councillor Louise Parker-Jones 
* Councillor Stephen Philpott 
* Councillor Roger Price 
*  Councillor Kim Taylor 
* Councillor Hugh Lumby 
*  Councillor Wayne Irish  
   
   
   
*Present 

  
21.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies were received from Councillors LuLu Bowerman, Michael Ford, Keith 
House and Adam Jackman. Councillor Wayne Irish was present as a deputy as 
was Cllr Hugh Lumby, who joined the meeting and deputised from agenda item 
number 7. 
  

22.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members were mindful that where they believed they had a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest in any matter considered at the meeting they must declare 
that interest at the time of the relevant debate and, having regard to the 
circumstances described in Part 3, Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter was discussed, 
save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the 
Code. Furthermore Members were mindful that where they believed they had a 
Non-Pecuniary interest in a matter being considered at the meeting they 
considered whether such interest should be declared, and having regard to Part 
5, Paragraph 2 of the Code, considered whether it was appropriate to leave the 
meeting whilst the matter was discussed, save for exercising any right to speak 
in accordance with the Code. 
  

23.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the last meeting were reviewed and agreed. 
  

24.   DEPUTATIONS  
 
The Chairman confirmed that there were deputations for item numbers 6 and 7, 
which would be called at the relevant point in the agenda. 
  

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

25.   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman thanked Katy Sherwood, Senior Democratic Services Officer, for 
her support to him and the Committee. 
  

26.   FIVE OAKS FARM, SHEDFIELD  
 
The winning and working of up to 230,000 tonnes of soft sand with phased 
working and restoration through backfilling with up to 435,000 tonnes of 
clean inert waste/materials (inclusive of reinstatement of material from 
original extraction), associated internal access routes, plant and 
infrastructure at Five Oaks Farm, Winchester Road, Shedfield, SO32 2HS 
(No. 20/01483/HCS) WR242 
  
The Committee considered a report from the Assistant Director of Minerals, 
Waste and Environment regarding the winning and working of up to 230,000 
tonnes of soft sand with phased working and restoration through backfilling with 
up to 435,000 tonnes of clean inert waste/materials (inclusive of 
reinstatement of material from original extraction), associated internal 
access routes, plant and infrastructure at Five Oaks Farm, Winchester 
Road, Shedfield. 
  
The officer introduced the report, explaining that the recommendation to the 
Committee was to refuse the planning application.  
  
The officer provided the Committee with a presentation, showing a number of 
location maps and aerial views to provide context. These included: 
  

         the surrounding area  
         the road network 
         the location of the local school and pub  
         rights of way, footpaths and proposed access roads 
         the location of a golf club and the nearest neighbours 
         views from various locations on the site, and 
         a site access map illustrated the proposed rerouting of the footpath and 

signage. 
  
The officer explained that the recommendation to refuse the application was on 
the basis of the probability of unacceptable adverse visual and amenity impacts. 
Summarising the recommendation in the report, she stated that the development 
was contrary to: 
  

         Policies 2,5,10,11 and 12 of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 
  

         Policy DM18 Access and Parking of the Winchester City Council Local 
Plan (2013). 

  
 
 
 

Page 4



3 
 

The Committee received deputations against the application from: 
  
Shedfield Parish Council, (Cllr David Ogden, Professor Peter Milla and Kevin 
Freeguard), Kevin Joyce, speaking as a resident and Cllr Achwal, a Winchester 
City Councillor. 
  
Their main reasons for objecting were as follows:  
  

         A lack of consultation and engagement from the applicant. 
  

         Concerns about the road safety impacts of dangerous traffic levels.  
  

         The impact of increased traffic on local roads. 
  

         The impacts of air pollution caused by chemical pollutants on lung 
cancer, deaths and hospitalisations and that only visual dust management 
testing had been completed during the application.  

  
         The close proximity of nurseries and schools and a golf course and hotel 

to the proposed development. 
  

         That the proposed bunding did not take account of dust, noise and light 
pollution with significant harm to properties, which would have to keep 
windows closed due to dust. 

  
         The impact of the development on flooding and sediment laden run off. 

  
         The significant concerns raised had not been addressed by the applicant 

and alternatives not considered.  
  

         The weather had been modelled on Southampton Airport which was not 
relevant to the location of the proposed application. 

  
         An increase in road safety risks with additional heavy goods vehicle 

movements, also resulting in damage and vibration to the roads. 
  

         Already narrow pavements, with road noise already a problem. 
  

         Costs borne by the residents and ratepayers.  
  

         The deputees reported that residents had been through stress and 
anxiety. 

  
         A petition had been signed by more than 3,220 people and 629 

representations had been received. 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



4 
 

A deputation was received from John Palmer, who spoke on behalf of the 
applicant. 
  
He explained that there was an aggregate demand that needed to be met, with 
pressure on larger quarries and that the supply of aggregate and minerals 
needed to be available at the right place at the right time. 
  
He referred to the Welborne Garden Village site which is 2.8 miles from the Five 
Oaks Farm site and explained that the development would help with the 
requirement for soft sand. 
  
He reported that the six local residents to the east of the site had been fully 
considered. A noise assessment had been completed in line with the correct 
guidance which had shown a negligible effect and that the digging would be 
‘down’ and not ‘up’.  
  
The deputee further stated that: 
  

         The effects relating to climate change had been addressed in the 
Environmental Impact Assessment and Environmental Statement, with 
no significant effects. 

  
         Comments about surface water had been misunderstood and that water 

was controlled at a quarry by the operator and managed by pumping. 
  

         The Covid pandemic had made consultation more difficult and that the 
applicant could have done better in this respect. 

  
Local County Councillors Hugh Lumby and Patricia Stallard spoke against the 
application. 
  
They both reiterated comments made by the deputees for the Parish Council and 
residents, in particular the lack of engagement from the applicant and increased 
access and road safety risks, including those related to access routes by 
pavement. 
  
They each thanked the Parish Council and the local residents group for their 
work. 
  
In response to questions from Members to the deputees: 
  

         The Committee was shown the predominant wind flow direction on a 
map. 
  

         It was confirmed that the knowledge regarding impacts on health from 
pollution had been shared with Winchester City Council. 

  
         It was confirmed that there was not satisfactory engagement from the 

applicant. 
  

Page 6



5 
 

         Clarification was given that the Welborne Garden site was being 
considered over a 12 to 15 year period in Fareham Borough Council’s 
plans over 30 years where the Five Oaks Farm site supply was of seven 
years. 

  
         It was confirmed that Shedfield was in flood zone one. 

  
It was confirmed that the Council was currently below its level as per the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan Policies 17 and 20 and that this 
development could contribute to the supply, but that this needs to be balanced 
against other planning considerations. 
  
The Highways Officer provided the Committee with some traffic data in terms of 
the percentage of which was heavy vehicles and buses and the number of 
accidents reported to the Police. 
  
Members debated the report and discussed the reasons for the recommendation 
made, including the lack of community engagement, impact on the level of traffic 
and health. They considered the need for soft sand against the considerations in 
the report and the needs and views of the residents. 
  
The Chairman summarised by reporting that the site visit was very helpful in this 
instance and that the impacts on the visual and amenity aspects could be seen. 
He added that the application had been in existence for two years, however, 
officers still had outstanding information that had not been supplied to them. 
  
RESOLVED 
  
Planning permission was REFUSED for the following reasons, as 
outlined in Appendix A and the Update Report, (agenda item 9): 
  
a) On the basis of the information submitted and notwithstanding the 
proposed mitigation, it is considered that the proposal is likely to result in 
unacceptable adverse visual and amenity impacts to occupiers of nearby 
properties as well as wider amenity impacts associated Heavy Goods 
Vehicle movements, contrary to the requirements of Policies 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity), 12 (Managing traffic) and 
13 (High quality design of minerals and waste development) of the 
Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) and Policy DM20 
(Development and Noise) of the Winchester City Council Local Plan Part 
2 (2017); 
  
b) The development is considered to be contrary to Policy 2 (Climate 
Change mitigation and adaptation) of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste 
Plan as it has not fully evidenced mitigation or adaptation measures to 
minimise its impact on climate change; 
  
c) The development is contrary to the requirements of Policies 5 (Protection 
of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 
11 (Flood risk and prevention) of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan 
(2013) as it cannot be demonstrated that the development can protect 

Page 7



6 
 

local amenity and can protect water quality and surface water drainage 
and cause no additional flood risk; 
  
d) On the basis of the information submitted, the development is contrary to 
the requirements of Policy 12 (Managing traffic) of the Hampshire 
Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) and Policy DM18: Access and Parking of 
the Winchester City Council Local Plan Part 2 (2017) as it does not have 
a safe and suitable access to the highway network and does not include 
suitable mitigation measures to mitigate any significant adverse effects 
on highway safety. 
  
On the basis of the above reasons, the proposal is considered to be 
contrary Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) of the 
Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) as the proposal does not 
constitute a sustainable minerals and waste development. 
  
Voting 
  
Favour: 13 (unanimous)  
  

27.   CHICKENHALL LANE, EASTLEIGH  
 
Cllr Hugh Lumby joined the meeting and Cllr Alexis McEvoy left the meeting. 
  
The development of a Material Recycling Facility and Associated 
Infrastructure at Land off Chickenhall Lane, Eastleigh, Hampshire. 
(No. CS/22/92463) (EA110) 
  
Declarations of Interests 
  
Cllr Parker-Jones declared that as the application was in a neighbouring ward to 
her own, she had been part of the consultation process, but that she would be 
basing her decision on what she heard today. 
  
Cllr Broomfield declared that although he had no pecuniary interest in the item, 
his division is a neighbouring one to where the application was located, and that 
he would vote as he saw fit on the basis of the application. 
  
The Committee considered a report from the Assistant Director of Minerals, 
Waste and Environment regarding the development of a Material Recycling 
Facility (MRF) and Associated Infrastructure at Land off Chickenhall Lane, 
Eastleigh, Hampshire. 
  
The officer introduced the report and explained that the development was to be a 
new modernised facility to replace those at Alton and Portsmouth. 
  
The Committee was shown location maps which illustrated the site and its 
proposed access from Bishopstoke Lane. The location of the railway lane and 
the M27 and M3 were shown as well as an aerial view which showed a 
sewerage treatment plant, the airport and nature conservation designations. 
  

Page 8



7 
 

Other plans were shown including a proposed ground floor plan and the footprint 
of the MRF building. 
  
The officer explained that the facility would allow Hampshire Waste Services to 
modernise and meet legal requirements and guidance in relation to waste 
management, while reducing waste and increasing recycling. 
  
The indicative design picture showed the intention for steel cladding and a roof 
light which would be secured via a condition required by National Air Traffic 
Services, due to the proximity to the airport. 
  
The officer explained the context of the extant planning consent at the site and 
its relationship with the proposal and how the proposal met Policies 25, 26 and 
27 of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan. 
  
The officer reported that the Highways Authority had scrutinised the application 
and found it acceptable. Officers noted that air quality matters were covered by 
the extant consent. The recommendation was also subject to a section 106 
agreement in respect of financial contributions for the Southern Damselfly 
Project, acoustic fencing, management of biodiversity net gain and a contribution 
towards monitoring of the Air Quality Management Area. 
  
A deputation was received from Philip Rodin, Sam Horne and Paul Laughlin 
speaking on behalf of the applicant. 
  
It was explained that: 
  

         The Council is lagging behind with its recycling levels at approximately 
35%.  

  
         The development would allow kerbside recycling to be increased and of 

better quality, particularly where it was expected that a wider range of 
materials would be required to be recycled in the future. 

  
         The work had identified that carbon emissions could be reduced and the 

level of recycling increased by 13%, but this was predicated on new 
infrastructure. 

  
In answer to Members’ questions, the Committee heard that: 
  

         Other alternatives were considered, including the redevelopment of one 
or both of the current sites, but that this would mean closing one or both 
during the development and that the waste would have to go outside of 
Hampshire. 

  
         The site would have the capacity to process approximately 107k tonnes 

per annum, up to 135K tonnes depending on the innovations. 
  

         Solar panels would not be able to be fitted to the roof currently, due to its 
proximity to the runway at Southampton Airport and potential 

Page 9



8 
 

glare/design limitations. This, on further discussion was explained also to 
be connected to radio waves and plane navigation. 

  
         There was a proposed two-stage access to facility.  

  
         Rail access was looked at when the extant proposal was considered in 

2014, but it would need network and siding capacity that Network Rail will 
not allow, making this option inviable. This position has not changed. 

  
         There were no extra heavy goods vehicle movements than with the 

previous extant consent. 
  

         There would be less than a one percent change in air quality levels. 
Work was being done with contractors on alternative possible fuels as 
soon as feasible to do so. 

  
         The design life of the building is 25 to 30 years, if not more. 

  
         There would be a capacity to take a wider variety of materials and 

retrofitting will be possible to accommodate new legislation on packaging. 
  
Members asked about the extant permission and whether any new data relating 
to possible health impacts was reflected and officers explained that new data 
had been published in September 2022 and the Environmental Health Officer 
had withdrawn his objection. 
  
Officers explained that the route of the Chickenhall Link Road had not been 
agreed and was only indicative, although concerns were recognised. 
  
Members debated the report, in particular: 
  

         Lack of benefit to the residents of Eastleigh. 
  

         The road congestion already in Eastleigh and the increase in 
Bishopstoke, Horton Heath and Fair Oak. 

  
         That Eastleigh Borough Council had said the proposed site was key to 

them meeting their recycling target. 
  

         Concerns about levels of pollution. 
  
The officer reported that the matter was one of balance and that conditions and 
legal agreements can address issues such as air quality, ecology, highways 
issues and traffic. She explained that the highways movements will not be 24 
hours a day. 
  
She requested delegated authority to add additional informatives on the removal 
of the SAM beacon, alternative fuels and the further consideration of the link 
road. 
  

Page 10



9 
 

She also indicated that she could seek authority to strengthen any of the 
conditions on air quality if these were requested by the Environmental Health 
Officer. 
  
RESOLVED 
  
Planning permission was GRANTED subject to the conditions listed in 
Appendix A, the Update Report (agenda item 9), proposed additional 
informatives and the completion of a legal agreement in relation to the following 
areas: 
  
a) A Biodiversity Net Gain Plan and Management Plan for long term 
management of on and off-site mitigation sites; 
b) a contribution of £50,000 (index linked) towards the enhancement / 
monitoring of the Southern Damselfly in the River Itchen; and 
c) a contribution towards the recurring annual cost of monitoring the AQMAs; 
d) delivery of acoustic fencing near Chicken Hall Cottages. 
  
Voting  
  
Favour: 9 
Against: 4 
  

28.   UPDATE REPORT ON LOCAL PROTOCOL FOR REGULATORY 
COMMITTEE  
 
The Committee received a report from Legal Services to inform Regulatory 
Committee members of the updated Local Protocol on Planning, Rights of Way, 
Commons and Village Greens Registration. 
  
The Chairman explained that a lot of changes had been made to the protocol in 
conjunction with the officer and the Monitoring Officer and that he hoped it 
reflected Members’ wishes. 
  
The officer explained the key proposed changes to the protocol. 
  
In answer to a Member’s question regarding paragraph 11.3, the officer reported 
that the wording could be amended to make it clearer. 
  
Members discussed site visits and officers explained how these were arranged 
and that the Committee could always request one, even if it was not in the Code 
of Conduct. Members felt that it was necessary to have more notice of specific 
site visits. 
  
It was noted that some of the links in the document do not work, and officers 
confirmed that this would be resolved. 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 11



10 
 

RESOLVED 
  
The Regulatory Committee recommended adoption of the updated Protocol 
together with the onward governance requirements necessary to give effect to 
the Protocol. 
  
Vote 
  
Favour: 12 
Against: 0 
Abstained: 1 
 
 
 
  
 Chairman, Regulatory Committee 
 

Page 12



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
Decision Report 

 
Decision Maker: Regulatory Committee 
Date: 16 November 2022 
Title: Change of use of part of land forming Redfields Plant Centre 

to use for recycling of inert materials at Land at Farnham 
Road, Bowling Alley, Crondall GU10 5RW (No. 21/02058/HCC  
HR109)  

Report From: Assistant Director of Minerals, Waste and Environment 
 
Contact name: Tim Felstead 

Tel:   07761 330557 Email: planning@hants.gov.uk  
 
Recommendation 
 
1. That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions listed in 

Appendix A. 

 
Executive Summary  
 
2. The planning application is for change of use of part of land forming 

Redfields Plant Centre to use for recycling of inert materials at land at 
Farnham Road, Bowling Alley, Crondall. It is a retrospective planning 
application. 

3. This application is being considered by the Regulatory Committee as 
requested by the County Councillor Glen and due to the number of 
objections presented by the local residents. 

4. Key issues raised are: 

• Need for waste development; 
• Visual impact; 
• Dust impacts; 
• Noise impacts;  
• Impacts on ecology and Ancient woodland; 
• Impacts on the water environment;  
• Highway safety; 
• Location criteria and special need; and 
• Acceptability within a countryside setting. 

 
5. A committee site visit by Members took place on 4 July 2022 in advance of 

the proposal being considered by the Regulatory Committee.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6

mailto:planning@hants.gov.uk


6. The proposed development is not an Environmental Impact Assessment 
development under the Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017.  

7. On balance, it is considered that the proposal would be in accordance with 
the relevant policies of the adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 
(2013) (HMWP)and the Hart Local Plan (Strategy and Sites) 2032 (2020).  

8. The principle of the development is supported by Policies 17 (Aggregate 
supply – capacity and source), 18 (Recycling and secondary aggregate), 
25 (Sustainable waste management), 27 (Capacity for waste management 
development) and 30 (Construction, demolition and excavation waste 
development) of the HMWP (2013) in that the movement of waste materials 
up the waste hierarchy is encouraged to divert them from landfill, and 
recycling of construction, demolition and excavation (CDE) waste to 
produce beneficial aggregate products can provide an alternative to 
marine-won or land won sand and gravel for certain purposes. 

9. It is considered that the proposal would not adversely impact surround 
habitat and biodiversity including those in the designated Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) and Ancient Woodland (Policy 
3).  The proposal is considered to be appropriate in terms of visual impact 
and landscape in the countryside setting (Policies 5 and 10).  The site is 
well screened by existing vegetation, existing buildings, and by an 
approved vegetated bunding to be completed. The fencing and netting is 
judged to be appropriate for the setting subject to conditions on colours and 
the site will benefit from a screening bund and additional planting.  This is 
supplemented by conditions to provide reinforcement of the nearby 
hedgerows and implementation of the separate Hart District Council 
planning permission (20/01838/FUL) regarding planting along the bund will 
visually screen the operation.  Conditions limiting the height of stockpiles 
and restriction on the working height of vehicles will further help keep the 
proposed development out of sight particularly from the nearby Public 
Rights of Way (PROW) and public highway.  

10. The proposed development already has an Environmental Permit for 
processing of waste from the Environment Agency. The Assessments 
submitted as part of the planning application demonstrate that any pollution 
impacts from dust or site drainage can be adequately mitigated. Regarding 
noise, the nearest residential receptor is the residence of the operator and 
would experience between low and adverse noise effects. At other 
sensitive receptors beyond that noise impacts have also been 
demonstrated to be at or below existing background levels.  The operation 
is therefore not expected to result in adverse public health and safety 
impacts and no unacceptable amenity impacts (Policy 10).   The 
development in in Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk) and it is considered that the 
development will not impact the existing flood risk or drainage. (Policy 11). 

11. The existing access is adequate for the proposed vehicles type and 
numbers, the existing highways network will be able to accommodate the 

Page 14

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://publicaccess.hart.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=QELIY7HZKY300&activeTab=summary


additional traffic, and the highway safety at the Bowling Alley/A287 junction 
will not be exacerbated by the proposal (Policy 12). 

12. While it is now confirmed by Hart District Council that the site is not 
Previously Developed Land (PDL), the applicant has demonstrated that 
there is a local need for the operation which supports the location of the 
development in the countryside (Policy 5).  The site has good transport 
connections with the local market served (Policy 25).  However, the 
proposal does not demonstrate effectively it meets a ‘special need’ (Policy 
29). 

13. Paragraph 3.5 of the HMWP (2013) describes how, in making a planning 
decision judgement should be used in the weight given to the various 
elements of the plan and other material considerations when concluding 
whether the balance of evidence shows the development to be sustainable 
and should be granted planning permission.    

14. While planning applications should be assessed on their own merits, 
consideration has also been given to the Planning Inspector’s Decision for 
an appeal for the same operation at a location 1.8km east along the A287 
(Peacocks Nursery).  Particularly relevant, are conclusions on the principle 
of the proposed development and the benefits provided which included 
serving a local market for soils and products from inert waste. The 
Inspector noted ‘the need for such development carries moderate weight in 
the appellant’s favour’. In that instance, the appeal was allowed despite not 
being found to be in accordance with Policy 29 of the HMWP (2013) and 
the site not being Previously Developed Land. It is unclear the level of 
weight the Inspector placed on the temporary duration of the proposal 
although they referenced that their decision accounted for the temporary 
nature of the development.   

15. Taking all matters into account, on balance, the proposal is considered to 
be an acceptable development and be sustainable in accordance with 
Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) of the HMWP 
(2013). 

 
The Site 
 
16. The site occupies an area of approximately 0.5 hectares of land. The 

Location Plan (see Appendix A - Location Plan) shows that the site lies 
approximately 1.5 kilometres (km) to the north of the village of Crondall, 
and 200 metres (m) south of the A287.  The site is approximately 7km from 
the M3 and 7km from the A31. 

17. Prior to the relocation of the applicant’s business to the site, it was an 
existing operational yard previously associated with the neighbouring 
landscaping business that operates from the area of land immediately north 
of the subject site. Hart District Council, as the Local  Planning Authority for 
the previous development of the wider site, have determined the lawfulness 

Page 15

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


of the use of the subject site as an ‘operational yard’ has not been 
established in planning terms, and or the purpose of the development of 
the subject site, it cannot be considered as lawful PDL (this is discussed 
further below in in ‘Development in the countryside’).   

18. Access to the site is achieved from Bowling Alley along a short access 
driveway which is also under the applicant’s control. Bowling Alley 
connects to the A287 at the north providing access to the wider highway 
network. 

19. The site lies within the countryside but is relatively enclosed as it is 
bounded by woodland along the southern and eastern boundary. The 
access driveway connects at the west of the site and the driveway has an 
existing screening bund in place.   

20. The existing screening bund was granted by Hart District Council (Planning 
permission 20/01838/FUL).  Beyond the landscape bund is an agricultural 
field which is a former landfill and is also under the control of the applicant.  
To the north is an existing landscape business with associated office 
buildings.   

21. Public Right of Way (PROW) ‘Crondall 14’ is approximately 200m west of 
the site boundary and runs north-south from the A287.  The PROW is 
screened from the site by the driveway landscaping bund described above.   

22. Hurst House is the nearest residential properties to the site situated 
approximately 75m north of the site boundary and is owned by the 
applicant. Bowenhurst Cottages which is a residential property with a dog 
kennels and cattery is located 150m north of the subject site on Bowling 
Alley, opposite the private driveway entrance.  The residential property of 
Willow House is located 160m away from the eastern site boundary.  

23. The site is not located in a sensitive flood zone (in Flood Zone 1, the lowest 
risk zone) but is situated in a sensitive groundwater area Zone 2 of the 
Environment Agency’s Groundwater Source Protection Zones (SPZs).  

24. The site is not situated within any designated sensitive heritage, ecological 
or landscape sites.  Part of the adjacent woodland to the south is 
designated as ancient woodland (beginning from 70m into woodland from 
southern site boundary). The entirety of the woodland area to the south is 
designated as a Site of Interest for Nature Conservation (SINC). A further 
SINC is located 120m north of the site on the opposite side of Bowling 
Alley. 

Planning History 
 
25. The site has no previous minerals or waste planning history associated with 

the site.  The fields immediately to the west are a restored inert waste 
landfill (HCC site references HR077 and HR041). 

Page 16

https://publicaccess.hart.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=QELIY7HZKY300&activeTab=summary


26. The recent District planning history is of relevance to the application.  The 
wider site has a history of use for horticultural nursery facilities.  Structures 
including polytunnels, portacabins, water tanks are located in an area 
immediately north to the subject site and the area is accessed through the 
subject site.  

27. Most recently Hart District Council granted planning permission for 
reconfiguration of the area immediately to the north and the subject site 
with demolition of existing buildings and structures, with the erection of new 
buildings and structures (14/03075/FUL).  The stated existing use of the 
wider area at that time was a landscape contractors business.  The 
proposed site was part of this redevelopment. The site was to be 
redeveloped into a yard with storage bays for recycled materials and skips, 
operational parking and materials set down areas.  The ‘existing site plan’ 
submitted with that application showed the part of the wider site subject to 
this current application as an area featuring soil, rubbish, and aggregate 
heaps; a green waste screener; a container; a water tank; bays for storage 
of wood chipping, and an area of tarmac hard standing with a canopy.  
Open areas were shown as a gravel/tarmac surface (likely the road 
planings that currently surface the site). 

28. Planning permission 14/03075/FUL was granted on 17 March 2015 and 
included a condition for development to start within three years and 
conditions to be discharged prior to any development occurring.  On 26 
June 2018, Hart District Council informed the then applicant that the 
permission expired as the necessary conditions had not been discharged in 
time as the final schemes had been submitted too late (18/00604/CON).  
Hart District Council also stated that the driveway improvement that would 
have been allowed under the planning permission were considered 
unlawful. A Section 278 legal agreement had been signed to cover the 
improvements to the site access. 

29. The existing screening bund was granted by Hart District Council (Planning 
permission 20/01838/FUL) prior to the current uses commencing on site 
although associated planting is still to be completed.   

30. The site is not identified in the adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste 
Plan (2013) as an allocated waste management site nor is it a safeguarded 
waste site. 

31. Other relevant planning history relates to the proposed operation.  Prior to 
moving to the subject site the operator was located 1.8km to the east along 
the A287 in ‘Land behind Peacocks Nursery’ (16/03156/HCC).  The 
application was refused on 23 March 2017, and was allowed on appeal 
(Appeal on 16 January 2018 for a temporary period of 20 months 
(APP/Q1770/C/17317/6219).   

 
 
 

Page 17

https://publicaccess.hart.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NGZO9SHZK0W00
https://publicaccess.hart.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NGZO9SHZK0W00
https://publicaccess.hart.gov.uk/online-applications/files/36C1A2F9762AC1B5FC7744998FC1A3CD/pdf/18_00604_CON-DECISION-1327384.pdf
https://publicaccess.hart.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=QELIY7HZKY300&activeTab=summary
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/Planning/Display/16/03156/HCC#undefined
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/Document/Download?module=PLA&recordNumber=17801&planId=64261&imageId=51&isPlan=False&fileName=APPEAL%20DECISION%203176219.pdf


The Proposal 
 
32. The proposal is for a change of use of an existing operational yard 

previously associated with the adjacent landscaping business.  The change 
of use would allow aggregate and soil recycling to be undertaken on the 
site. Construction, demolition and excavation waste would be brought to 
the site before it is crushed/screened on site to produce, soils, aggregate 
and sub-base materials which are then exported by the site operator.  

33. It is a retrospective application. More discussion on the retrospective nature 
of the application is provided below under Retrospective nature of the 
application. 

34. As the nature of the uses were waste, a new planning application to 
retrospectively regularise the uses was submitted to Hampshire County 
Council as Waste Planning Authority. 

35. A 360⁰ excavator is used to sort the imported materials.  A stand-alone 
crusher is used to crush the concrete.  A soil screener is used to remove 
larger material from the imported soils. A loading shovel is used to load 
Heavy Commercial Vehicles (HGVs) for export of material. 

36. Landscaping screening bunding is already located on site under an existing 
planning permission although the associated planting is yet to be 
completed. Aggregate storage bays are located to the west of the site near 
the end of the private driveway.   

37. The proposed site layout (see Appendix C) would also see: 

• a new 2m height concrete wall constructed around the southern and 
eastern perimeter of the site to prevent dust and any other material 
reaching the surrounding woodland.  The walls would be topped with 
4m tubular poles that would support additional dust netting (6m 
total); 

• bat and bird boxes on trees on adjacent land within the operators 
control; and 

• Additional planting along the bunds. 
  

38. The centre of the yard would be occupied with stockpiles of material that 
either has been processed or is waiting to be processed. 

39. Import and export of materials would occur by Heavy Goods Vehicles 
(HGVs).  It is estimated that the daily operations would result in 24 HGV 
movements with 4 HGVs being parked overnight.  There would be two 
operatives that require to park at the site along with HGV drivers parking 
their vehicles for the day.  

40. Requested hours of operation are 0700 – 1800 Monday to Friday and 
0800-1300 on Saturday.  The applicant proposes no crushing would take 

Page 18



place on Saturdays with only delivery or export of material allowed.  No 
working is proposed on Sundays or recognised Public Holidays.  

41. No external lighting is proposed. 

42. The applicant proposes to import 15,000 tonnes of soils and inert waste per 
annum and for stockpile to be no greater than 5 metres (m) in height. 

43. The site is accessed via Bowling Alley and is 130m from the A287. The 
access onto the A237 is approximately 7.5km from the A31 to the east and 
the same distance to the M3 to the west.  The A287 is not identified as part 
of the Strategic Road network under the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan 
Policies Map - October 2013.   

44. The site is already subject to an existing Environmental Permit regulated by 
the Environment Agency. 

Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
45. The proposed development has been assessed under Town & Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.; 10(a) - 
Urban development projects and 11(b) Installations for the disposal of 
waste (unless included in Schedule 1) and does not require an 
Environmental Impact Assessment.   A Screening Opinion confirming this 
was issued by the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority on 19 August 
2021. 

 
Development Plan and Guidance 
 
46. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that applications are determined in accordance with the statutory 
‘development plan’ unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Therefore, consideration of the relevant plans, guidance and policies and 
whether the proposal is in accordance with these is of relevance to decision 
making.   

 
47. The key policies in the development plan which are material to the 

determination of the application, are summarised below. In addition, 
reference is made to relevant national planning policy and other policies 
that guide the decision-making process and which are material to the 
determination of the application.   

 
48. For the purposes of this application, the statutory development plan 

comprises the following: 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (NPPF) 
49. The following paragraphs are relevant to this proposal: 

Page 19

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1004408/NPPF_JULY_2021.pdf


• Paragraphs 10 -12: Presumption in favour of sustainable 
development; 

• Paragraphs 38 and 47: Decision making and determination; 
• Paragraphs 55 - 56: Planning conditions; 
• Paragraphs 57: Planning obligations; 
• Paragraphs 81: Support of sustainable economic growth; 
• Paragraphs 84 - 85: Rural economy; 
• Paragraphs 180 - 181: Biodiversity and planning; and 
• Paragraphs 183 - 188: Ground conditions and pollution.  

 
National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) (NPPW) 

 
50. The following paragraphs are relevant to the proposal: 

• Paragraph 1: Delivery of sustainable development and resource 
efficiency; and  

• Paragraph 7: Determining planning applications. 
 
National Waste Planning Practice Guidance (NWPPG)  

 
51.  The following paragraphs are relevant to the proposal: 

• Paragraph 07 (Self-sufficient and proximity principle) (16 October 
2014); 

• Paragraph 046 (Need) (16 October 2014); 
• Paragraph 050 (Planning and other regulatory regimes) (16 October 

2014); and  
• Paragraph 051 (Role of Environmental Permit) (16 October 2014). 

 
Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) (HMWP)  

 
52. The following policies are relevant to the proposal:  

• Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development); 
• Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species); 
• Policy 5 (Protection of the countryside); 
• Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity); 
• Policy 11 (Flood risk and prevention); 
• Policy 12 (Managing traffic);  
• Policy 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development); 
• Policy 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and source); 
• Policy 18 (Recycled and secondary aggregates development); 
• Policy 25 (Sustainable waste management); 

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-for-waste
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/waste/
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


• Policy 27 (Capacity for waste management development); 
• Policy 29 (Locations and sites for waste management); and 
• Policy 30 (Construction, demolition and excavation waste 

development). 
 

Hart Local Plan Strategy & Sites 2032 (2020)  
 

53. The following policies are relevant to the proposal:  

• Policy SD1 (Sustainable development); 
• Policy ED3 (Rural economy); 
• Policy NBE1 (Development in the Countryside); 
• Policy NBE2 (Landscape); 
• Policy NBE 4 (Biodiversity); 
• Policy NBE9 (Design); 
• Policy NBE11 (Pollution); and 
• Policy INF3 (Transport). 

 
Hart Local Plan (Replacement) 1996-2006 Saved Policies (2020) 

 
54. The following policies are relevant to the proposal: 

• GEN1 (General policy for development; and  
• GEN2 (Policy for noisy/un-neighbourly developments). 

 
 
 Crondall Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan (2021)  
 
55. The following policies are relevant to the proposal: 

• Policy 3 (Good Design); and 
• Policy 4 (Crondall/Mill Lane Gap). 

 
 
Consultations  

 
56. County Councillor Glen: Has objection to the proposal and has requested 

it be considered by the Regulatory Committee. 

57. Hart District Council - Planning:  No objection based on small scale of 
the operation and it being unlikely to have strategic implications for Hart 
District Council.  Identified potential impacts that the MWPA should 
consider in in determining the application noting visual impact, 
ecology/biodiversity, trees, drainage/flooding, noise/dust pollution, and 
traffic generation.  

Page 21

https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS&S.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Saved%20Policies%20April%202020%20-%20accessible%20version%20v0.2.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/3_Visiting_Hart/Towns_and_parishes/Crondall/Crondall%20Neighbourhood%20Plan%20Referendum%20Version.pdf


Clarification was received confirming that HDC did not consider the site to 
be PDL as no planning application had been received and the subject site 
does not have a Lawful Development Certificate (LDC).  They concluded 
that the lawfulness of the use of the land as ‘operational yard’ has not been 
established in planning terms and therefore for the purpose of the 
development that HCC is considering that part of the site, as it stands, 
cannot be considered as a lawful PDL.       

58. Hart District Council - Ecology – Noted the presence of the SINC which 
was not initially identified in the submitted Ecology Assessment (this was 
corrected in a revised Ecological Assessment.  Also noted the use of the 
concrete wall as mitigation to prevent impact to the woodland but stated 
their preference would be for a buffer strip to separate the operation from 
the woodland.  Regarding the concrete containment wall, suggested 
consideration given to a return to the wall in the at the north of the site to 
ensure materials are contained. Suggested action to remediate the rubbish 
materials located in drainage ditches surrounding the site.  Suggested 
additional ecology enhancements could include management of any 
woodland under control of the applicant. 

59. Hart District Council Landscape – Provided comments on the 
landscaping bund that runs parallel to the bund on the west edge of the 
access driveway.  (The bund and associated planting is outside of the 
subject site and was given planning permission by Hart District Council 
(20/01838/FUL) - this includes an approved planting scheme.  Comments 
received in response to the subject application suggested an alternative 
planting scheme with a hedgerow replacing the trees.  Stated a planting 
and management scheme should be required as a condition. 

60. Hart District Council Environmental Health Officer (EHO): Has no 
objection.   

Reviewed three versions of Environmental Noise Survey and Plant 
Noise Assessment Report.  Following a clarification request from MWPA 
in response to concerns raised by the public and Crondall Parish Council 
on noise concerns, the EHO requested the applicant provide two further 
revisions of the noise assessment.   Second version was requested to use 
a more appropriate methodology (BS 4142:2014 + A1:2019) versus the 
standard in the national Planning Policy Guidance on Minerals.  Third and 
final version was requested to improve background noise assessment at 
the three properties most impacted properties (Hurst House, Bowenhurst 
Cottages, and Willow House), assess the combined impact of all plant 
running simultaneously as a worst case scenario, confirm that the plant 
was crushing concrete at the time of measurement, and to consider 
acoustic corrections as required by the measurement standard.  

Noted that the impact as Willow House and Bowenhurst Cottages is 
expected to be ‘Low Impact’ in line with the measurement standard.  While 
the levels at Hurst House, as the premise is in the applicant’s own demise 

Page 22

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mw-attachment?location=PLANNING%5C15-02619-HCS%5Cconsultees%5CEnvironmental%20Health.pdf


they would have control over noise levels if it was a disturbance to 
themselves. 

Supported the proposed time restrictions proposed by the application and 
noted no external lighting was proposed.   

Referenced the Dust Emissions Management System, Environmental 
Management System, and Noise & Vibration Emissions Management 
System documents submitted with the application and the Environmental 
Permit to which they were related.  They had no comment on these 
documents based on the stipulations of NPPF Paragraph 188 (i.e. if site 
operations are subject to separate pollution control regimes, planning 
decisions should assume these regimes will operate effectively. 

61. Crondall Parish Council: Has objection. Considers the negative impacts 
outweigh the proposed benefits for multiple reasons 

• Planning permission 14/03075/FUL had lapsed meaning any 
development of the subject site was unlawful.  The subject site should 
not be considered previously developed land.  Referenced Policy 5 
(Development in the Countryside) would not support development on 
a ‘greenfield’ location.  Disagreed with HDC conclusion that it was 
previously developed land associated with the existing landscape 
business. 

• The proposed development is located in the Crondall Gap (Policy 4 of 
the adopted Crondall Neighbourhood Plan) which aims to retain 
separation between Mill Lane and Crondall. 

• Being contrary to Policies 25 and 29 of HMWP (2013) in terms of 
location of the subject site and lack of ‘special need’ for the use of the 
location. 

• Unsafe highway access onto the A287 and errors in the analysis 
supporting the Transport Statement. 

• Unacceptable impacts on noise and dust.  In particular stated there 
were deficiencies in the noise assessment.  Also noted lack of 
assessment of particulates generated by the operation of the 
development. 

• There would be ecological impact to surrounding ditches and 
woodland from the development and the proposed mitigation was 
insufficient. 

• Although the development is ‘hidden’ from view it would have an 
urbanising effect on the landscape due to the 24 HGV movements per 
day. 

• Numerous public representations opposing the development.    
 

62. Environment Agency: Has no objection.  Noted the proposal would not 
have a significant impact on ground water quality.   

63. Farnborough Airport: No objection 

Page 23

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mw-attachment?location=PLANNING%5C15-02619-HCS%5Cconsultees%5CMicheldever%20PC.pdf


64. Blackbushe Airport: Was Notified 

65. Defence Infrastructure Organisation:  No objection. 

66. Local Highway Authority: Has no objection subject to a condition that 
ensure vehicles leaving the site do not deposit mud or other dirt or debris 
on the road.  Noted that the accident information submitted in the transport 
statement showed there were no accidents at the intersection of Bowling 
Alley with the A287.  The swept path analysis demonstrated the access 
onto Bowling Alley was adequate.  The highway network was able to 
accommodate the additional traffic generated.  The application stated all 
traffic will turn right into the site and right out of the site (and so not travel 
along the longer stretch of Bowling Alley to ward Crondall) 

67. Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA): Has no comments to make.  Noted 
that the change of use would not change the surface water management or 
flood risk.   

68. Landscape Planning and Heritage (Landscape) (Hampshire County 
Council): Has no objection subject to conditions.  Noted the site currently 
only has a semi-enclosed character as the hedgerows alongside the 
adjacent lane and road are not thick and have gaps which allows views into 
the site for properties on Mill Lane, on Farnham Road (A287) and Bowling 
Alley.  The planting along the bund is key to screening site views from the 
footpath. 

The proposed 5 m stockpiles with allowance to use a 360 excavator on top 
of them was considered too intrusive.  The existing earth bund constructed 
as part of planning permission 20/01838/FUL have not been seeded as 
proposed under that planning and ruderals are beginning to colonise.  

Recommended conditions be added to address the above issues: 

• Infill planting along the field boundary hedgerows on Farnham Lane 
(A287) and Bowling Alley; 

• the netting should be dark coloured (black, dark green or dark brown); 
• stockpiles maximum of 4m above ground level be required, together 

with machinery being required to work below the level of screening 
bunds; 

• Thorough preparation of the bund and ongoing maintenance to 
remove ruderals; 

• Initial planting should be maintained for a period of 5 years post 
implementation and any plant failures in each and every year of that 
period, should be replaced in the next planting season. 

 
69. Landscape Planning and Heritage (Archaeology) (Hampshire County 

Council): No archaeological issues as no sites currently recorded in the 
location and the existing development of the land will have compromised 
any archaeological potential. 

Page 24

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mw-attachment?location=planning%5C15-02619-HCS%5Cconsultees%5CLead%20Local%20Flood%20Authority.pdf


70. Arboriculture (Hampshire County Council): No objection subject to 
conditions.  Noted that no trees would be lost as part of the proposed 
development and that trees provided along the bund would be welcomed. 
Recommended a condition requiring submission of a Tree Protection Plan 
and Arboricultural Method Statement. 

71. County Ecologist (Hampshire County Council): No objection subject to 
conditions.  Requested additional details be added to the submitted 
Ecological Assessment to address concerns over the lack of habitats 
assessed, the proximity of the aggregate bins and wall to the SINC, 
proposed protective fencing and ability to mitigate dust impacts, surface 
water drainage and release of silt into ditches which drain to ancient 
woodland. 

Following submission of an updated Ecological Impact Assessment the 
County Ecologist was satisfied that it assesses the impacts on the ancient 
woodland habitat.  Also noted that the additional planting associated with 
the bund and bird/bat boxes provided further biodiversity compensation and 
enhancement.  Were satisfied that pollutant impacts including from dust 
could be mitigated with the construction of the wall, netting and dust 
monitoring.  Waste removal from the drainage ditches was also picked up 
on.  The planted bund offered opportunities for wildlife connectivity. 

Recommended condition stating development is undertaken according to 
the measures set out in the Ecological Impact Assessment, approved 
planting of the bund per the planting plan approved under 20/01838/FUL, 
and the Dust Management Scheme. 

 
Representations 
 
72. Hampshire County Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2017) 

(SCI) sets out the adopted consultation and publicity procedures 
associated with determining planning applications. 

73. In complying with the requirements of the SCI, Hampshire County Council: 

• Published a notice of the application in the Hampshire Independent; 
• Placed notices of the application at the application site and local area; 
• Consulted all statutory and non-statutory consultees in accordance 

with The Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015; and 

• Notified by letter all residential properties within 100 metres of the 
boundary of the site and some additional properties further than 
100m. 

 
74. As of 8 November 2022, a total of 68 representations (from 46 

respondents) to the proposal have been received - all objected to the 
proposal. The main areas of concern raised in the objections related to the 
following areas: 

Page 25

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/sci-2.htm
http://www3.hants.gov.uk/publicnotices/public-notice-publication.htm
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/2/made


• conflict with ‘Crondall Gap’ in Neighbourhood Plan; 
• site’s status as Previously Developed Land; 
• previous use of land not of same scale as current proposal; 
• impact of the site and its activities on the rural location; 
• residential (noise, air quality, dust, health) and visual amenity and 

landscape impact including proposed wall and netting; 
• surface water/flooding impacts; 
• impact on wildlife/designate sites; 
• arboriculture impacts; 
• Impact on historic setting; 
• hazardous nature of waste; 
• pollution, odour, and emissions associated with the development; 
• surrounding highways/local roads not suitable for additional HGV 

movements including junction of A287 and Bowling Alley; 
• associated HGVs parking inappropriately at nearby petrol station;  
• debris left by HGVs on roads; 
• the development is out of character in the rural area and should be 

located in an industrial, not a rural location; 
• lack of demonstrated need for the development in the area; 
• lack of public consultation; 
• location of similar operation nearby (1-2 miles away); 
• inaccurate information submitted as part of the planning application 

(e.g. noise assessment, location of the nearest property, number of 
lorry movements); and 

• retrospective nature of the planning application. 
 

75. The above issues will be addressed within the following commentary, 
(except where identified as not being relevant to the decision).  

 
Habitats Regulation Assessment [HRA] 

76. The Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017 (otherwise 
known as the ‘Habitats Regulations’) transpose European Directives into 
UK law. 

77. In accordance with the Habitats Regulations, Hampshire County Council 
(as a ‘competent authority’) must undertake a formal assessment of the 
implications of any new projects we may be granting planning permission 
for e.g. proposals that may be capable of affecting the qualifying interest 
features of the following European designated sites: 

• Special Protection Areas [SPAs]; 
• Special Areas of Conservation [SACs]; and  
• RAMSARs. 

 
78. Collectively this assessment is described as ‘Habitats Regulations 

Assessment’ [HRA]. The HRA will need to be carried out unless the project 

Page 26

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made


is wholly connected with or necessary to the conservation management of 
such sites’ qualifying features.   

79. It is acknowledged that the proposed development includes environmental 
mitigation essential for the delivery of the proposed development 
regardless of any effect they may have on impacts on European 
designated sites. 

80. The HRA screening hereby carried out by the MWPA considers the 
proposed development to have no likely significant effect on the 
identified European designated sites due to: 

• The site is not located at a distance to be considered to have 
proximity to directly impact on the European designated sites; 

• The site is not considered to have any functional impact pathways 
connecting the proposed works with any European designated sites; 
and 

• The proposal does not have any significant increase on any adverse 
impacts the wider site may have. 

 
Climate Change 
 
81. Hampshire County Council declared a Climate Emergency on 17 June 

2019. Two targets have been set for the County Council, and these also 
apply to Hampshire as a whole. These are to be carbon neutral by 2050 
and preparing to be resilient to the impacts of temperature rise. A Climate 
Change Strategy and Action Plan has since been adopted by the Council. 
The Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan do not form part of the 
Development Plan so are not material to decision making. However, it is 
true to say that many of the principles of the Strategy and Action Plan may 
be of relevance to the proposal due to the nature of the development. 
Where these principles are of relevance, they are addressed in the relevant 
parts of the Commentary section.  

82. This proposed development has been subject to consideration of Policy 2 
(Climate change – mitigation and adoption) of the HMWP (2013). The 
Planning Statement briefly addresses climate change.  It references the 
proposed development’s potential to contribute to the use of recycled and 
secondary aggregates, and the potential for the relatively local market 
served by the proposed development to result in reduced transportation 
emissions.  While this may have some weight, no empirical evidence has 
been provided to support these assertions compared to the waste travelling 
to existing sites. However, there is also nothing to suggest that the 
movement to, and recycling of, CDE waste to the proposed site would 
increase Greenhouse Gases. The proposed site is not in a location 
vulnerable to climate change and flood risk.  

83. Overall, the proposal is considered to be consistent with Policy 2 (Climate 
change – mitigation and adoption) of the HMWP (2013). 

Page 27

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/climatechangestrategy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/climatechangestrategy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/climatechangestrategy
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


 
 
Commentary 
Principle of the development 
84. In order for the proposed development to be considered for approval, the 

principle of a waste recycling facility on this site needs to be established. 
The proposal needs to be considered against national policy and guidance 
and must be in accordance with the policies of the Hampshire Minerals & 
Waste Plan (2013) (HMWP) (2013).  

85. The need for effective waste management development is recognised in 
various policies of the HMWP (2013). Policies 17 (Aggregate supply – 
capacity and source), 18 (Recycled and secondary aggregates 
development), 25 (Sustainable Waste Management) and 27 (Capacity for 
waste management development) support development of new inert waste 
recycling facilities in principle, in order to provide contribution to recycled 
and secondary aggregate targets, divert waste from landfill and encourage 
waste to be managed at the highest achievable level in the waste 
hierarchy. This principle is in accordance with paragraph 1 of the NPPW 
(2014). Policy 30 (Construction, demolition and excavation waste 
development) of the HMWP (2013) also supports development which will 
maximise the recovery of construction, demolition and excavation waste to 
help to meet the targets within the policy.  

86. The proposal would contribute to providing additional infrastructure to 
maximise the availability of recycled material.  It would contribute to the use 
of crushed waste concrete as a secondary aggregate, process excavated 
waste soils to provide a beneficial product for local markets, and keep the 
material from being sent to landfill. 

87. As described above the proposed development is a relocation of an 
operation that was allowed temporary permission to operate at a site 
(Peacocks Nursery) 1.8 km east along the A287, between the subject site 
and Ewshot.  As the operation is the same and proposed location is in 
relatively close proximity to the Peacock Nursery location, it is relevant to 
review the Inspector’s Decision for the previous location to understand 
which policies were problematic the proposed development.  The 
Inspector’s Report highlights that the operation did not meet Policy 29 – 
this will be further discussed in Location of development.  The need for the 
proposal and the operation in the countryside (Policy 5) was also examined 
and this is discussed under Development in the Countryside. 

88. Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) of the HMWP 
(2013) states that a waste development that accords with the policies of the 
Plan will be approved. Whether the proposal is considered to be a 
sustainable waste development, in accordance with Policy 1 (Sustainable 
minerals and waste development) of the HMWP (2013), will be considered 
in the remaining sections of this commentary.   

Page 28

http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/Document/Download?module=PLA&recordNumber=17801&planId=64261&imageId=51&isPlan=False&fileName=APPEAL%20DECISION%203176219.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


Location of development 
89. Policy 29 (Locations and sites for waste management) of the HMWP (2013) 

provides the framework for the location of new waste sites in Hampshire. 
Part 1 of the policy states that ‘Development to provide recycling, recovery 
and/ or treatment of waste will be supported on suitable sites in the 
following locations: 

i. Urban areas in north-east and south Hampshire; 
ii. Areas along the strategic road corridors; and 
iii. Areas of major new or planned development. 

90. The application site is not within the urban area of north-east Hampshire 
nor within the strategic road corridor as identified in Figure 6 – Key 
Diagram of the HMWP (2013). On the basis the site doesn’t meet Part 1, 
Part 2 does not apply.  

91. It is therefore necessary for the applicant to demonstrate that the proposed 
development is in accordance with Part 3 of the Policy 29. This has two 
requirements that must both be met. Part 3 of Policy 29 states that 
‘development in other locations will be supported where it is demonstrated 
that; 

a. the site has good transport connections to sources of and/or 
markets for the type of waste being managed; and 
b. a special need for that location and the suitability of the site can be 
justified.’ 

92. Part 3 (a) of the criteria is linked to Policy 25 (Sustainable waste 
development) of the HMWP (2013) which also says that waste 
management should be located near to the sources of waste or markets for 
its use.  The previous Inspector’s Decision notes that the policy does not 
specify distance requirements although the supporting text states an aim of 
reducing long-distance transport. Regarding the Peacocks Nursery 
location, the Inspector noted that site was reasonably close to urban areas 
including Farnham, Aldershot, and Fleet.   The Inspector’s Decision also 
highlights that the material being transported was of relatively low value 
and it is unlikely to be cost-effective to transport it long distances.  

93. The above assumption is noted and is considered to be of relevance to this 
proposal. For this current application the applicant has submitted a client 
list which also shows a number of serviced locations - this supports the 
Inspector’s conclusion on this point.  Highlighting its central location to the 
sites serviced locations around Odiham, Alton and Basingstoke are also 
listed. This provides evidence that the site is meeting a local market need. 
The proposed site continues to meet this locational local requirement.   

94. Furthermore in relation to Part 3 (a) of Policy 29, whilst the site is outside of 
the Strategic Road Corridor (identified on the HMWP (2013)’s Key 
Diagram), the site is located on the A287 which is a good quality A class 

Page 29

http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/Document/Download?module=PLA&recordNumber=17801&planId=64261&imageId=51&isPlan=False&fileName=APPEAL%20DECISION%203176219.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


road with direct access to the M3 and A31(both Strategic Road corridors). 
Importantly, the site has good proximity the service locations identified 
above.  The Local Highway Authority raises no objection to the application 
on the grounds of highway safety as noted in Highways Impact.   It is 
therefore considered that the proposal meets Part 3 (a) of Policy 29.  

95. Part 3 (b) of Policy 29 has an emphasis on ‘special need’.  Again, it is 
important to understand how the previous Inspector viewed the Peacock 
Nursery operation in terms of the materials it is processing.  The Inspector 
found that the operation did not meet the threshold of ‘special need’. 
Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that it is not necessary for a for a 
proposed waste management facility to demonstrate a quantitative or 
market need if it is consistent with an up-to-date Local Plan – in the case of 
the proposed development, it is considered that this evidence would be 
required.  There is no evidence to amend the Inspector’s previous 
conclusion that there is no ’special need’ for the proposed development.  
More discussion on local need is also set out in Development in the 
Countryside and the proposal is considered to demonstrate a local need in 
this context. 

96. Taking all matters into account, the proposal is considered to be in 
accordance with the locational requirements of Policy 25 (Sustainable 
waste management). The proposal is also considered to meet Part 3 (a) of 
Policy 29. However,  the proposal is not considered to fully meet Part 3 (b). 
Therefore, the proposal cannot be considered to be fully accordance with 
the provisions of Policy 29 (Locations and sites for waste management) of 
the HMWP (2013). The impact this has on the wider balance will be 
covered in the remaining sections of this commentary. 

Development in the countryside 
97. Policy 5 (Protection of the countryside) of the HMWP (2013) states that 

minerals and waste development in the open countryside, outside the 
National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, will not be 
permitted unless it is a time-limited mineral extraction or related 
development; or the nature of the development is related to countryside 
activities, meets local needs or requires a countryside or isolated location; 
or the development provides a suitable reuse of previously developed land, 
including redundant farm or forestry buildings and their curtilages or hard 
standings. The policy also includes an expectation that the highest 
standards of design, operation and restoration will be met and there will be 
a requirement that it is restored in the event it is no longer required for 
minerals and waste use.  

98. Policy NBE1 (Development in the Countryside), Part J of HLP (2020) states 
that development proposals will be supported within the countryside (the 
area outside settlement policy boundaries) if it located on suitable 
previously developed land appropriate for the proposed use.  The status of 
the site in terms of PDL is discussed below. In addition, Policy ED3 (Rural 
Economy), Part (c) of the policy states that to support the rural economy, 

Page 30

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf


development proposals for economic uses in the countryside will be 
supported where they enable the continuing sustainability or expansion of a 
business or enterprise at scale.  It goes on to state all development 
proposals must be of a use that is appropriate to the site and location, and 
that landscape, heritage and environment, residential amenity, site access 
and highway must be considered.  Supporting text for this policy 
(Paragraph 188) acknowledges that existing businesses may need to re-
locate and they can provide employment and services in rural areas.  The 
supporting text also makes reference to PDL redevelopment being 
encouraged (Paragraph 190) but not specifically a requirement for re-
locations. 

99. When reviewing the proposal against Policy 5 (Protection of the 
countryside) of the HMWP (2013), the proposed development has the 
potential to meet either the local need requirement, or, based on the 
applicant’s planning statement, that is located on PDL.  

a) Local need: 

100. To better understand what is meant by ‘local need’ in the context Policy 5 
the supporting text can be referenced.  Paragraph 4.37 of the HMWP 
(2013) states  that ‘some waste uses, such as large scale facilities requiring 
an open site are difficult to accommodate in urban areas’.  Waste uses … 
that are not specifically linked to the natural occurrence of a mineral should 
be located in urban areas’.  Paragraph 4.38 goes onto say that 
‘appropriately managed …waste development is important to support 
employment and provision of services in rural areas’.  

101. The applicant has submitted details of their client list showing the locations 
that the business serves on behalf of their client list. As the applicant 
considers this is sensitive information, a redacted version has been made 
available (see Additional Information from the Applicant - Client List 
(28 July 2022)). The locations are primarily located within a 20 mile radius 
of the subject site and concentrates on areas around Fleet, Farnham, 
Odiham, and Aldershot, with some additional locations around Alton and 
Basingstoke.   It is also relevant to consider the Planning Inspector 
comments on the nature of the operation at its previous location at 
Peacocks Nursery, which was 1.8km east along A287 of the subject site.   

102. As the Planning Inspector discussion on ‘need for the development’ 
(Paragraph 7) Inspector notes, Policy 5, Part b), supports development in 
the countryside where there is a ‘local need’.  The consistency with Part (b) 
of Policy 5 could be weakened by the presence of other similar recycling 
sites in the wider area (e.g. Beacon Hill) despite the applicant not having 
access to these sites.  However, in Paragraph 8, the Inspector recognised 
that there are other facilities in the vicinity that provide similar recycling 
facilities (e.g. Beacon Hill) but then states ‘the need for such developments 
carries moderate weight in the appellant’s favour’. 

Page 31

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


103. Later under Paragraph 25 of the decision, ‘The Planning Balance and 
Overall Conclusion’ of the Appeal decision the Inspector found that the 
development ‘is consistent with promoting a rural business and would also 
help serve local markets for soils and other products from inert waste’.   

104. Based on above and the additional information submitted showing the local 
market locations served by the applicant, there is no evidence to suggest 
the Inspectors conclusion wouldn’t continue to apply to the proposed 
subject development in the proposed subject site.  A local need has 
therefore been demonstrated in this context.   

b) Previously Developed Land (PDL): 

105. Crondall Parish Council and local representations have questioned the 
previous development status of subject site based on the previous planning 
permission for redevelopment of the site lapsing prior to implementation of 
the permission. 

106. PDL is defined in the NPPF (2021) Annex 2 as:  

‘land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure including the 
curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed 
that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any 
associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or 
has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill 
purposes where provision for restoration has been made through 
development control procedures; land in built-up areas such as private 
residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and 
land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the 
permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the 
landscape in the process of time.’ 

 
107. The applicant has asserted that based on their previous correspondence 

and reports by Hart District Council (HDC) (particularly Officer Report for 
the previously granted planning permission) the subject site has been 
recognised as Previously Developed Land. However, as described under 
Consultation Responses, HDC have now clarified the development status 
of the site.   

108. The Minerals and Waste Planning Authority requested additional 
information from HDC regarding development status of the subject site as 
described in planning application 14/03075/FUL, noting that the Officers 
report for that planning application identified the subject site as an 
‘operational yard’ associated with the landscape business.  HDC’s initial 
response indicated that although there was no planning application for a 
change of use from agricultural to the operational, the reference to its use 
inadvertently established the land as Previously Development Land as art 

Page 32



of the garden/landscape business when the planning permission was 
granted.  

109. However, the latest HDC response clarifies that in light of the planning 
history of the subject site, they do not consider it to be PDL. The Minerals 
and Waste Planning Authority has accepted District Council’s position on 
this given the ambiguity of how the subject site is described within the 
context of the wider site in the Officer Reports for previous HDC planning 
applications.  

110. As described elsewhere in this report, the design of the proposed 
development is found to be consistent with other relevant polices related to 
the design and operation.   

111. Crondall Parish Council and local representations have raised the issue of 
the location of the development in ’the Crondall Gap’.  The Crondall Gap is 
a Local Gap area defined under Policy 4 of the Crondall Parish Council 
Neighbourhood Plan (CPCNP) (2021).  The policy states that development 
proposals within the Local Gap should not result in coalescence or harm 
the separate identities of Crondall and Mill Lane.  This is also supported by 
Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020) which states it does not lead to 
the physical or visual coalescence of settlements, or damage their separate 
identity. Taking into account the woodland, agricultural fields, and Bowling 
Alley highway immediately surrounding the site and the previous 
development of the subject site, the proposed development is considered 
to be a discrete, well screened development and would not risk contributing 
to a coalescence of Mill Lane and Crondall.   

112. Regarding the previous Peacocks Nursery application, it was found by the 
Inspector that site was not PDL but the appeal was still allowed (though the 
Inspector did account for the temporary nature of the applicant’s proposal 
had in that decision).  The appeal documents describe how the applicant 
was going to have to relocate from the Peacock Nursery location as the 
landowner had other development ideas for the site.   

113. The proposed site has limited capacity to expand in the future as the 
restored quarry/landfill to the west is not considered Previously Developed 
Land per the NPPF definition of PDL, and surrounding woodland further 
constrains future expansion.  

c) Design and restoration 

114. The design of the development is addressed in more detail below in terms 
of visual (see  

 Visual impact and landscape and ecological (see Ecology impacts.   

115. Restoration is a requirement of Policy 5 (Development in the Countryside). 
To ensure restoration of the site when the proposed use ceases, a 
condition has been recommended requiring a restoration scheme to be 

Page 33

https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf


approved and ultimately restoration back to agriculture use implemented.  
This is included in Appendix A.  

 

116. Taking all matters into account, whilst it is acknowledged that the subject 
site is considered countryside,  the development has been found to meet 
the requirements of Policy 5, Part b, by demonstrating a local need for the 
relatively small scale operation. The District Council’s position that the land 
is not considered to be PDL is accepted despite it previously being 
identified as an ‘operational yard’ in district council planning documents. 
The proposed site would utilise a relatively small area which is 
disconnected from Crondall and Mill Lane and is bound by woodland, a 
larger area of agricultural land which is not considered PDL, and the 
existing structures for the landscaping business which does benefit from 
Planning Permission. Taking all matters into account, with the proposed 
mitigation and planning conditions,  the proposal is considered to be in 
accordance with Policy 5 (Protection of the Countryside) of the HMWP 
(2013), Policies NBE2 (Landscape) and ED3 (Rural Economy) of HLP 
(2020), and Policy 4 (Crondall/Mill Lane Local Gap) of (CPCNP) (2021). 
However, the proposal is not considered to be in accordance with Policy 
NBE1 (Development in the Countryside) of HLP (2020).  

 
Visual impact and landscape  
117. Policy 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) of the 

HMWP (2013) requires that minerals waste development should not cause 
an unacceptable adverse visual impact and should maintain and enhance 
the distinctive character of the landscape. The design should be 
appropriate and should be of high-quality and contribute to sustainable 
development. This reinforces the requirement of Policy 5 (Protection of the 
countryside) of the HMWP (2013) for highest-quality design. In addition, 
Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP 
(2013) protects residents from unacceptable adverse visual impact. 

118. Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020) also identifies how development 
proposals must respect and wherever possible enhance the special 
characteristics, value or visual amenity of the District’s landscapes. It states 
proposals will be supported where there will be no adverse impact to 
identified landscape character, visual amenity and scenic impact, trees, 
woodlands, hedgerows, e.g. rivers and other landscape.  

119. A Landscape Statement has been submitted with application which 
includes photos of the subject site from various public viewpoints including 
the Public Rights of Way (PROW) to the west of the site and the A287.   

120. As described above, a bund already exists alongside the access road and 
while outside the redline area for this application benefits from an earlier 
planning permission from Hart District Council (see Planning History).  This 

Page 34

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/3_Visiting_Hart/Towns_and_parishes/Crondall/Crondall%20Neighbourhood%20Plan%20Referendum%20Version.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/3_Visiting_Hart/Towns_and_parishes/Crondall/Crondall%20Neighbourhood%20Plan%20Referendum%20Version.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf


bund is within on land under control of the applicant and as a result can be 
subject to conditions under this current planning application.  The approved 
bund planning permission included a number of conditions including that 
required a planting and maintenance scheme to be submitted to Hart 
District Council for their approval.  This condition has since been 
discharged (20/01838/CON) and the approved planting scheme is 
submitted as part of the current planning application. 

121. The County Landscape Architect has reviewed the proposal and has no 
objection subject to conditions.  The applicant has proposed a condition 
that limits stockpile heights to 5m and allowance to operate 360⁰ excavator 
on top.  As demonstrated from photos submitted as part of public 
representations and in the Landscape Statement, this stockpile height will 
remain visible above the landscape bund and is considered too intrusive. 
This is likely to change as the proposed vegetation becomes more 
established. The addition of the concrete wall was considered acceptable 
although the additional 4m high dust netting would benefit from being a 
dark colour to blend with the surrounding woodland. The existing earth 
bunds constructed as part of planning permission 20/01838/FUL have not 
been seeded as proposed under that planning permission and ruderals are 
beginning to colonise.  For the visual impact of the proposed development 
to be considered acceptable the planning permission for the bund must be 
implemented in full and reference to the implementation and maintenance 
of the bund will be necessary.  To further block views of the site from the 
A287 and Bowling Alley reinforcement of the existing hedgerow will also be 
necessary. Conditions have been recommended to address the above 
issues and are set out in Appendix A.  The proposed conditions also 
include the restriction of certain permitted development rights – this is 
justified on the basis of taller structures on the site potentially being visible 
above proposed screening.  

122. On the basis of the proposed mitigation and planning conditions, the 
proposal is in accordance with Policies 13 ((High-quality design of minerals 
and waste development), 5 (Protection of the Countryside), and 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of HMWP (2013), and Policy 
NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020). 

 
Arboriculture 
123. Arboricultural matters are addressed under a number of policies in the 

HMWP (2013). Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) covers 
ecological impacts while Policies 10 (Protecting public health, safety and 
amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) 
address visual impacts respectively with trees and hedgerows being key 
elements. 

124. Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020) also requires there to be no 
adverse impact on trees, woodlands and hedgerows. 

Page 35

https://publicaccess.hart.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=QSZFCAHZJHO00&activeTab=summary
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf


125. In addition to the Landscape Statement, an Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment has been submitted which assess the benefits and impact of 
the installation of the proposed 2m concrete fencing.  The assessment 
describes how the fencing will prevent materials encroaching toward the 
woodland areas and that it can be erected with a stand-off between the 
trees to ensure the roots.  The Ecological Impact Assessment and 
submitted plans describe how fine mesh netting to an additional height of 
4m will be installed to prevent dust from the site impacting the woodland.  A 
dust monitoring procedure is also included as part of the submitted Dust 
Emissions Management Procedure that was included in the application 
for the site Environmental Permit.     

126. Crondall Parish Council and public representations raise concerns about 
the impact of the development on the surrounding woodland and these are 
noted. 

127. The site is bounded by mature woodland on the east and south perimeter 
with woodland to the south a designated SINC.   A few trees on the edge of 
the woodland are on land under control of the applicant but the majority of 
the woodland is not.  The County Arboriculturist has reviewed the 
application and were satisfied that no trees would be lost as part of the 
development.  They had no objection subject to a condition being added 
that required submission of an Arboricultural Method Statement (including a 
Tree Protection Plan). This is included in Appendix A. 

128. On the basis of the proposed mitigation and planning conditions, the 
proposal is in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and 
species), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-
quality design of minerals and waste development) of the HMWP (2013), 
and Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020).  

Ecology 
 
129. Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the HMWP (2013) sets out 

a requirement for minerals and waste development to not have a significant 
adverse effect on, and where possible, should enhance, restore or create 
designated or important habitats and species. The policy sets out a list of 
sites, habitats and species which will be protected in accordance with the 
level of their relative importance.  The policy states that development which 
is likely to have a significant adverse impact upon the identified sites, 
habitats and species will only be permitted where it is judged that the merits 
of the development outweigh any likely environmental damage. The policy 
also sets out a requirement for appropriate mitigation and compensation 
measures where development would cause harm to biodiversity interests.  

130. Policy NBE4 (Biodiversity) of the HLP (2020) states that development will 
be permitted if it does not have an adverse impact on the integrity of 
designated sites including SINCS, it does not result in the loss or 
deterioration of irreplaceable habitat including ancient woodland and 

Page 36

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf


ancient trees, and opportunities to protect and enhance biodiversity and 
contributions to wildlife and habitat connectivity are taken where possible.   

131. An Ecological Impact Assessment was submitted with the initial 
application.  A revised version of this assessment was subsequently 
submitted in response to requests for additional information from the 
County Ecologist.  In terms of habitat creation, the implementation of the 
landscaping bund and associated planting along the access driveway along 
the west edge of the subject site is also relevant (covered by a separate 
Planning Permission from Hart District Council).  The applicant is also 
proposing to install bat boxes and bird boxes on trees within the wider site 
which is under their control. 

132. The Ecological Impact Assessment includes a number of mitigation 
measures to address potential impacts to the site.  Silt escaping from the 
site would be prevented by the installation of the fencing and removal of 
existing drains and pipes connecting the site to the drainage ditches.  The 
fence and dust netting would prevent dust and invasive species impacting 
the surrounding woodland.  The fencing is located away from the 
surrounding woodland. 

133. Crondall Parish Council and public representations raise concerns about 
the impact of the development on the surrounding habitat including the 
woodland and drainages and these concerns are noted. 

134. The County Ecologist is satisfied that collectively the mitigation measures 
identified in the Ecological Assessment, the implementation of the Dust 
Management, addressed potential impacts to the adjacent habitat.  They 
also noted the biodiversity benefits resulting from the additional planting 
along the bund, and bird and bat boxes.   Conditions have been 
recommended that ensure implementation of the above mitigation and 
enhancements and are set out in Appendix A.  Since the netting fencing 
and netting is a key part of the mitigation it is important to ensure it is 
maintained for the duration of the development and the condition reflects 
this. This is also set out in Appendix A. 

135. The Hart District Council Ecologist also provided a response to the 
consultation noting key issues of remediating any rubbish that had been 
deposited in the drainage ditch. Conditions to this effect are set out in 
Appendix A. They also recommended an additional return be added to the 
concrete wall in the northwest corner of the subject site to ensure full 
containment of materials. The applicant has submitted updated plans to 
address this issue. 

136. On the basis of the proposed mitigation and planning conditions, the 
proposal is in accordance with Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) 
of the HMWP (2013), and Policy NBE4 (Biodiversity) of the HLP (2020). 

 
 

Page 37

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf


Impact on amenity and health 
 
137. Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP 

(2013) requires that any development should not cause adverse public 
health and safety impacts, and unacceptable adverse amenity impacts. 
Also, any proposal should not cause an unacceptable cumulative impact 
arising from the interactions between waste developments and other forms 
of development.  

138. Policy NBE11 (Pollution) of the HLP (2020) says that development will be 
supported provided it does not give result in unacceptable levels of 
pollution and that any adverse impacts can be mitigated for or minimised to 
an acceptable level.   Proposals that may give rise to pollution must be 
accompanied by an assessment examining risks and possible impacts. 
Regarding noise it notes that developments that give rise to significant 
adverse effects will not be supported.  Dust is addressed under the policy 
in the context of construction and demolition stages of a development 
which are more temporary in nature than the proposed operation but does 
refer to the need for adequate controls and so recognises that controls can 
be put up place. 

139. The proposed development has potential to create noise and/or dust 
impacts in particular. Crondall Parish Council and many of the public 
representations raise pollution in particular noise, air quality (including 
dust), and water.  Complaints about noise from the site have been raised to 
the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority since the submission of the 
planning application. These concerns are noted.  

140. Paragraph 5.15 of the HMWP (2013) states that a 100m buffer from inert 
waste recycling facilities to nearest sensitive receptor is typical tough this 
distance is reviewed on a case by case basis.  Hurst House is only 75m 
from the subject site boundary but is under ownership of the operator.  The 
next nearest sensitive receptor is Willow House (160m to the East) of the 
subject site.   

a) Emissions to the atmosphere (air quality): 
 

141. Crondall Parish Council and public representations raised concerns that a 
full air quality assessment was not submitted with the planning application.  
The Hampshire County Council Validation Checklist does require Air 
Quality Impact Assessments to be submitted for any planning applications 
which are likely to have an impact on air quality through dust fumes or 
significant traffic movements.  The application did include the Dust 
Management Report that was approved as part of the Environmental 
Permit.  The development is not considered to generate significant traffic 
movements and based on the approval of the Environmental Permit (and 
associated management plans), and air quality not being a concern of the 
EHO, an Air Quality Impact Assessment has not been requested. 

Page 38

http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Hart%20LPS%26S.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


142. Other than the potential for dust emissions from the site, other air quality 
pollutants are not an issue from operations such as the one proposed.  

b) Noise and vibration: 
 

143. Crondall Parish Council and public representations raised concerns about 
the noise produced by the proposed development.  In response to 
questions from Crondall Parish Council and public representations, 
regarding the noise assessment with the application, a revised Noise 
Assessment was requested using an alternative methodology to quantify 
the noise impact of the proposed development at the nearest sensitive 
receptors. 

144. In response the applicant submitted a revised Environmental Noise 
Survey and Plant Noise Assessment Report which the Environmental 
Health Officer requested further revisions and clarifications to including the 
combined ‘worst case scenario of expected noise with all plant operating 
simultaneously.  The methodology used (BS 4142:2014 + A1:2019) 
compares the noise levels expected by the various plant on the site with 
the measured or calculated background levels at the receptors. The greater 
the difference between the generated noise and the background level, the 
greater the impact.  The standard identifies the impact under three general 
levels –  

• significant adverse’ (10 dBA or more above background); 

• ‘adverse’ (around 5dBA above background); and 

• ‘low’ (below the background level).  

145. The nearest receptor is Hurst House (75m from site) which is the residence 
of the operator – the report states the expected noise level from the loudest 
scenario, with all plant equipment operating and HGVs operating, to be 
2dBA above the measured background.  This includes ‘penalty’ feature 
correction added to the calculated noise to account for the distinctive 
characteristics of the crusher and unloading of HGVs.  This would place it 
above the ‘low’ level but below the ‘adverse’ level.  Both Willow House and 
Bowenhurst Cottage were calculated to experience noise under the worst 
scenario that was at or below the measured background level.   

146. The Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the assessment and has 
no objection to the development.   

147. The Noise & Vibration Emissions Management System document 
submitted for the Environmental Permit was also submitted with the 
planning application.  The document identifies how the site operations 
should control impacts and also requires a daily noise monitoring regime.  
Adherence to the noise management system is recommended as a 
condition in Appendix A. The requirement to only use the plant included in 
the Noise Assessment is also included to ensure the results of the 

Page 39



submitted noise assessment remain applicable in the future although 
allowance is made for the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority to allow 
replacement commensurate plant once the noise and visual impact is 
considered. In addition, to prevent the ‘worst case scenario’ and provide 
some buffer in the actual noise versus calculated noise a restriction on the 
use of both the soil screener and crusher at the same time has also been 
recommended as a condition in Appendix A.   

148. In addition, it is recommended that given the specific nature of the activities 
and uses addressed in the Noise Assessment that the proposed conditions 
include the restriction of certain permitted development rights to limit any 
further intensification of activities on site other than those considered from 
the application. 

149. It is proposed that HGVs be allowed to enter and leave the site and for the 
site to operate between - 0700-1800 Mondays to Fridays. On Saturdays 
activities would be limited to loading or unloading of HGVs between 0800-
1300. There would be no working on Sundays or on recognised Bank 
Holidays. A condition to this effect has been recommended in Appendix A.  

c) Dust:  
150. The site has an approved Environmental Permit which includes control and 

monitoring of dust impacts, and as described elsewhere, the fence/dust 
netting is satisfactory to prevent dust escaping from the site into adjacent 
woodland. The Dust Management Plan Report adequately assesses the 
impact of dust and proposes mitigation measures and a monitoring regime.   

151. The wall and dust netting surrounding the subject site will need to be 
maintained and a condition to this effect has been recommended. 

 
d) Lighting:  
152. No artificial lighting is proposed as part of the development. A condition to 

reflect this has been recommended and set out in Appendix A.   

 
e) Odour:  
153. Inert waste recycling sites rarely emit any odours due the type of material 

being processed. To ensure no burning of materials occurs on the site a 
condition is recommended and set out in Appendix A.  

 
f) Cumulative impacts:   
154. Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP 

(2013) states that a proposal should not cause an unacceptable cumulative 
impact arising from the interactions between minerals and waste 
developments, and between mineral, waste and other forms of 
development. It also states that the potential cumulative impacts of 
minerals and waste development and the way they relate to existing 
developments must be addressed to an acceptable standard.  

Page 40

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


155. Some public representations referenced other recent developments in the 
Mill Lane area.  This is on the opposite site of the A287 and they are 
sufficiently distant from the subject site for the development not to result in 
cumulative impacts except for possibly traffic.  

156. The potential cumulative impacts of the development on the highway were 
considered as noted elsewhere in this commentary section.  

 

157. Overall, the proposal is in accordance with Policy 10 (Protection of public 
health, safety and amenity) in the HMWP (2013) in relation to cumulative 
impacts. In terms of pollution aspects of amenity and health, the proposal is 
accordance with Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of 
the HMWP (2013) and Policy NBE11 of the HLP (2020). 

 
Potential pollution associated with the development 
 
158. National Planning Practice Guidance states that Planning Authorities 

should assume that other regulatory regimes will operate effectively rather 
than seek to control any processes, health and safety issues or emissions 
themselves where these are subject to approval under other regimes 
(Paragraph 050 Reference ID: 28-050-20141016). Planning and permitting 
decisions are separate but closely linked.  The Environment Agency has a 
role to play in both.  

159. Planning permission determines if a development is an acceptable use of 
the land.  Permitting determines if an operation can be managed on an 
ongoing basis to prevent or minimise pollution. 

160. The site already operates under an Environmental Permit from the 
Environment Agency (EA) which amongst other things considers the waste 
material being stored and the manner in which it is stored. The application 
includes a copy of the Environmental Permit, the latest site visit report from 
the Environment Agency, and a Dust Management System Report and  
Environmental Management System Report both of which were submitted 
for the Environmental Permit application. 

161. According to NPPG for Waste (Paragraph 51), the aim of the permit is to 
prevent pollution through the use of measures to prohibit or limit the 
release of substances to the environment to the lowest practicable level. It 
also ensures that ambient air and water quality meet standards that guard 
against impacts to the environment and human health. 

162. The need for an Environmental Permit is separate to the need for planning 
permission. The granting of planning permission does not necessarily lead 
to the granting of an Environmental Permit. An application for an 
Environmental Permit includes an assessment of the environmental risk of 

Page 41

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Local_Plan/Hart%20LPS%26S%20pending%20final%20design.pdf
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/waste/regulatory-regimes/


the proposals including the risk under both normal and abnormal operating 
conditions. The Environment Agency assesses the application and the 
adequacy of the impact assessment including whether the control 
measures proposed by the operator are appropriate for mitigating the risks 
and their potential impact.  

163. The scope of an Environmental Permit is defined by the activities set out in 
the Environmental Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 2016 
(EPR).  

164. The regulations define ‘pollution’ as: 

other than in relation to a water discharge activity or groundwater 
activity, means any emission as a result of human activity which 
may— 
(a) be harmful to human health or the quality of the environment, 
(b) cause offence to a human sense, 
(c) result in damage to material property, or 
(d) impair or interfere with amenities or other legitimate uses of the 
environment. 

 
165. The aim of the EPR regime is to protect the environment from potential 

impacts associated with certain liable facilities or installations. The 
permitted activities may form a part of, but not all, of the development 
needing planning permission. In these cases, the planning application will 
need to address environmental considerations from those parts of the 
development that are not covered by the permit.  

166. The proposed facility is acceptable in terms of planning. Should a permit be 
granted for the operation, it will be monitored and enforced in the same 
manner as any other regulated site by the Environment Agency. Several 
mechanisms are put in place to monitor to ensure compliance such as 
audits, site visits, data analysis and compliance checks are carried out by 
the regulator. 

Flooding 
167. Policy 11 (Flood risk and prevention) of the HMWP (2013) relates to 

minerals and waste development in flood risk areas and sets criteria which 
developments should be consistent with relating to flood risk offsite, flood 
protection, flood resilience and resistance measures, design of drainage, 
net surface water run-off and Sustainable Drainage Systems.  

168. Policy NBE5 (Managing Flood Risk) of the HLP (2020) addresses 
developments and flooding. 

169. A statement addressing flooding from the site has been included as part of 
the Planning Statement submitted with the application.  The development 
is located in Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk).  Per the Hampshire County Council 
planning application validation checklist, a Flood Risk Assessment is not 
required for developments under 1 hectare if located in Flood Zone 1.  

Page 42

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/1154/contents/made
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Local_Plan/Hart%20LPS%26S%20pending%20final%20design.pdf


170. The Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed the application and noted 
that the site has a permeable and the change of use would not change the 
surface water management or flood risk.  

171. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy 11 (Flood risk 
and prevention) of the HMWP (2013) and Policy NBE5 (Managing Flood 
Risk) of the HLP (2020). 

 
Highways impact 
 
172. Policy 12 (Managing traffic) of the HMWP (2013) requires minerals and 

waste development to have a safe and suitable access to the highway 
network and where possible minimise the impact of its generated traffic 
through the use of alternative methods of transportation. It also requires 
highway improvements to mitigate any significant adverse effects on 
highway safety, pedestrian safety, highway capacity and environment and 
amenity.  

173. Policy INF3 (Transport) of the HLP (2020) also addresses impacts of 
developments on the highway network.   Of relevance to the proposed 
development the policy states developments will be supported that do not 
have a severe impact on the operation, safety or accessibility of the local or 
strategic highway networks, that development should integrate into the 
existing movement network, and that impacts on the local or strategic road 
network should be mitigated.   

174. Import and export of materials would occur by Heavy Goods Vehicles 
(HGVs).  The development will generate relatively modest levels of traffic 
with daily operations would result in 24 HGV movements with 4 HGVs 
being parked overnight.  There would be two operatives that require to park 
at the site along with HGV drivers parking their vehicles for the day. This 
would result in an additional 12 car movements.  HGV vehicles would turn 
left out of the site and right into the site from Bowling Alley and then 
proceed to the A287. 

175. HGV movements into the site would be limited to the operating hours of the 
site - 0700-1800 Mondays to Fridays and Saturdays 0800-1300. There 
would be no working on Sundays or on recognised Bank Holidays. This is 
subject to a planning condition set out in Appendix A.  

176. As this is a retrospective application, the site has been continuing to 
operate while the application is being determined.  Complaints from a 
member of the public have been received since the submission of the 
planning application about vehicles, including HGVs, entering the site 
outside of the hours informally agreed with the operator (which are the 
same as those proposed in this planning application).  The operator has 
confirmed that were responsible for some of these incidents which others 
were attributed to the landscape contractors that share the same access.   

Page 43

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Local_Plan/Hart%20LPS%26S%20pending%20final%20design.pdf
http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Local_Plan/Hart%20LPS%26S%20pending%20final%20design.pdf


177. The earlier District Council Planning Permission allowing a redevelopment 
of the site  (14/03075/FUL) included the reconstruction of the bell mouth 
entrance of the access road onto Bowling Alley.  Although conditions were 
required to be discharged before any development of the site took place 
including the entrance, the bell mouth was reconstructed and was covered 
by a Section 278 Highways Legal Agreement.     

178. A Transport Assessment has been submitted with the application which 
includes an analysis of the suitability of the entrance onto Bowling Alley for 
ingress and egress of HGVs, and accident analysis for the 110m section of 
Bowling Alley from the site access to the A287, and the junction of the 
A287 and Bowling Alley.  

179. Crondall Parish Council and public representations raise concerns about 
the impact of the development on highway safety especially the junction of 
Bowling Alley and the A287, the suitability of Bowling Alley for regular HGV 
along the 110m stretch from the A287 to the site access, and concern 
HGVs could travel along the longer length of Bowling Alley toward Crondall. 
These concerns are noted.  

180. The Local Highway Authority has no objection to the proposed 
development subject to conditions.  In terms of Highway Safety they noted 
that three accidents (two slight and one serious) had occurred in the study 
area but did not involve HGVs and were not at the junction of the A287 and 
Bowling Alley. Regarding the access onto Bowling Alley, it is noted that two 
HGVs could not pass one another at the site entrance but it is stated that 
the management and scheduling of operations at the site will not result in 
any simultaneous arrivals and departures at the site. The visibility splays 
onto Bowling Alley were considered adequate.  The Local Highways 
Authority is also satisfied that the trips generated by the proposed 
development can be accommodated on the local highway network.  

181. On this basis, the proposal is in accordance with Policy 12 (Managing 
traffic) of the HMWP (2013) and Policy INF3 (Transport) of HLP (2020). 

Retrospective nature of the application 
182. A number of public representations have raised the issue that the current 

application is retrospective.   

183. Paragraph 3 of the ‘Enforcement and post-permission matters NPPG’ 
states there are a range of ways of tackling alleged breaches of planning 
control, and local planning authorities should act in a proportionate way.  
Local Planning Authorities have discretion to take enforcement action when 
they regard it as expedient to do so, having regard to the development plan 
and any other material considerations. Paragraphs 12 and 13 of the states 
that Local Planning Authorities can invite retrospective applications when 
they consider it an appropriate way forward to regularise the situation.   

184. The operator purchased the site in December 2019 and the Minerals and 
Waste Planning Authority was first made aware of the operation of the site 

Page 44

https://publicaccess.hart.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=NGZO9SHZK0W00
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://www.hart.gov.uk/sites/default/files/4_The_Council/Policies_and_published_documents/Planning_policy/Local_Plan/Hart%20LPS%26S%20pending%20final%20design.pdf


in January 2020.  At that time the operator stated that they were under the 
impression that the previous planning history of the site and the nature of 
the business would allow it to operate on the land as an ancillary activity to 
the existing landscaping business.  Hampshire County Council informed 
Hart District Council about the Operator’s understanding about the existing 
planning permissions. 

185. In August 2020, Hart District Council informed the operator that a new 
planning permission would be required.  The applicant chose to submit a 
planning application to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority.  
Following preparation of the application and necessary and supporting 
assessments to be prepared the application was subsequently received in 
May 2021.  Since that time, consultees and the planning officer have 
requested additional information of the applicant as part of the planning 
determination process.   

186. No complaints had been received by the Minerals and Waste Planning 
Authority prior to the request for the submission of the current planning 
application though some may have been received by HDC. Between this 
request and prior to the submission of the current application, 2 complaints 
were received relating to the hours of working. A further 4 complaints (not 
including any subsequent follow up correspondences) have been received 
following submission the application. All complaints have been received 
from one complainant. The nature of these complaints are noted in the 
relevant sections of the commentary.  

Community benefits 
187. Paragraph 5.59 of the HMWP (2013) states that there is an expectation 

that all 'major' minerals and waste development will be accompanied by a 
site Liaison Panel. While the proposed waste development is relatively 
modest in scale in terms of land area, employees and quantity of material 
processed, given the public objections raised by both Crondall Parish 
Council and public representations the operation of a Liaison Panel would 
be beneficial so that any initial operational issues with the site can be 
addressed in an open manner.   

188. Appendix A includes an informative on the establishment of a liaison panel 
for the site if permission were to be granted. The Panel should be setup 
between the site operator, Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, other 
interested parties and community representatives to facilitate effective 
engagement with stakeholders in the interests of promoting communication 
between the site operator and local community. 

Conclusions 
189. The proposed development is a retrospective application for an inert waste 

recycling site processing construction, demolition and excavation waste 
(CDE) to sell as aggregate and soil.   

Page 45

http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


190. The principle of the development is supported by Policies 17 (Aggregate 
supply – capacity and source), 18 (Recycled and secondary aggregates 
development), 25 (Sustainable Waste Management), 27 (Capacity for 
waste management development) and 30 (Construction, demolition and 
excavation waste development) of the HMWP (2013) in that the movement 
of waste materials up the waste hierarchy is encouraged to divert them 
from landfill, and recycling of CDE waste to produce beneficial aggregate 
products can provide an alternative to marine-won or land won sand and 
gravel for certain purposes. 

191. It is considered that the proposal would not have adversely impact 
surround habitat and biodiversity including those in the designated SINC 
and Ancient Woodland (Policy 3).  The proposal would also be appropriate 
in terms of visual impact and landscape in the countryside setting (Policies 
5, 10, and 13).  The fencing and netting is judged to be appropriate for the 
setting subject to conditions on colours and the site will benefit from a 
screening bund and additional planting.  With conditions to provide 
reinforcement of the nearby hedgerows and implementation of the separate 
HDC planning permission regarding planting along the bund will visually 
screen the operation.  Limits on the height of stockpiles and restriction on 
the working height of vehicles will further help keep the proposed 
development out of sight in particular from the nearby PROW and public 
highway.  

192. The proposed development already has an Environmental Permit for 
processing of waste and the Assessments submitted demonstrate that any 
pollution impacts from dust or site drainage can be adequately mitigated. 
Regarding noise, the nearest residential receptor is the residence of the 
operator and would experience between low and adverse noise effects. At 
other sensitive receptors beyond that noise impacts have also been 
demonstrated to be at or below background levels.  The operation is not 
expected to result in adverse public health and safety impacts and no 
unacceptable amenity impacts (Policy 10).    

193. The development will not impact the existing flood risk or drainage (Policy 
11). 

194. The existing access is adequate for the proposed vehicles type and 
numbers, the existing highways network will be able to accommodate the 
additional traffic, and the highway safety at the Bowling Alley/A287 junction 
will not be exacerbated by the proposal (Policy 12). 

195. While it is now confirmed by Hart District Council that the site is not 
Previously Developed Land (PDL), the applicant has demonstrated that 
there is a local need for the operation which supports the location of the 
development in the countryside (Policy 5).  However, the site does not 
demonstrate it meets a ‘special need’ (Policy 29). 

196. Paragraph 3.5 of the HMWP (2013) describes how, in making a planning 
decision judgement should be used in the weight given to the various 

Page 46

http://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


elements of the plan and other material considerations when concluding 
whether the balance of evidence shows the development to be sustainable 
and should be granted planning permission.    

197. While planning applications should be assessed on their own merits, 
consideration has also been given to the Planning Inspector’s Decision for 
an appeal for the same operation at a location 1.8km east along the A287 
(Peacocks Nursery).  Particularly relevant, are conclusions on the principle 
of the proposed development and the benefits provided which included 
serving a local market for soils and products from inert waste. The 
Inspector noted ‘the need for such development carries moderate weight in 
the appellant’s favour’. In that instance, the appeal was allowed despite not 
being found to be in accordance with Policy 29 of the HMWP (2013) and 
the site not being Previously Developed Land. It is unclear the level of 
weight the Inspector placed on the temporary duration of the proposal 
although they referenced that their decision accounted for the temporary 
nature of the development.   

198. Taking all matters into account, on balance, the proposal is considered to 
be an acceptable development and be sustainable in accordance with 
Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) of the HMWP 
(2013). It is therefore recommended that permission be GRANTED.  

 
Recommendation  
 
199. It is recommended that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the 

conditions listed in Appendix A. 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Conditions 
Appendix B – Committee Plan 
Appendix C – Layout Plan 
Appendix D – Cross-sections 
Appendix E – Approved planting scheme along screening bund 
 
 
Other documents relating to this application: 
 
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/Planning/Display/HCC/2021/0302  

 

Page 47

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://planning.hants.gov.uk/Planning/Display/HCC/2021/0302


 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

No 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

No 

 
OR 

 
This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because: 
the proposal is an application for planning permission and requires determination 
by the County Council in its statutory role as the minerals and waste or local 
planning authority. 
 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
 
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any  
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
HCC/2021/0302 
HR109 
Land at Farnham Road, Bowling Alley, 
Crondall GU10 5RW  
(Change of use of part of land forming 
Redfields Plant Centre to use for recycling 
of inert materials   

Hampshire County Council 

 

Page 48



 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENTS: 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 

conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 

sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

Officers considered the information provided by the applicant, together with 
the response from consultees and other parties, and determined that the 
proposal would have no material impact on individuals or identifiable groups 
with protected characteristics. Accordingly, no changes to the proposal were 
required to make it acceptable in this regard. 

 
 

Page 49



  Appendix A 

CONDITIONS 
 

Reason for approval 
 
On balance, it is considered that the proposal would be in accordance with the 
relevant policies of the development plan. The proposal will provide local, 
relatively small-scale capacity for recycling of construction, demolition and 
excavation waste, with good highway connections, meeting a local need (Policies 
5, 17, 18, 25, 27, 30).  It would not materially harm the character of the area in 
terms of visual and landscape impacts due to adequate screening and 
development design, and it would be a confined, isolated development (Policies 5, 
10 and 13). Ecological impacts will be adequately controlled through proposed 
mitigation measures (Policy 3). The proposed development would not result in 
adverse public health and safety impacts, or unacceptable adverse amenity 
impacts local residents (Policy 10). It would also be acceptable in terms of 
highway safety and convenience (Policy 12). 
 
 
Tonnages 
 
1. No waste other than soils and inert waste shall be imported to the site. No 

more than 15,000 tonnes of soils and inert waste shall be imported to the 
site per annum. A written record of tonnage entering and leaving the site 
shall be kept onsite and made available to the Minerals and Waste 
Planning Authority for inspection upon request. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents and the locality from 
unacceptable road safety impacts in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection 
of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 
12 (Managing traffic) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

Operating hours 

2. No heavy goods vehicles (HGV) associated with the use hereby permitted 
shall enter or leave the site and no plant or machinery shall be operated 
except between the following hours: (i) 0700-1800 Mondays to Fridays and 
(ii) Saturdays 0800-1300. During the allowed Saturday hours only delivery 
and export of material shall take place and no crushing or screening 
operations shall take place. There shall be no working on Sundays or on 
recognised Bank Holidays. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those 
working within the locality in accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting public 
health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and 
waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) 

Lighting 

3. No external lighting shall be installed or used at the site. 

Page 50



  Appendix A 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents and the local 
landscape from unacceptable lighting impacts in accordance with Policies 5 
(Protection of the countryside) and 10 (Protecting public health, safety and 
amenity) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

Landscape 

4. All stockpiles shall be no greater than 4 metres above ground level until 
such time as the infill planting required by Condition 5 and screening 
associated with the landscape bund required by Condition 7 provide 
sufficient screening, as approved in writing by the Minerals and Waste 
Planning Authority, to allow 5 metre high stockpiles.  

No plant or machinery shall be operated on the stockpiles. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of the local landscape in accordance with 
Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, 
safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

5. Within 1 month of the date of permission being hereby granted, the 
operator shall submit to and have approved in writing by the Minerals and 
Waste Planning Authority, a planting scheme for infill planting along the 
field boundary hedgerows on Farnham Lane (A287) and Bowling Alley. 

The scheme shall be implemented within the first planting season. Planting 
shall be maintained for a period of 5 years post implementation and any 
plant failures in each and every year of that period, shall be replaced with 
equivalent selected standard sized trees in the next planting season.   

Reason: To ensure the protection of the local landscape in accordance with 
Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, 
safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

6. Dust netting attached to the concrete fencing and poles, and as required by 
Condition 8, shall be dark coloured (dark green or dark brown). 

Reason: To ensure the protection of the local landscape in accordance with 
Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, 
safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

7. The bunds and associated planting scheme shown on 1579-KC-XX-
YTREE-BSLP-01 Rev0, ‘Bund Soft Landscape Plan’ dated May 2021 
landscape plan for the bunds shall be implementing within the first planting 
season of the date of permission being hereby granted. 

Planting shall be maintained for a period of 5 years post implementation 
and any plant failures in each and every year of that period, shall be 

Page 51



  Appendix A 

replaced with equivalent selected standard sized trees in the next planting 
season.  

The bunds and installed planting shall be retained for the duration of the 
development. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of the local landscape in accordance with 
Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, 
safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

 
Site layout 

8. Within 3 months of the date of permission being hereby granted, the 2m 
concrete fencing, 4m pole and associated dust netting shall be installed in 
accordance with Drawing 1579-KC-XX-YTREE-ASP01 RevF ‘Proposed 
aggregate and soil recycling site plan’, Dated Feb 2021 and Drawing 872-
LA-P-01 RevB ‘Proposed Cross Sections‘, Dated July 2021. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from 
unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats 
and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside), and to ensure the 
protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in 
accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 
(High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire 
Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

Noise 

9. The Noise and Vibration Emissions Management System Version 1.1, 
Dated 1 October 2020 shall be implemented in full, from the date of this 
decision and for the duration of the development hereby permitted.  A 
record of daily noise and vibration inspections and complaint forms shall be 
kept and made available to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority for 
inspection upon request. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those 
working within the locality in accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, 
safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

10. No more than one campaign activity (either soil screening or crushing) shall 
take place on the site at the same time. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those 
working within the locality in accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, 
safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

Page 52



  Appendix A 

11. The soil screener, and crusher, that were the subject of Environmental 
Noise Survey and Plant Noise Assessment Report, 28536/PNA1/Rev3, 
dated 18 October 2022, shall be the only ones used on site for the duration 
of the development, unless alternative plant is approved in writing by the 
Minerals and Waste Planning after considering if it is commensurate in 
their noise and visual impact. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those 
working within the locality in accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, 
safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste 
development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

12. All vehicles, plant and machinery operated within the site shall be 
maintained in accordance with the manufacturers' specification at all times, 
shall be fitted with and use effective silencers and be fitted with and use 
white-noise type reversing alarms. 

Reason:  To minimise noise disturbance from operations at the site in 
accordance with Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of 
the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).  

Dust and odour 

13. The Dust Emissions Management Plan Version 1.3, Dated 4 April 2022 
shall be implemented in full, from the date of this decision and for the 
duration of the development hereby permitted. A record of daily dust 
inspections and complaint forms shall be kept and made available to the 
Waste Planning Authority for inspection upon request.  

Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from 
unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats 
and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside), and to ensure the 
protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in 
accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 
(High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire 
Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

14. The dust netting shall be maintained and free from holes for the duration of 
the development. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from 
unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats 
and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside), and to ensure the 
protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in 
accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) 
and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the 
Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

15. No burning of any sort shall take place on the site at any time. 

Page 53



  Appendix A 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those 
working within the locality in accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting public 
health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and 
waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

Arboriculture 

16. Within 1 month of the date of permission being hereby granted, an 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan in accordance 
with BS:5837 shall be submitted to, and have approved in writing by, the 
Minerals and Waste Planning Authority. 

The development hereby permitted shall then be carried out in accordance 
with the approved Tree Protection Plan, including implementation of tree 
protection prior to any activity effecting arboriculture. 

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity, landscape character and visual 
amenity in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species), 
10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality 
design of minerals and waste developments) of the Hampshire Minerals & 
Waste Plan (2013).  

Ecology 

17. The construction and operation of the development hereby permitted shall 
be carried out in accordance with all measures contained in the Section 5 
of the Environmental Impact Assessment, Dated 5 April 2022. 

The protection of the open watercourse habitat around the site shall be 
ensured throughout the duration of the construction and operation of the 
development hereby permitted.  

Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from 
unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats 
and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside) in the Hampshire 
Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

18. Prior to construction of the surrounding wall required by Condition 8, any 
litter and other foreign objects located in the open watercourses around the 
site shall be removed.  The drainage pipe through the bund identified in 
Figure 2 of the Environmental Impact Assessment, Dated 5 April 2022, 
shall be removed. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from 
unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats 
and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside) in the Hampshire 
Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

19. Within 1 month of the date of permission being hereby granted, a plan 
showing the proposed locations of the two bird and two bat boxes stated as 

Page 54



  Appendix A 

mitigation in Chapter 5 of the Ecological Impact Assessment, dated April 
2022, shall be submitted to, and have approved in writing by, the Minerals 
and Waste Planning Authority. 

The bird and bat boxes shall be installed according to the approved plan 
and shall be retained for the duration of the development. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from 
unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats 
and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside) in the Hampshire 
Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 

Highways 

20. A maximum of 24 HGV movements a day (12 in and 12 out) associated 
with the use hereby permitted shall enter or leave the site on any working 
day. Records of vehicle movements to and from the site and the times of 
entry and departure shall be kept and made available to the Minerals and 
Waste Planning Authority for inspection upon request. 

Reason: To limit the volumes of traffic in the interests of the amenity of 
residents on and near the approaches to the site in accordance with Policy 
12 (Managing traffic) of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 
 

21. No vehicle associated with the use hereby permitted shall leave the site 
unless it has been cleaned sufficiently to prevent mud and spoil being 
carried onto the highway. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 12 
(Managing traffic) of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 
 

22. All vehicles transporting waste to or exporting material from the site shall 
be sheeted. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 12 
(Managing traffic) of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013). 
 

Restoration 

23. In the event of the cessation of the uses hereby permitted, within 2 months, 
a Restoration Scheme shall be submitted and approved in writing by the 
Mineral and Waste Planning Authority detailing the return of the site to 
agricultural uses within 12 months of the cessation.  

All plant, buildings, structures, hardstandings and associated infrastructure 
shall be removed from the site and the site should be restored in 
accordance with approved scheme.  

The scheme shall include details of: 

Page 55



  Appendix A 

(i) the thickness and quality of subsoil and topsoil to be used and the 
method of soil handling and spreading, including the machinery to be used; 

(ii) the ripping of any compacted layers of final cover to ensure adequate 
drainage and aeration, such ripping to take place before placing of topsoil; 

(iii) measures to be taken to drain the restored land; and 

(iv) details of proposed seeding. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory restoration in accordance with Policies 5 
(Protection of the countryside) and 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste 
developments) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). 

 

Restriction of Permitted Development Rights 

24. Notwithstanding the provisions of parts 4 (Temporary Buildings and Uses), 
7 and 16 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any other order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order) fixed plant or machinery, buildings, structures 
and erections, private ways and telecommunications antenna shall not be 
erected, extended, installed or replaced at the site. 

Reason: To protect the amenities of the area in accordance with Policy 10 
(Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the Hampshire Minerals & 
Waste Plan (2013). 

 
 
Plans 
25. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans submitted with the application:  The location 
plan, 1579-KC-XX-YTREE-BSLP01 Rev0, 872-LA-P-01 Rev B, Location 
Plan, Block Plan, 1579-KC-XX-YTREE-ASP01RevF 

 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
Note to Applicants  
 
1. In determining this planning application, the Waste Planning Authority has 

worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner in accordance 
with the requirement in the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), as 
set out in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 

2. This decision does not purport or convey any approval or consent which 
may be required under the Building Regulations or any other Acts, 
including Byelaws, orders or Regulations made under such acts. 

Page 56



  Appendix A 

3. For the purposes of matters relating to this decision Heavy Goods Vehicles 
(HGVs) are defined as vehicles over 3.5 tonne un-laden).  

4. A Liaison Panel should be set up between the site operator, Minerals and 
Waste Planning Authority, interested parties and community 
representatives at a suitable frequency to facilitate effective engagement 
with stakeholders in the interests of promoting communication between the 
site operator and local community. The County Council’s guidance on the 
establishment of panels is available to the applicant. 

5. The site is currently subject to regulation by the Environment Agency under 
Environmental Permit EPR/JB3404HT.  The operator should ensure any 
changes to site design required by this planning permission do not require 
modification of the current Environmental Permit. 

 

 

 

Page 57

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/LiaisonPanelProtocolformineralsandwastesites.pdf?_gl=1*5cwqy*_ga*NjE1ODE0MjY2LjE1ODU4MzU4NDY.*_ga_8ZVSPZWL5T*MTY1OTM1OTAwOC4xLjAuMTY1OTM1OTAwOC4w


This page is intentionally left blank



Change of use of part of land forming 
Redfields Plant Centre to use for 
recycling of inert materials at Land at 
Farnham Road, Bowling Alley, Crondall 
GU10 5RW
Application No: 21/02058/HCC
Site Reference: HR109 Drawn by: Development Management Minerals & Waste Policy 

Regulatory Committee 
Date 16 November 2022

R
Economy, Transport and Environment

Location Plan

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2016

0 200 400100 M

Legend
Application Area
SINC
cSINC
Semi-Natural
Replanted
BOAT
Bridleway
Footpath
Restricted Byway

1:8,000

A287

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Dilapidated PWF

PW
F 

1.
2h

Dilapidated PWF

Dilapidated PWF

Dilapidated PWF

POLY-TUNNELS

P
os

t a
nd

 m
es

h 
2.

2h
C

ha
in

 li
nk

 fe
nc

e 
2.

2h P
O

R
TA

C
A

B
IN

C
O

N
TA

IN
E

R
S

Oak

14h

13h
Oak

C
ha

in
 li

nk
 fe

nc
e 

2.
4h

Oak

12h

Oak

15h

P
W

F 
1.

2h

15h
Oak

CL 9.12IC

R
ow

 o
f S

m
al

l t
re

es

D
ila

pi
da

te
d 

P
W

F

D
ila

pi
da

te
d 

P
W

F

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9hU
8h

8h
U

Cypress

9h

Pipe

Oak

.5x10

Oak

.5x8

dead Elm

.2x6

Oak

.8x14

Ash

.3x8

P
W

F 
1.

2h

14h
Oak

Dilapidated PWF

PORTACABIN

PORTACABIN

tarmac

Grass

Concrete

Gravel/ta
rmac

Grass

Grass

Grass

Paving

Wood

chippings

Roof14.36

9.
58

9.
75

9.689.76

9.34

9.
53

9.
32

9.
04

9.08

9.82
9.89

9.96

9.
679.

87
10

.2
1

9.
84

9.
8210

.2
0

9.89
10.16

9.84

9.96

9.97

10.11

9.759.809.869.949.89

9.919.97

10.02

10.1110.1310.16

10.15 10.15
10.12

10.05

10.1910.2710.2510.18

Roof14.27

9.
65 9.

97

9.809.81

9.80

10.01

10.01

9.
94

10
.1

0

9.
94

9.
7410.16

10.11

9.99

9.199.53

9.29

9.76

10.03

9.68 9.37 9.20
9.47

9.399.69

9.94

9.87

9.71

9.72

9.65

9.62 9.38

9.28

9.159.349.42

8.83

9.
93

9.
90

9.
62

10.03

9.96

10.04

9.
10

9.
32

9.
49

9.
35

9.
24

9.23

9.95

9.94

9.89

9.78

9.88

10.02

9.91

9.94

9.99

10.05

10.07

9.96

10.01

9.97

10.01

10.049.46

10
.3

7
10

.3
3

10.19

10.10 10.26

10.01

10.04
10.06

9.95

9.98

10.04

10.1610.23

10.12

10.01

10.03

10.19

10.26
10.27

10.20

10.05

10.21

10.17

10.23

11.54

11.14

11.05 11.27

10.04

9.86

9.77

10.20

10.17

9.85

9.
59

9.
81

9.
739.
16

8.
89

11.89

9.84

10.19

10
.4

5

9.73

9.64
9.87

10.87 11.13

10.64
10.17 9.

81

9.56

9.55

9.709.72

8.
30

10
.1

7

10
.5

5

10
.6

6

10
.7

3

10
.7

1
10

.8
8

10
.8

3

10
.7

3

10
.3

2

10
.4

2

10
.8

4

10
.8

1

10
.9

1
10

.9
3

11
.0

2
11

.0
3

10.80
10.75

10.52

9.71

9.18

11.14

11
.1

6

11
.1

8

11.23

10.62

8.
14

8.
18

8.
84

8.94

9.29

9.
03

9.
61

9.
87

9.70

10
.0

8

8.12

8.03

8.88

9.
16

9.
10

9.
35

9.
70

9.
64

9.
07

9.
72

9.75

10
.0

6
9.

80
9.

90

10.20

10.08

10
.7

5

9.34

9.22

9.26
9.06

9.06
8.81

10.34

10
.2

3

10.27

10
.2

4

10.23

9.09

8.90

8.95

8.80

8.77

8.73

8.
85

10.07

8.95

10.07

9.
01

8.
81

9.94

8.
71

8.
81

8.
43

8.
85

8.
75

8.
84

9.
51

10.07

8.77

8.80

9.97

9.91

10.02

9.88

9.78 9.
32

9.
10

10.03

9.
62

9.42 9.34 9.15
9.28

9.389.62

9.65

9.72

9.71

9.87

9.61

9.69

9.71

9.72

9.65

9.62 9.38

9.28

9.159.349.42

9.
62

9.
10

9.
32

9.78

9.88

10.02

9.91

8.80

8.77

10.07
10.07

8.
85

8.73

8.77

8.80

9.91

10.02

9.88

9.78

9.
49

9.
32

9.
10

9.
62

9.
90

9.
93

8.83

9.42 9.34 9.15
9.28

9.389.62

9.65

9.72

9.71

Proposed Bund 2.0m high. Seeded
with species rich grass to provide
amenity value and shield the Plant
Centre view from Farnham Road.Mown Grass verge 1.4m wide.

Seeded with species rich grass.
Existing wild flowers and
vegetation beyond mown strip
retained to be contiguous with
surrounding landscape.

Native trees to provide amenity
value and increase biodiversity.

Ash

.3x8

Retain existing surface:
tarmac planings.

Existing Primary
Aggregate Bins

Proposed aggregate and soil recycling site.
NB using mobile plant.

Landscape scheme outside application area
- refer to drawing 103-270720

Proposed aggregate and soil recycling site boundary

Existing trees

Proposed barriers

Existing levels

Aggregate

1. The original of this drawing was produced in colour - a monochrome
copy should not be relied upon.

2. Scale for planning purposes only.
3. All dimensions to be checked on site.
4. The copyright of this document resides with keen consultants unless

assigned in writing by the company.
5. Details shown on this drawing are devised with reference to

BS5837:2012:Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction -
Recommendations.

6. Check if Tree Preservation Order or Conservation Area protection
applies to trees before undertaking tree works.

7. Existing Site Plan based on Goater Jones drawing number
10004-102.

8. Proposed Landscape Plan based on White House Design drawing
number 103-270720.

5m 10m 20m0

Client

Project

Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked by

THE PLANT CENTRE,
BOWLING ALLEY, CRONDALL

WILSON PLANT

NOTES

Date Scale
FEB 2021 1:200@A1

SRH JTK

KEY

1579-KC-XX-YTREE-ASP01RevF

PROPOSED AGGREGATE AND SOIL RECYCLING
SITE PLAN

Rev Description Date

0 Preliminary issue 08.03.21

The Studio, Timbers,
Gables Road, Church Crookham

Fleet, Hampshire
GU52 6QY

T 01252 850096
mail@keenconsultants.co.uk

keenconsultants.co.uk

Keen Consultants is a trading name of Keen (Europe) Limited. Registered No.: 12641584
Registered office: 4 Sudley Road, Bognor Regis, West Sussex, PO21 1EU

10.19

NO
RTH

Area of soil heap hatched

Area of soil heap

Retain existing tarmac planings

A Barrier location adjusted 26.03.21
B Area of soil heap amended 06.04.21
C Boundary line updated 25.05.21
D Text related to tarmac amended 14.07.22
E Concrete barrier extended 21.09.22

Barrier to provide containment of processed
material on existing hard standing.

Reinforced concrete wall panels to a height
of 2m.

Barrier to provide containment of processed
material on existing hard standing.

Reinforced concrete wall panels with fine netting
above to mitigate against airborne dust particles.

Constructed from concrete wall panels to a
height of 2m. Metal posts 4.2m apart topped
with 4m tubular frame to support the fine
netting.

Post holes 1m deep to be hand dug and roots in
excess of 25mm diameter retained.

Barrier to provide containment of processed
material on existing hard standing.

Reinforced concrete wall panels with fine netting
above to mitigate against airborne dust particles.

Constructed from concrete wall panels to a
height of 2m. Metal posts 4.2m apart topped
with 4m tubular frame to support the fine
netting.

Post holes 1m deep to be hand dug and roots in
excess of 25mm diameter retained.

F Concrete wall height amended 22.09.22

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Grass

Grass

Dilapidated PWF

PW
F 

1.
2h

Dilapidated PWF

Dilapidated PWF

Dilapidated PWF

PW
F 1.1h

Grass
Grass

IC
CL 9.25

Bowling Alley

Ch
ai

n 
lin

k 
fe

nc
e 

2.
4h

CBF 1.9h

PW
F 

1.
1h

PWF 1.
1h

Grass

Grass

Tarmac

RS

Newly Planted Hedge

CBF 1.9h

PWF 1.1h

Bowling Alley
Tarmac

Chain link fence 2.2h

Unmade

PRF 1.3h

CL 9.23IC

Grass

Oil
tank

BARN

IC
CL 8.69

C
ha

in
 li

nk
 fe

nc
e 

2.
2h

CL 8.51IC

Propane

tank

Po
st

 a
nd

 m
es

h 
2.

2h
C

ha
in

 li
nk

 fe
nc

e 
2.

2h PO
R

TA
C

AB
IN

C
O

N
TA

IN
ER

S

Oak
14h

13h
Oak

C
ha

in
 li

nk
 fe

nc
e 

2.
4h

Oak
12h

Oak
15h

PW
F 

1.
2h

15h
Oak

IC
CL 8.79

IC
CL 8.32

CL 9.12IC

R
ow

 o
f S

m
al

l t
re

es

PWF 1.1h

Oak
12h

U
4h

PavingPaving

PR
F 

1.
3h

PR
F 

1.
3h

Line of Cypress 5.5h

D
ila

pi
da

te
d 

PW
F

D
ila

pi
da

te
d 

PW
F

RS

IC
CL 7.95

Line of trees 3-5h

Line of trees 3-5h

Line of trees 3-5h

Telegraph pole

Line of trees 3-5h Oak
15hOak

12h

Oak
10h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9hU
8h

8h
U

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

U
8h

U
8h

U
8h

Cypress

9h

U
8h

U
6h

U
7h

U
7h

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Oak
.5x10

Oak
.5x8

dead Elm

.2x6

Oak
.8x14

Ash
.3x8

PW
F 

1.
2h

14h
Oak

Dilapidated PWF

PORTACABIN

PORTACABIN

Grass

Concrete

Gravel/tarmac

Grass

Grass

Grass

Paving

Grass
Grass

Wood

chippings

Roof13.47

8.93 9.16

9.609.399.358.94

9.52

9.
58

9.
75

9.63

9.689.76

9.34

9.
53

9.
32

9.
04

9.08

9.82
9.89 9.96

9.
679.

87
10

.2
1

9.
84

9.
8210

.2
0

9.89
10.16

9.84

9.96

9.97

10.11

9.759.809.869.949.89

9.919.97

10.02

10.1110.1310.16

10.15 10.15
10.12

10.05

10.1910.2710.2510.18

8.86

8.768.68
8.658.53

8.51

9.01 9.20 9.24
9.32 9.51

9.
39

9.
57

9.439.539.509.47
9.39

9.53 9.55

9.20

RL14.31
EL12.77

9.54
9.469.57

9.32 9.35

9.51

9.
57 9.70 9.

80

9.
83

9.
65

9.
65 9.

97

9.80

10.01

10.01

9.
94

10
.1

0

9.
94

9.
7410.16

10.11

9.99

9.199.53

9.29
9.76

10.03

9.68 9.37 9.20
9.47

9.399.69

9.94

9.87

9.71

9.72

9.65

9.62 9.38

9.28
9.159.349.42

8.83

9.
93

9.
90

9.
62

10.03

9.96

10.04

9.
10

9.
32

9.
49

9.
35

9.
24

9.23

9.95

9.94

9.89

9.78

9.88

10.02

9.91

9.94

9.99

10.05

10.07

9.96

10.01

9.97

10.01

10.049.46

10
.3

7
10

.3
3

10.19

10.10 10.26

10.01

10.04
10.06

9.95

9.98

10.04

10.1610.23

10.12

10.01

10.03

10.19

10.26
10.27

10.20

10.05

10.21

10.17

10.23

11.54

11.14

11.05 11.27

10.04

9.86

9.77

10.20

10.17

9.85

9.
59

9.
81

9.
739.
16

8.
89

11.89

9.84

10.19

10
.4

5
10

.0
4

9.73

9.64
9.87

10.87 11.13

10.64 10.17 9.
81

9.56

9.55

9.709.72

8.
30

8.
55 8.
51

8.
45 8.
55

8.
48

9.
20

9.
32

9.
34

9.
45

9.
36

9.
97

10
.0

6

10
.0

0
9.

96

9.
70

9.
6810
.0

4
10

.1
6

10
.2

8
10

.3
7

10
.4

7
10

.5
3

10
.4

3

10
.0

4
10

.1
7

10
.5

5
10

.6
6

10
.7

3
10

.7
1

10
.8

8
10

.8
3

10
.7

3

10
.3

2

10
.4

2

10
.8

4
10

.8
1

10
.9

1
10

.9
3

11
.0

2
11

.0
3

10.80
10.75

10.52

9.71

9.18

11.14

11
.1

6

11
.1

8

11.23

10.62

7.
93

8.
14

8.
18

9.
06

8.
48

8.24 7.89

7.17
7.90

7.44
7.02 6.92 6.84 6.76

6.94

7.797.84
7.877.897.827.998.017.93 7.

37

7.
38

7.
43

7.
44

7.95
8.06

8.05

7.96 7.81

7.91

7.82
7.92

7.70
7.73

7.80

7.71 7.64

7.65

7.59

7.68

7.64

7.47

7.56

7.55 7.51

7.57

7.48

7.64 7.59
7.51

7.50

7.54

7.69 7.88 7.88 7.82 7.90 7.85 7.90
7.96

8.01

7.79

6.78

6.74
6.776.696.586.556.68

6.56

7.
35 7.

46 7.
38

7.
16

7.
42

7.
19

7.92
7.927.89

7.63
7.46

7.54

7.49
7.56

7.53

7.42

7.57
7.48

7.57

7.56
7.62

7.60

7.48

7.58 7.48
7.63

7.62

7.70

7.78

7.63

7.52

7.43

7.75

7.67

7.64

7.
65

7.73
7.75

9.96

8.81

7.78 7.88

8.64

8.96

9.09

9.13
9.31

9.29

9.14

8.73

7.92

7.79

8.25

8.84

9.14

9.39

9.36 9.32

9.36

9.10

8.88

8.35

7.93

8.50

7.87

8.68

8.97

8.
85

8.42

8.45

8.30

8.30

7.77

8.28
8.33

7.
74

7.
78

8.
02

8.46

8.37

8.72

8.
84

8.94

9.29

9.
03

9.
61

9.
87

9.70

10
.0

8

8.12

8.03

8.
72

8.88

9.
16

9.
10

9.
35

9.
70

9.
64

9.
07

9.
72

9.75

10
.0

6
9.

80
9.

90

8.
768.
64

8.56

10.20

10.08

10
.7

5
10

.4
6

7.49

9.
61

9.34

9.22

9.26
9.06

9.06
8.81

10.34

10
.2

3

10.27

10
.2

4

10.23

9.09

8.90

8.95

8.80

8.77

8.73

8.
85

10.07

8.95

10.07

9.
01

8.
81

9.94

8.
71

8.
81

8.
43

8.
85

8.
75

8.
84

9.
51

8.69

10.07

8.77

8.80

9.97

9.91

10.02

9.88

9.78 9.
32

9.
10

10.03

9.
62

9.42 9.34 9.15
9.28

9.389.62

9.65

9.72

9.71

9.87

9.61

9.69

9.71

9.72

9.65

9.62 9.38

9.28
9.159.349.42

9.
62

9.
10

9.
329.78

9.88

10.02

9.91

8.80

8.77

10.07
10.07

8.
85

8.73

8.77

8.80

9.91

10.02

9.88

9.78

9.
49

9.
32

9.
10

9.
62

9.
90

9.
93

8.83

9.42 9.34 9.15
9.28

9.389.62

9.65

9.72

9.71

Retain existing
tarmac planings

Propane tank

7.81

PR
F 

1.
1h

Cypress

5h

Cypress

5h

Gate

8.32

8.19

9.07

8.56

8.23

8.
23

Gravel

CL 8.11

Gravel

PR
F 

1.
1h

Gu

Gu
IC
CL 8.30

Unmade

IC
CL 8.01

Grass

CL 8.02IC

Gravel

Telegraph pole

RL15.97

EL13.32

14.20

7.87
7.99 7.97

8.11

8.28
8.17

8.31

8.32
8.08 8.56

8.49
8.36

8.00

8.31

7.96

8.24

8.278.35

8.358.30

7.71

8.31

8.32

Green palisade gate 2.4m.

Garage

IC
8.23

A

B

HURST
HOUSE

Southern & Eastern Barriers to provide
containment of processed material on existing
hard standing.
Reinforced concrete wall panels with fine
netting above to mitigate against airborne dust
particles.
Constructed from concrete wall panels to a
height of 2.0m. Metal posts 4.2m apart topped
with 4m tubular frame to support the fine
netting.
Post holes 1m deep to be hand dug and roots
in excess of 25mm diameter retained.
Refer to Keen Consultants drawing and
report

Section

A

B

POLY-TUNNELS

Soil Heaps -
NB: (height &

location varies)

Se
ctio

n

Site Access

BOWLING ALLEYExisting Site
Entrance &

Egress

LUNN'S
COPSE

LUNN'S
COPSE

LITTLE
DOWN
COPSE

Existing Primary
Aggregate Bins

A recently constructed bund

running parallel with the access

road lies; approximately 2.95m high

and the subject of an approved

planning application (part

retrospective) by Hart District

Council reference 20/01838/FUL.

A recently constructed bund running parallel with the

access road lies; approximately 2.95m high and the

subject of an approved planning application (part

retrospective) by Hart District Council reference

20/01838/FUL. Slope graded gradually back into the

adjacent former landfill site to the west. Bund seeded

with species rich grassland planted with mixed native

hedgerow and tree planting species (soft landscape

works yet to be undertaken.

Northern Barrier to provide containment of
processed material on existing hard standing.

Reinforced concrete wall panels to a height of
2.0m.
Refer to Keen Consultants drawing and
report

Eastern
boundary &

Lunn's Copse

Site
Boundary

Existing Primary
Aggregate Bins

Redfield's
Poly-Tunnels

Proposed stock pile heaps - limited to
maximum height of  5.0m

(NB: height and location of stockpiles will
vary depending on material)

Proposed concrete barrier

-reinforced  wall panels

2.0m high with fine netting

above to a height of 4.0m

to prevent against airborne

dust particles.

4.0M

2.0m

Proposed concrete barrier

-reinforced  wall panels

2.0m high

Western  boundary
& Little Down

Copse

Site
Boundary

Redfield's
Poly-Tunnels

Proposed stock pile heaps - limited to maximum height of  5.0m
(NB: height and location of stockpiles will vary depending on material)

Proposed concrete barrier

-reinforced  wall panels 2.0m high

with fine netting above to a height

of 4.0m to prevent against

airborne dust particles.

Lunn's
Copse

Proposed

concrete barrier

-reinforced  wall

panels 2.0m high

Ordnance Survey ©  Crown Copyright 2021. 

All rights reserved. Licence number 100037566

SCALE 1: 500 @ A1

TYPICAL SECTION A-A'    Scale 1:200

PROPOSED CROSS SECTIONS

Drawing Title

Scale Date

JULY 20211 : 500 &

1:200 @ A1

Drawing No.

The Former Redfield's Plant Centre,
Bowling Alley, Crondall, GU10 5RW

Project

Client

Drawn

MS

Revision

As Built

Issued for Design/Information

Issued for Tender

Issued for Construction

Issued for Planning Approval

Preliminary

NameDate

Revisions

872-LA-P-01

L A N D S C A P E  A R C H I T E C T

5 THOROLD ROAD
FARNHAM

SURREY
GU9 7JY

TEL&FAX 01252 714607

EMAIL: mo@bradfordsmith.co.uk

B R A D F O R D - S M I T H

WILSON PLANT

Status
PLANNING
(Retrospective)

TYPICAL SECTION B-B'    Scale 1:200

ECOLOGICAL ENHANCEMENTS

BAT BOXES - 3nr. Schwegler
2FS Colony Bat Boxes
Colour : Black

BIRD BOXES - 2nr. Schwegler 1B
32mm hole nest box
Colour : Green

BIRD BOXES - 2nr. Schwegler 1B
26mm hole nest box
Colour : Green

Bird and Bat Boxes shall be installed on existing mature off site trees and within the applicant's ownership boundary.
Exact locations to be confirmed by ecologist

B

A  14-07-2022 Text amendment                                       MS

 B  26-09-2022 Concrete wall panels extended                   MS

P
age 63

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
30m

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
NORTH



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Dilapidated PWF

PW
F 

1.
2h

PW
F 1.1h

Chain link fence 2.2h

PRF 1.3h

Gravel

BARN

IC
CL 8.69

C
ha

in
 li

nk
 fe

nc
e 

2.
2h

CL 8.51IC

Propane

tank

P
os

t a
nd

 m
es

h 
2.

2h
C

ha
in

 li
nk

 fe
nc

e 
2.

2h P
O

R
TA

C
A

B
IN

C
O

N
TA

IN
E

R
S

Garage

(Half Built)

IC
CL 8.79

CL 8.11IC

CL 9.12IC

R
ow

 o
f S

m
al

l t
re

es

Gravel

Gu

Gu
IC
CL 8.30

P
R

F 
1.

3h

P
R

F 
1.

3h

Unmade

RS

IC
CL 8.01

Grass

CL 8.02IC

Propane tank

Line of trees 3-5h

Line of trees 3-5h

Telegraph pole

Gravel

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9hU
8h

8h
U

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

Cypress

9h

U
8h

U
8h

U
8h

Cypress

9h

U
8h

U
6h

U
7h

U
7h

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

"HURST HOUSE"

PORTACABIN

PORTACABIN

Concrete

Gravel/ta
rmac

Paving

Roof13.47

8.93 9.16

9.358.94

9.52

9.76

9.34

9.
53

9.
04

9.08

9.82

9.89
9.96

9.
679.

87
10

.2
1

9.
84

9.
8210

.2
0

9.89
10.16

9.84

9.96

9.97

10.11

10.18

8.76
8.68

8.658.53

8.51

RL15.97

EL13.32

14.20

10
.3

3

11.14

11.05 11.27

9.77

10.20

9.85

9.
59

9.
81

9.
739.
16

8.
89

11.89

9.84

10.19

10
.4

5

10
.0

4

9.73

9.64
9.87

10.87 11.13

10.64
10.17 9.

81

9.56

9.55

9.709.72

8.
30

8.
55 8.
51

8.
45

8.
55

8.
48

9.
20

9.
32

9.
34

9.
45

9.
36

9.
97

10
.0

6

10
.0

0

9.
96

9.
70

9.
68

10
.0

4

10
.1

6

10
.2

8
10

.3
7

10
.4

7
10

.5
3

10
.4

3

10
.0

4
10

.1
7

10
.5

5

10
.6

6

10
.7

3

10
.7

1
10

.8
8

10
.8

3

10
.7

3

10
.3

2

10
.4

2

10
.8

4

10
.8

1

10
.9

1
10

.9
3

11
.0

2
11

.0
3

10.80
10.75

10.52

9.71

9.18

11.14

11
.1

6

11
.1

8

11.23

10.62

7.
93

8.
14

8.
18

9.
06

8.
48

8.24 7.89

7.17

7.90

7.44
7.02 6.92 6.84 6.76

6.94

7.797.84
7.877.897.827.99

8.017.93 7.
37

7.
38

7.
43

7.
447.96

7.81
7.71

7.64

7.
65

7.87
7.99

7.73
7.75

7.97
8.11

8.28
8.17

8.31

8.32
8.08 8.56

8.49
8.36
8.23

8.00

8.31

7.96

8.24

8.278.35

8.358.30

7.717.
74

7.
78

8.
02

8.
23

8.
84

8.94

9.29

9.
03

9.
61

9.
87

9.70

10
.0

8

8.12

8.03

8.
72

8.88

9.
16

9.
10

9.
35

9.
70

9.
64

9.
07

9.
72

9.75

10
.0

6
9.

80
9.

90

8.
76

8.
64

8.56

10.20

10.08

10
.7

5
10

.4
6

8.95

8.
85

8.
75

8.
84

9.
51

8.31

8.32

8.69

Mown Grass verge 1.4m wide.
Seeded with meadow mixture
grass seed e.g Emorsgate EG6

 No.270Crataegus monogyna

 No.68Prunus spinosa

 No.68Corylus avellana

 No.68Euonymus europaeus

 No.68Viburnum lantana

 No.68Acer campestre

 No.34Taxus baccata

 No.34Rosa canina

 No.1Quercus robur

 No.1Carpinus betulus

 No.1Prunus avium

 No.1Malus sylvestris

 No.1Sorbus torminalis

 No.1Sorbus aucuparia

 No.1Quercus robur

 No.1Malus sylvestris

 No.1Sorbus aucuparia

 No.1Sorbus torminalis

 No.1Sorbus torminalis

 No.1Sorbus torminalis

 No.1Sorbus torminalis

 No.1Quercus robur

 No.1Quercus robur

 No.1Prunus avium

 No.1Prunus avium

 No.1Prunus avium

 No.1Betula pubescens

 No.1Betula pubescens

 No.1Carpinus betulus

 No.1Malus sylvestris

 No.1Malus sylvestris

 No.1Malus sylvestris

 No.1Carpinus betulus

 No.1Crataegus laevigata

 No.1Crataegus laevigata

 No.1Tilia europaea

9.
32Bare root60-80cm0.5Ctr Triple Staggered at 0.5m offsetTaxus baccata34

SpecificationHeightDensitySpeciesNumber
Conifers

Bare root0.5Ctr Triple Staggered at 0.5m offset60-80cmWayfaring treeViburnum lantana68
Bare root0.5Ctr Triple Staggered at 0.5m offset60-80cmDog RoseRosa canina34
Bare root0.5Ctr Triple Staggered at 0.5m offset60-80cmBlackthornPrunus spinosa68
Bare root0.5Ctr Triple Staggered at 0.5m offset60-80cmCommon HazelCorylus avellana68

SpecificationDensityHeightCommon NameSpeciesNumber
Shrubs

Bare RootCounted12-14cmTilia europaea1
Bare RootCounted10-12cmWild Service TreeSorbus torminalis5
Bare RootCounted10-12cmEuropean mountain ashSorbus aucuparia2
Bare RootCounted12-14cmCommon OakQuercus robur4
Bare RootCounted12-14cmGean or Wild CherryPrunus avium4
Bare RootCounted10-12cmCommon Crab AppleMalus sylvestris5
Bare root0.5Ctr Triple Staggered at 0.5m offset60-80cmCommon Spindle TreeEuonymus europaeus68
Bare root0.5Ctr Triple Staggered at 0.5m offset60-80cmCommon HawthornCrataegus monogyna270
Bare RootCounted10-12cmEnglish hawthornCrataegus laevigata2
Bare RootCounted10-12cmCommon HornbeamCarpinus betulus3
Bare RootCounted10-12cmDowny BirchBetula pubescens2
Bare root0.5Ctr Triple Staggered at 0.5m offset60-80cmCommon MapleAcer campestre68

SpecificationDensityGirthHeightCommon NameSpeciesNumber
Trees

Plant Specification
PLANTING SPECIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

General Recommendations

All plants included within the specification below shall be healthy,

well-formed specimens of a minimum quality that is compatible with

British Standard 3936:1992 (Part 1)'Specifications for Trees and Shrubs'

and British Standard 4043 (where applicable) or any subsequent revision.

All plant handling to be in accordance with the HTA 'Handling and

establishing landscape plants' Part I, Part II and Part III (obtainable from

the Horticultural Trades Association) and the CPSE publication: 'Plant

Handling'.

All planting to confirm to British Standard 4428:1989 'Code of Practice

for General Landscaping Operations' or the subsequent revision.

The individual setting out of the plants on site shall be the responsibility

of the contractor and should follow closely the locations shown on the

detailed planting plan opposite. Contractor to ensure that plants are

equally spaced within individual planting groups.

Contractor to check the locations of all underground services, existing

and proposed, prior to the excavation of any tree pits or shrub beds and

identify any potential conflicts to the client.

All arisings shall be removed from site and the contractor shall at all

times, keep the site free from rubbish and debris.

For the duration of the works the contractor shall keep the site free from

injurious weeds as listed in the Weeds Act 1959.

All plants should be supplied at the same size and of the same species as

specified in the planting schedule below. Any proposed replacement

species or deviation from the planting schedules should be highlighted

and agreed with the client prior to installation.

The Contractor shall carry out the work while soil and weather

conditions are suitable. Planting is not to take place during periods of

frost or strong winds.

Apply proprietary herbicide to any perennial weeds and allow a period of

time recommended by manufacturer to elapse before disturbing and

re-using elsewhere on site.

Do not use peat or peat based products.

Prior to planting, planting areas shall be cleared of grass and weed

growth physically and/or chemically with a proprietary translocated

herbicide and a period of time shall be allowed to elapse as

recommended by the manufacturer before commencement of soil

preparation for planting.

All plants are to be watered thoroughly before planting stage to ensure

roots/rootballs are thoroughly soaked prior to final backfilling.

Bare Root Native Hedge Planting and Maintenance

Plant hedge plants during the dormant season November to March

immediately after delivery to prevent drying of roots. Hedgerow whips

0.6-0.9m high to be planted in triple staggered rows 0.5m apart.

Incorporate a soil conditioner/ameliorant in the form of peat free

general-purpose shrub compost or well-rotted spent mushroom

compost

All hedge planting areas to be dressed with a minimum 50mm mulch

layer, consisting of medium chipped tree bark, composted for 2-4 weeks,

particle size 15-50mm.

New whips to be cut back by 50% immediately after planting.

First maintenance cut the following December when all new growth to

be cut back by 50% to encourage bushy growth and ultimate thick

hedge.

Trim straggly growth as necessary during subsequent December to

February replacing dead whips where required and for the following 5

years.

Following establishment trim front of hedge during dormant period with

tapered sides to ensure light reaches base of hedge. Allow selective

specimens in third row to mature.  Subsequently minimum intervention

is required in the interests of ecology and to emulate the woodland edge

south of the bunds.

Grass Seeding for mown grass verge only : April to October

Areas to be seeded are to be finely graded to bring to a uniform and

even grade at the correct finished level and to remove all minor hollows

and ridges.  All stones and debris greater than 50mm in size to be

removed and disposed of off-site.

Seeded areas are to consist of approx 150mm low fertility topsoil;

Unless otherwise stated, finished levels of seeded areas to be 30mm

above adjoining paving and kerbs.

Final preparation of the seeded areas shall be carried out as to create a

find tilth surface suitable for seeding.

The area(s) is to be seeded between April and October with Emorsgate

EG6 meadow grass mixture for chalk and limestone soils or similar at

40gms/m².  Following seeding, areas are to be hand raked and lightly

rolled. Please refer to wildseed.co.uk for further details as required.

The contractor shall ensure that all seeded areas are watered fully at the

time of installation to the full cultivated depth.  The client is responsible

for sufficient subsequent watering to ensure healthy establishment of

the grass sward.

Tree pit detail

The depth of the pit should be no deeper than required to hold the

root system/rootball typically a spit of the spade.

The bottom of the pit should not be dug over.

The sides and bottom broken up if clay soil causes smearing.

Stakes a third the height of the

tree to be placed either side of

the root system

Soil improved only if necessary and backfilled carefully in layers

ensuring root flare visible. Topped with 100mm of organic mulch in a

1m circle after watering in and clear of the tree trunk.

A square planting pit to prevent the roots circling at least 1m square and

2 to 3 times the width of the rootball.

Bare root and rootball trees to be planted during the dormant season

November to March ground conditions permitting. Container trees to be

planted anytime as long as ground conditions are not frozen or

waterlogged.

Design Proposals for the Bunds and Landscape Strategy

The landscape strategy for the bunds, in line with policy NBE9 of the

adopted Hart Local Plan-strategy and sites 2016-2032,  is based on

consideration of the character as a whole and in particular the setting in

and around Landscape Character Area 10 of the Hart District

Landscape Assessment: Dogmersfield . This states that the local area

consists of ' a patchwork of mixed farmland and scattered blocks of

woodland and a mostly rural road network but with localised intrusion

from the A287 running across the area '

In order to satisfy the enhancement priorities as laid out in the Hart

District Landscape Assessment, locally native trees and shrubs have

been selected to integrate the bunds into the existing landscape in

particular referencing the woodland to the south of the site .

In line with policy DNP6 of the Dogmersfield Neighbourhood Plan, the

proposed wide hedgerow with standard native trees, provides a green

corridor between the extant hedgerow alongside Bowling Alley and the

woodland to the South of the site and references the local landscape

style of a patchwork of wooded farmland. This enhances the landscape

ecology in line with policy GEN1 (v) and is in keeping with the local

character GEN1 (i) of the adopted Hart District Local Plan and  provides

an appropriate and attractive screen to the site thus enhancing amenity

value.

Large species including oak and wild cherry are proposed inter planted

with smaller tree species including crab apple and wild service tree to

mimic woodland edge planting. It is proposed that the hedgerow be

planted in triple rows at 0.5m distances and managed such that the

inner row of plants are selectively allowed to grow into trees rather

than trimmed as a hedge, and after 5 years minimal intervention will aim

to provide the appearance of woodland edge when viewed from the

A287, as well as benefit ecology. This will ensure that the proposed

planting blends with the woodland to the South and East of the site

when viewed form the A287 travelling from Odiham towards Farnham

in line with policy NBE9 of the Hart Local Plan Strategy and Sites

2016-2032.

The inclusion of spindle, guelder rose and wild rose within the

traditional hedge mix will enhance biodiversity and increase visual

interest between seasons.

The bunds themselves are to be seeded with native wildflowers, for

example Emorsgate EM6 meadow mixture for chalk and limestone .

This will provide amenity value and increase biodiversity. The mown

grass verge adjacent to the bunds to be seeded with Emorsgate EG6

seed for lime rich soils low in fertility or similar.

500mm

500mm

500mm

500mm

500mm 500mm

0

Ash
.3x8

Landscape scheme outside application area

- refer to drawing 103-270720

Existing trees

Existing levels

Rich native wildflower seed mix e.g Emorsgate EM6

1. The original of this drawing was produced in colour - a monochrome

copy should not be relied upon.

2. Scale for planning purposes only.

3. All dimensions to be checked on site.

4. The copyright of this document resides with keen consultants unless

assigned in writing by the company.

5. Details shown on this drawing are devised with reference to

BS5837:2012:Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction -

Recommendations.

6. Check if Tree Preservation Order or Conservation Area protection

applies to trees before undertaking tree works.

7. Existing Site Plan based on Goater Jones drawing number

10004-102.

8. Proposed Plan to be implemented in conjunction with White House

Design drawing number 103-270720.

5m 10m 20m0

NOTES

KEY

10.19

N

O

R

T

H

Client

Project

Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked by

THE PLANT CENTRE,

BOWLING ALLEY, CRONDALL

WILSON PLANT

Date Scale

1:200@A1

SRH JTK

Rev Description

Preliminary issue 06.05.21

The Studio, Timbers,

Gables Road, Church Crookham

Fleet, Hampshire

GU52 6QY

T 01252 850096

mail@keenconsultants.co.uk

keenconsultants.co.uk

Keen Consultants is a trading name of Keen (Europe) Limited. Registered No.: 12641584

Registered office: 4 Sudley Road, Bognor Regis, West Sussex, PO21 1EU

Mown verge meadow grass seed e.g Emorsgate EG6 

Proposed native hedge

MAY 2021

1579-KC-XX-YTREE-BSLP01Rev0

BUND SOFT LANDSCAPE PLAN

Proposed native tree 

Tree Planting : November to March for bare root or rootball tree

Please refer to tree pit detail below.

 

Tree shall be staked and supported with a low, double stake consisting

of 2 No. 75mm diameter rounded timber posts driven into the ground, a

third of the tree height above ground level and fixed to the tree by a

proprietary rubber tree tie / horizontal cross support.

Tree Maintenance

Replacement of failed trees shall occur if and when they fell within a

period of 5 years. Species shall be replaced like-for like.

Frost or drought can loosen the soil around each plant. Each plant should

be checked and the soil firmed as necessary.

A weed free area of at least 1 metre diameter shall be maintained around

each plant. Chemical treatments may be used to achieve this and must

be applied in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.

Each tree position shall be mulched (bark or decomposed wood

chippings) to a depth of 100 mm and radius of at least 1 metre around

the tree.

Wildflowers for Bunds

Bunds seeded with species rich mix of native wildflowers e.g Emorsgate

EM6 meadow mixture for chalk and limestone soils to increase

biodiversity and amenity value.

Management

Ground preparation

Ensure ground is not highly fertile and perennial weeds have been

removed.

Prepare a seed bed, first removing weeds. Harrow or rake to produce a

medium tilth, and roll, or tread, to produce a firm surface.

Sowing

Seed is best sown in the autumn or spring. The seed must be surface

sown at a rate of 16kg per acre or 4g/m².To get an even distribution

divide the seed into two or more parts and sow in overlapping sections.

Firm in with a roll or by treading to give good soil/seed contact.

First year management

Control first flush of annual weeds from the soil in the first growing

season by topping or mowing.

Mow newly sown meadows regularly throughout the first year of

establishment to a height of 40-60mm, removing cuttings if dense.  This

will control annual weeds and help maintain balance between faster

growing grasses and slower developing wild flowers. Dig out any residual

perennial weeds such as docks.

Management once established

In the second and subsequent years EM6 sowings can be managed in a

number of ways which, in association with soil fertility, will determine

the character of the grassland.

On poor shallow soils one or two cuts at the end of the summer,are

required to maintain diversity and interest. After flowering in July or

August take a 'hay cut': cut back with a scythe, petrol strimmer or tractor

mower to c 50mm. Leave the 'hay' to dry and shed seed for 1-7 days

then remove from site.

Mow or graze the re-growth through to late autumn/winter to c 50mm

and again in spring if needed.

HEDGE PLANTING DETAIL

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for assistance.

	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	Minutes

	6 Land at Farnham Road, Bowling Alley Crondall
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Recommendation
	1.	That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions listed in Appendix A.

	Executive Summary
	2.	The planning application is for change of use of part of land forming Redfields Plant Centre to use for recycling of inert materials at land at Farnham Road, Bowling Alley, Crondall. It is a retrospective planning application.
	3.	This application is being considered by the Regulatory Committee as requested by the County Councillor Glen and due to the number of objections presented by the local residents.
	4.	Key issues raised are:
	5.	A committee site visit by Members took place on 4 July 2022 in advance of the proposal being considered by the Regulatory Committee.
	6.	The proposed development is not an Environmental Impact Assessment development under the Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.
	7.	On balance, it is considered that the proposal would be in accordance with the relevant policies of the adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) (HMWP)and the Hart Local Plan (Strategy and Sites) 2032 (2020).
	8.	The principle of the development is supported by Policies 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and source), 18 (Recycling and secondary aggregate), 25 (Sustainable waste management), 27 (Capacity for waste management development) and 30 (Construction, demolition and excavation waste development) of the HMWP (2013) in that the movement of waste materials up the waste hierarchy is encouraged to divert them from landfill, and recycling of construction, demolition and excavation (CDE) waste to produce beneficial aggregate products can provide an alternative to marine-won or land won sand and gravel for certain purposes.
	9.	It is considered that the proposal would not adversely impact surround habitat and biodiversity including those in the designated Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) and Ancient Woodland (Policy 3).  The proposal is considered to be appropriate in terms of visual impact and landscape in the countryside setting (Policies 5 and 10).  The site is well screened by existing vegetation, existing buildings, and by an approved vegetated bunding to be completed. The fencing and netting is judged to be appropriate for the setting subject to conditions on colours and the site will benefit from a screening bund and additional planting.  This is supplemented by conditions to provide reinforcement of the nearby hedgerows and implementation of the separate Hart District Council planning permission (20/01838/FUL) regarding planting along the bund will visually screen the operation.  Conditions limiting the height of stockpiles and restriction on the working height of vehicles will further help keep the proposed development out of sight particularly from the nearby Public Rights of Way (PROW) and public highway.
	10.	The proposed development already has an Environmental Permit for processing of waste from the Environment Agency. The Assessments submitted as part of the planning application demonstrate that any pollution impacts from dust or site drainage can be adequately mitigated. Regarding noise, the nearest residential receptor is the residence of the operator and would experience between low and adverse noise effects. At other sensitive receptors beyond that noise impacts have also been demonstrated to be at or below existing background levels.  The operation is therefore not expected to result in adverse public health and safety impacts and no unacceptable amenity impacts (Policy 10).   The development in in Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk) and it is considered that the development will not impact the existing flood risk or drainage. (Policy 11).
	11.	The existing access is adequate for the proposed vehicles type and numbers, the existing highways network will be able to accommodate the additional traffic, and the highway safety at the Bowling Alley/A287 junction will not be exacerbated by the proposal (Policy 12).
	12.	While it is now confirmed by Hart District Council that the site is not Previously Developed Land (PDL), the applicant has demonstrated that there is a local need for the operation which supports the location of the development in the countryside (Policy 5).  The site has good transport connections with the local market served (Policy 25).  However, the proposal does not demonstrate effectively it meets a ‘special need’ (Policy 29).
	13.	Paragraph 3.5 of the HMWP (2013) describes how, in making a planning decision judgement should be used in the weight given to the various elements of the plan and other material considerations when concluding whether the balance of evidence shows the development to be sustainable and should be granted planning permission.
	14.	While planning applications should be assessed on their own merits, consideration has also been given to the Planning Inspector’s Decision for an appeal for the same operation at a location 1.8km east along the A287 (Peacocks Nursery).  Particularly relevant, are conclusions on the principle of the proposed development and the benefits provided which included serving a local market for soils and products from inert waste. The Inspector noted ‘the need for such development carries moderate weight in the appellant’s favour’. In that instance, the appeal was allowed despite not being found to be in accordance with Policy 29 of the HMWP (2013) and the site not being Previously Developed Land. It is unclear the level of weight the Inspector placed on the temporary duration of the proposal although they referenced that their decision accounted for the temporary nature of the development.
	15.	Taking all matters into account, on balance, the proposal is considered to be an acceptable development and be sustainable in accordance with Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) of the HMWP (2013).

	The Site
	16.	The site occupies an area of approximately 0.5 hectares of land. The Location Plan (see Appendix A - Location Plan) shows that the site lies approximately 1.5 kilometres (km) to the north of the village of Crondall, and 200 metres (m) south of the A287.  The site is approximately 7km from the M3 and 7km from the A31.
	17.	Prior to the relocation of the applicant’s business to the site, it was an existing operational yard previously associated with the neighbouring landscaping business that operates from the area of land immediately north of the subject site. Hart District Council, as the Local  Planning Authority for the previous development of the wider site, have determined the lawfulness of the use of the subject site as an ‘operational yard’ has not been established in planning terms, and or the purpose of the development of the subject site, it cannot be considered as lawful PDL (this is discussed further below in in ‘Development in the countryside’).
	18.	Access to the site is achieved from Bowling Alley along a short access driveway which is also under the applicant’s control. Bowling Alley connects to the A287 at the north providing access to the wider highway network.
	19.	The site lies within the countryside but is relatively enclosed as it is bounded by woodland along the southern and eastern boundary. The access driveway connects at the west of the site and the driveway has an existing screening bund in place.
	20.	The existing screening bund was granted by Hart District Council (Planning permission 20/01838/FUL).  Beyond the landscape bund is an agricultural field which is a former landfill and is also under the control of the applicant.  To the north is an existing landscape business with associated office buildings.
	21.	Public Right of Way (PROW) ‘Crondall 14’ is approximately 200m west of the site boundary and runs north-south from the A287.  The PROW is screened from the site by the driveway landscaping bund described above.
	22.	Hurst House is the nearest residential properties to the site situated approximately 75m north of the site boundary and is owned by the applicant. Bowenhurst Cottages which is a residential property with a dog kennels and cattery is located 150m north of the subject site on Bowling Alley, opposite the private driveway entrance.  The residential property of Willow House is located 160m away from the eastern site boundary.
	23.	The site is not located in a sensitive flood zone (in Flood Zone 1, the lowest risk zone) but is situated in a sensitive groundwater area Zone 2 of the Environment Agency’s Groundwater Source Protection Zones (SPZs).
	24.	The site is not situated within any designated sensitive heritage, ecological or landscape sites.  Part of the adjacent woodland to the south is designated as ancient woodland (beginning from 70m into woodland from southern site boundary). The entirety of the woodland area to the south is designated as a Site of Interest for Nature Conservation (SINC). A further SINC is located 120m north of the site on the opposite side of Bowling Alley.

	Planning History
	25.	The site has no previous minerals or waste planning history associated with the site.  The fields immediately to the west are a restored inert waste landfill (HCC site references HR077 and HR041).
	26.	The recent District planning history is of relevance to the application.  The wider site has a history of use for horticultural nursery facilities.  Structures including polytunnels, portacabins, water tanks are located in an area immediately north to the subject site and the area is accessed through the subject site.
	27.	Most recently Hart District Council granted planning permission for reconfiguration of the area immediately to the north and the subject site with demolition of existing buildings and structures, with the erection of new buildings and structures (14/03075/FUL).  The stated existing use of the wider area at that time was a landscape contractors business.  The proposed site was part of this redevelopment. The site was to be redeveloped into a yard with storage bays for recycled materials and skips, operational parking and materials set down areas.  The ‘existing site plan’ submitted with that application showed the part of the wider site subject to this current application as an area featuring soil, rubbish, and aggregate heaps; a green waste screener; a container; a water tank; bays for storage of wood chipping, and an area of tarmac hard standing with a canopy.  Open areas were shown as a gravel/tarmac surface (likely the road planings that currently surface the site).
	28.	Planning permission 14/03075/FUL was granted on 17 March 2015 and included a condition for development to start within three years and conditions to be discharged prior to any development occurring.  On 26 June 2018, Hart District Council informed the then applicant that the permission expired as the necessary conditions had not been discharged in time as the final schemes had been submitted too late (18/00604/CON).  Hart District Council also stated that the driveway improvement that would have been allowed under the planning permission were considered unlawful. A Section 278 legal agreement had been signed to cover the improvements to the site access.
	29.	The existing screening bund was granted by Hart District Council (Planning permission 20/01838/FUL) prior to the current uses commencing on site although associated planting is still to be completed.
	30.	The site is not identified in the adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013) as an allocated waste management site nor is it a safeguarded waste site.
	31.	Other relevant planning history relates to the proposed operation.  Prior to moving to the subject site the operator was located 1.8km to the east along the A287 in ‘Land behind Peacocks Nursery’ (16/03156/HCC).  The application was refused on 23 March 2017, and was allowed on appeal (Appeal on 16 January 2018 for a temporary period of 20 months (APP/Q1770/C/17317/6219).

	The Proposal
	32.	The proposal is for a change of use of an existing operational yard previously associated with the adjacent landscaping business.  The change of use would allow aggregate and soil recycling to be undertaken on the site. Construction, demolition and excavation waste would be brought to the site before it is crushed/screened on site to produce, soils, aggregate and sub-base materials which are then exported by the site operator.
	33.	It is a retrospective application. More discussion on the retrospective nature of the application is provided below under Retrospective nature of the application.
	34.	As the nature of the uses were waste, a new planning application to retrospectively regularise the uses was submitted to Hampshire County Council as Waste Planning Authority.
	35.	A 360⁰ excavator is used to sort the imported materials.  A stand-alone crusher is used to crush the concrete.  A soil screener is used to remove larger material from the imported soils. A loading shovel is used to load Heavy Commercial Vehicles (HGVs) for export of material.
	36.	Landscaping screening bunding is already located on site under an existing planning permission although the associated planting is yet to be completed. Aggregate storage bays are located to the west of the site near the end of the private driveway.
	37.	The proposed site layout (see Appendix C) would also see:
	38.	The centre of the yard would be occupied with stockpiles of material that either has been processed or is waiting to be processed.
	39.	Import and export of materials would occur by Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs).  It is estimated that the daily operations would result in 24 HGV movements with 4 HGVs being parked overnight.  There would be two operatives that require to park at the site along with HGV drivers parking their vehicles for the day.
	40.	Requested hours of operation are 0700 – 1800 Monday to Friday and 0800-1300 on Saturday.  The applicant proposes no crushing would take place on Saturdays with only delivery or export of material allowed.  No working is proposed on Sundays or recognised Public Holidays.
	41.	No external lighting is proposed.
	42.	The applicant proposes to import 15,000 tonnes of soils and inert waste per annum and for stockpile to be no greater than 5 metres (m) in height.
	43.	The site is accessed via Bowling Alley and is 130m from the A287. The access onto the A237 is approximately 7.5km from the A31 to the east and the same distance to the M3 to the west.  The A287 is not identified as part of the Strategic Road network under the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan Policies Map - October 2013.
	44.	The site is already subject to an existing Environmental Permit regulated by the Environment Agency.

	Environmental Impact Assessment
	45.	The proposed development has been assessed under Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.; 10(a) - Urban development projects and 11(b) Installations for the disposal of waste (unless included in Schedule 1) and does not require an Environmental Impact Assessment.   A Screening Opinion confirming this was issued by the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority on 19 August 2021.

	Development Plan and Guidance
	46.	Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that applications are determined in accordance with the statutory ‘development plan’ unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Therefore, consideration of the relevant plans, guidance and policies and whether the proposal is in accordance with these is of relevance to decision making.
	47.	The key policies in the development plan which are material to the determination of the application, are summarised below. In addition, reference is made to relevant national planning policy and other policies that guide the decision-making process and which are material to the determination of the application.
	48.	For the purposes of this application, the statutory development plan comprises the following:
	National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (NPPF)
	49.	The following paragraphs are relevant to this proposal:
	National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) (NPPW)
	50.	The following paragraphs are relevant to the proposal:
	National Waste Planning Practice Guidance (NWPPG)
	51.	The following paragraphs are relevant to the proposal:
	52.	The following policies are relevant to the proposal:
	53.	The following policies are relevant to the proposal:
	Hart Local Plan (Replacement) 1996-2006 Saved Policies (2020)
	54.	The following policies are relevant to the proposal:
		GEN1 (General policy for development; and
		GEN2 (Policy for noisy/un-neighbourly developments).
	Crondall Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan (2021)
	55.	The following policies are relevant to the proposal:
		Policy 3 (Good Design); and
		Policy 4 (Crondall/Mill Lane Gap).
	Consultations
	56.	County Councillor Glen: Has objection to the proposal and has requested it be considered by the Regulatory Committee.
	57.	Hart District Council - Planning:  No objection based on small scale of the operation and it being unlikely to have strategic implications for Hart District Council.  Identified potential impacts that the MWPA should consider in in determining the application noting visual impact, ecology/biodiversity, trees, drainage/flooding, noise/dust pollution, and traffic generation.
	Clarification was received confirming that HDC did not consider the site to be PDL as no planning application had been received and the subject site does not have a Lawful Development Certificate (LDC).  They concluded that the lawfulness of the use of the land as ‘operational yard’ has not been established in planning terms and therefore for the purpose of the development that HCC is considering that part of the site, as it stands, cannot be considered as a lawful PDL.
	58.	Hart District Council - Ecology – Noted the presence of the SINC which was not initially identified in the submitted Ecology Assessment (this was corrected in a revised Ecological Assessment.  Also noted the use of the concrete wall as mitigation to prevent impact to the woodland but stated their preference would be for a buffer strip to separate the operation from the woodland.  Regarding the concrete containment wall, suggested consideration given to a return to the wall in the at the north of the site to ensure materials are contained. Suggested action to remediate the rubbish materials located in drainage ditches surrounding the site.  Suggested additional ecology enhancements could include management of any woodland under control of the applicant.
	59.	Hart District Council Landscape – Provided comments on the landscaping bund that runs parallel to the bund on the west edge of the access driveway.  (The bund and associated planting is outside of the subject site and was given planning permission by Hart District Council (20/01838/FUL) - this includes an approved planting scheme.  Comments received in response to the subject application suggested an alternative planting scheme with a hedgerow replacing the trees.  Stated a planting and management scheme should be required as a condition.
	60.	Hart District Council Environmental Health Officer (EHO): Has no objection.
	Reviewed three versions of Environmental Noise Survey and Plant Noise Assessment Report.  Following a clarification request from MWPA in response to concerns raised by the public and Crondall Parish Council on noise concerns, the EHO requested the applicant provide two further revisions of the noise assessment.   Second version was requested to use a more appropriate methodology (BS 4142:2014 + A1:2019) versus the standard in the national Planning Policy Guidance on Minerals.  Third and final version was requested to improve background noise assessment at the three properties most impacted properties (Hurst House, Bowenhurst Cottages, and Willow House), assess the combined impact of all plant running simultaneously as a worst case scenario, confirm that the plant was crushing concrete at the time of measurement, and to consider acoustic corrections as required by the measurement standard.
	Noted that the impact as Willow House and Bowenhurst Cottages is expected to be ‘Low Impact’ in line with the measurement standard.  While the levels at Hurst House, as the premise is in the applicant’s own demise they would have control over noise levels if it was a disturbance to themselves.
	Supported the proposed time restrictions proposed by the application and noted no external lighting was proposed.
	Referenced the Dust Emissions Management System, Environmental Management System, and Noise & Vibration Emissions Management System documents submitted with the application and the Environmental Permit to which they were related.  They had no comment on these documents based on the stipulations of NPPF Paragraph 188 (i.e. if site operations are subject to separate pollution control regimes, planning decisions should assume these regimes will operate effectively.
	61.	Crondall Parish Council: Has objection. Considers the negative impacts outweigh the proposed benefits for multiple reasons
		Planning permission 14/03075/FUL had lapsed meaning any development of the subject site was unlawful.  The subject site should not be considered previously developed land.  Referenced Policy 5 (Development in the Countryside) would not support development on a ‘greenfield’ location.  Disagreed with HDC conclusion that it was previously developed land associated with the existing landscape business.
		The proposed development is located in the Crondall Gap (Policy 4 of the adopted Crondall Neighbourhood Plan) which aims to retain separation between Mill Lane and Crondall.
		Being contrary to Policies 25 and 29 of HMWP (2013) in terms of location of the subject site and lack of ‘special need’ for the use of the location.
		Unsafe highway access onto the A287 and errors in the analysis supporting the Transport Statement.
		Unacceptable impacts on noise and dust.  In particular stated there were deficiencies in the noise assessment.  Also noted lack of assessment of particulates generated by the operation of the development.
		There would be ecological impact to surrounding ditches and woodland from the development and the proposed mitigation was insufficient.
		Although the development is ‘hidden’ from view it would have an urbanising effect on the landscape due to the 24 HGV movements per day.
		Numerous public representations opposing the development.
	62.	Environment Agency: Has no objection.  Noted the proposal would not have a significant impact on ground water quality.
	63.	Farnborough Airport: No objection
	64.	Blackbushe Airport: Was Notified
	65.	Defence Infrastructure Organisation:  No objection.
	66.	Local Highway Authority: Has no objection subject to a condition that ensure vehicles leaving the site do not deposit mud or other dirt or debris on the road.  Noted that the accident information submitted in the transport statement showed there were no accidents at the intersection of Bowling Alley with the A287.  The swept path analysis demonstrated the access onto Bowling Alley was adequate.  The highway network was able to accommodate the additional traffic generated.  The application stated all traffic will turn right into the site and right out of the site (and so not travel along the longer stretch of Bowling Alley to ward Crondall)
	67.	Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA): Has no comments to make.  Noted that the change of use would not change the surface water management or flood risk.
	68.	Landscape Planning and Heritage (Landscape) (Hampshire County Council): Has no objection subject to conditions.  Noted the site currently only has a semi-enclosed character as the hedgerows alongside the adjacent lane and road are not thick and have gaps which allows views into the site for properties on Mill Lane, on Farnham Road (A287) and Bowling Alley.  The planting along the bund is key to screening site views from the footpath.
	The proposed 5 m stockpiles with allowance to use a 360 excavator on top of them was considered too intrusive.  The existing earth bund constructed as part of planning permission 20/01838/FUL have not been seeded as proposed under that planning and ruderals are beginning to colonise.
	Recommended conditions be added to address the above issues:
		Infill planting along the field boundary hedgerows on Farnham Lane (A287) and Bowling Alley;
		the netting should be dark coloured (black, dark green or dark brown);
		stockpiles maximum of 4m above ground level be required, together with machinery being required to work below the level of screening bunds;
		Thorough preparation of the bund and ongoing maintenance to remove ruderals;
		Initial planting should be maintained for a period of 5 years post implementation and any plant failures in each and every year of that period, should be replaced in the next planting season.
	69.	Landscape Planning and Heritage (Archaeology) (Hampshire County Council): No archaeological issues as no sites currently recorded in the location and the existing development of the land will have compromised any archaeological potential.
	70.	Arboriculture (Hampshire County Council): No objection subject to conditions.  Noted that no trees would be lost as part of the proposed development and that trees provided along the bund would be welcomed. Recommended a condition requiring submission of a Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Method Statement.
	71.	County Ecologist (Hampshire County Council): No objection subject to conditions.  Requested additional details be added to the submitted Ecological Assessment to address concerns over the lack of habitats assessed, the proximity of the aggregate bins and wall to the SINC, proposed protective fencing and ability to mitigate dust impacts, surface water drainage and release of silt into ditches which drain to ancient woodland.
	Following submission of an updated Ecological Impact Assessment the County Ecologist was satisfied that it assesses the impacts on the ancient woodland habitat.  Also noted that the additional planting associated with the bund and bird/bat boxes provided further biodiversity compensation and enhancement.  Were satisfied that pollutant impacts including from dust could be mitigated with the construction of the wall, netting and dust monitoring.  Waste removal from the drainage ditches was also picked up on.  The planted bund offered opportunities for wildlife connectivity.
	Recommended condition stating development is undertaken according to the measures set out in the Ecological Impact Assessment, approved planting of the bund per the planting plan approved under 20/01838/FUL, and the Dust Management Scheme.

	Representations
	72.	Hampshire County Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2017) (SCI) sets out the adopted consultation and publicity procedures associated with determining planning applications.
	73.	In complying with the requirements of the SCI, Hampshire County Council:
		Published a notice of the application in the Hampshire Independent;
		Placed notices of the application at the application site and local area;
		Consulted all statutory and non-statutory consultees in accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015; and
		Notified by letter all residential properties within 100 metres of the boundary of the site and some additional properties further than 100m.
	74.	As of 8 November 2022, a total of 68 representations (from 46 respondents) to the proposal have been received - all objected to the proposal. The main areas of concern raised in the objections related to the following areas:
		conflict with ‘Crondall Gap’ in Neighbourhood Plan;
		site’s status as Previously Developed Land;
		previous use of land not of same scale as current proposal;
		impact of the site and its activities on the rural location;
		residential (noise, air quality, dust, health) and visual amenity and landscape impact including proposed wall and netting;
		surface water/flooding impacts;
		impact on wildlife/designate sites;
		arboriculture impacts;
		Impact on historic setting;
		hazardous nature of waste;
		pollution, odour, and emissions associated with the development;
		surrounding highways/local roads not suitable for additional HGV movements including junction of A287 and Bowling Alley;
		associated HGVs parking inappropriately at nearby petrol station;
		debris left by HGVs on roads;
		the development is out of character in the rural area and should be located in an industrial, not a rural location;
		lack of demonstrated need for the development in the area;
		lack of public consultation;
		location of similar operation nearby (1-2 miles away);
		inaccurate information submitted as part of the planning application (e.g. noise assessment, location of the nearest property, number of lorry movements); and
		retrospective nature of the planning application.
	75.	The above issues will be addressed within the following commentary, (except where identified as not being relevant to the decision).
	76.	The Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017 (otherwise known as the ‘Habitats Regulations’) transpose European Directives into UK law.
	77.	In accordance with the Habitats Regulations, Hampshire County Council (as a ‘competent authority’) must undertake a formal assessment of the implications of any new projects we may be granting planning permission for e.g. proposals that may be capable of affecting the qualifying interest features of the following European designated sites:
		Special Protection Areas [SPAs];
		Special Areas of Conservation [SACs]; and
		RAMSARs.
	78.	Collectively this assessment is described as ‘Habitats Regulations Assessment’ [HRA]. The HRA will need to be carried out unless the project is wholly connected with or necessary to the conservation management of such sites’ qualifying features.
	79.	It is acknowledged that the proposed development includes environmental mitigation essential for the delivery of the proposed development regardless of any effect they may have on impacts on European designated sites.
	80.	The HRA screening hereby carried out by the MWPA considers the proposed development to have no likely significant effect on the identified European designated sites due to:
		The site is not located at a distance to be considered to have proximity to directly impact on the European designated sites;
		The site is not considered to have any functional impact pathways connecting the proposed works with any European designated sites; and
		The proposal does not have any significant increase on any adverse impacts the wider site may have.
	81.	Hampshire County Council declared a Climate Emergency on 17 June 2019. Two targets have been set for the County Council, and these also apply to Hampshire as a whole. These are to be carbon neutral by 2050 and preparing to be resilient to the impacts of temperature rise. A Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan has since been adopted by the Council. The Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan do not form part of the Development Plan so are not material to decision making. However, it is true to say that many of the principles of the Strategy and Action Plan may be of relevance to the proposal due to the nature of the development. Where these principles are of relevance, they are addressed in the relevant parts of the Commentary section.
	82.	This proposed development has been subject to consideration of Policy 2 (Climate change – mitigation and adoption) of the HMWP (2013). The Planning Statement briefly addresses climate change.  It references the proposed development’s potential to contribute to the use of recycled and secondary aggregates, and the potential for the relatively local market served by the proposed development to result in reduced transportation emissions.  While this may have some weight, no empirical evidence has been provided to support these assertions compared to the waste travelling to existing sites. However, there is also nothing to suggest that the movement to, and recycling of, CDE waste to the proposed site would increase Greenhouse Gases. The proposed site is not in a location vulnerable to climate change and flood risk.
	83.	Overall, the proposal is considered to be consistent with Policy 2 (Climate change – mitigation and adoption) of the HMWP (2013).

	Commentary
	Principle of the development
	84.	In order for the proposed development to be considered for approval, the principle of a waste recycling facility on this site needs to be established. The proposal needs to be considered against national policy and guidance and must be in accordance with the policies of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013) (HMWP) (2013).
	85.	The need for effective waste management development is recognised in various policies of the HMWP (2013). Policies 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and source), 18 (Recycled and secondary aggregates development), 25 (Sustainable Waste Management) and 27 (Capacity for waste management development) support development of new inert waste recycling facilities in principle, in order to provide contribution to recycled and secondary aggregate targets, divert waste from landfill and encourage waste to be managed at the highest achievable level in the waste hierarchy. This principle is in accordance with paragraph 1 of the NPPW (2014). Policy 30 (Construction, demolition and excavation waste development) of the HMWP (2013) also supports development which will maximise the recovery of construction, demolition and excavation waste to help to meet the targets within the policy.
	86.	The proposal would contribute to providing additional infrastructure to maximise the availability of recycled material.  It would contribute to the use of crushed waste concrete as a secondary aggregate, process excavated waste soils to provide a beneficial product for local markets, and keep the material from being sent to landfill.
	87.	As described above the proposed development is a relocation of an operation that was allowed temporary permission to operate at a site (Peacocks Nursery) 1.8 km east along the A287, between the subject site and Ewshot.  As the operation is the same and proposed location is in relatively close proximity to the Peacock Nursery location, it is relevant to review the Inspector’s Decision for the previous location to understand which policies were problematic the proposed development.  The Inspector’s Report highlights that the operation did not meet Policy 29 – this will be further discussed in Location of development.  The need for the proposal and the operation in the countryside (Policy 5) was also examined and this is discussed under Development in the Countryside.
	88.	Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) of the HMWP (2013) states that a waste development that accords with the policies of the Plan will be approved. Whether the proposal is considered to be a sustainable waste development, in accordance with Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) of the HMWP (2013), will be considered in the remaining sections of this commentary.
	Location of development
	89.	Policy 29 (Locations and sites for waste management) of the HMWP (2013) provides the framework for the location of new waste sites in Hampshire. Part 1 of the policy states that ‘Development to provide recycling, recovery and/ or treatment of waste will be supported on suitable sites in the following locations:
	i. Urban areas in north-east and south Hampshire;
	ii. Areas along the strategic road corridors; and
	iii. Areas of major new or planned development.
	90.	The application site is not within the urban area of north-east Hampshire nor within the strategic road corridor as identified in Figure 6 – Key Diagram of the HMWP (2013). On the basis the site doesn’t meet Part 1, Part 2 does not apply.
	91.	It is therefore necessary for the applicant to demonstrate that the proposed development is in accordance with Part 3 of the Policy 29. This has two requirements that must both be met. Part 3 of Policy 29 states that ‘development in other locations will be supported where it is demonstrated that;
	a. the site has good transport connections to sources of and/or markets for the type of waste being managed; and
	b. a special need for that location and the suitability of the site can be justified.’
	92.	Part 3 (a) of the criteria is linked to Policy 25 (Sustainable waste development) of the HMWP (2013) which also says that waste management should be located near to the sources of waste or markets for its use.  The previous Inspector’s Decision notes that the policy does not specify distance requirements although the supporting text states an aim of reducing long-distance transport. Regarding the Peacocks Nursery location, the Inspector noted that site was reasonably close to urban areas including Farnham, Aldershot, and Fleet.   The Inspector’s Decision also highlights that the material being transported was of relatively low value and it is unlikely to be cost-effective to transport it long distances.
	93.	The above assumption is noted and is considered to be of relevance to this proposal. For this current application the applicant has submitted a client list which also shows a number of serviced locations - this supports the Inspector’s conclusion on this point.  Highlighting its central location to the sites serviced locations around Odiham, Alton and Basingstoke are also listed. This provides evidence that the site is meeting a local market need. The proposed site continues to meet this locational local requirement.
	94.	Furthermore in relation to Part 3 (a) of Policy 29, whilst the site is outside of the Strategic Road Corridor (identified on the HMWP (2013)’s Key Diagram), the site is located on the A287 which is a good quality A class road with direct access to the M3 and A31(both Strategic Road corridors). Importantly, the site has good proximity the service locations identified above.  The Local Highway Authority raises no objection to the application on the grounds of highway safety as noted in Highways Impact.   It is therefore considered that the proposal meets Part 3 (a) of Policy 29.
	95.	Part 3 (b) of Policy 29 has an emphasis on ‘special need’.  Again, it is important to understand how the previous Inspector viewed the Peacock Nursery operation in terms of the materials it is processing.  The Inspector found that the operation did not meet the threshold of ‘special need’. Paragraph 7 of the NPPW states that it is not necessary for a for a proposed waste management facility to demonstrate a quantitative or market need if it is consistent with an up-to-date Local Plan – in the case of the proposed development, it is considered that this evidence would be required.  There is no evidence to amend the Inspector’s previous conclusion that there is no ’special need’ for the proposed development.  More discussion on local need is also set out in Development in the Countryside and the proposal is considered to demonstrate a local need in this context.
	96.	Taking all matters into account, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the locational requirements of Policy 25 (Sustainable waste management). The proposal is also considered to meet Part 3 (a) of Policy 29. However,  the proposal is not considered to fully meet Part 3 (b). Therefore, the proposal cannot be considered to be fully accordance with the provisions of Policy 29 (Locations and sites for waste management) of the HMWP (2013). The impact this has on the wider balance will be covered in the remaining sections of this commentary.
	Development in the countryside
	97.	Policy 5 (Protection of the countryside) of the HMWP (2013) states that minerals and waste development in the open countryside, outside the National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, will not be permitted unless it is a time-limited mineral extraction or related development; or the nature of the development is related to countryside activities, meets local needs or requires a countryside or isolated location; or the development provides a suitable reuse of previously developed land, including redundant farm or forestry buildings and their curtilages or hard standings. The policy also includes an expectation that the highest standards of design, operation and restoration will be met and there will be a requirement that it is restored in the event it is no longer required for minerals and waste use.
	98.	Policy NBE1 (Development in the Countryside), Part J of HLP (2020) states that development proposals will be supported within the countryside (the area outside settlement policy boundaries) if it located on suitable previously developed land appropriate for the proposed use.  The status of the site in terms of PDL is discussed below. In addition, Policy ED3 (Rural Economy), Part (c) of the policy states that to support the rural economy, development proposals for economic uses in the countryside will be supported where they enable the continuing sustainability or expansion of a business or enterprise at scale.  It goes on to state all development proposals must be of a use that is appropriate to the site and location, and that landscape, heritage and environment, residential amenity, site access and highway must be considered.  Supporting text for this policy (Paragraph 188) acknowledges that existing businesses may need to re-locate and they can provide employment and services in rural areas.  The supporting text also makes reference to PDL redevelopment being encouraged (Paragraph 190) but not specifically a requirement for re-locations.
	99.	When reviewing the proposal against Policy 5 (Protection of the countryside) of the HMWP (2013), the proposed development has the potential to meet either the local need requirement, or, based on the applicant’s planning statement, that is located on PDL.
	a)	Local need:
	100.	To better understand what is meant by ‘local need’ in the context Policy 5 the supporting text can be referenced.  Paragraph 4.37 of the HMWP (2013) states  that ‘some waste uses, such as large scale facilities requiring an open site are difficult to accommodate in urban areas’.  Waste uses … that are not specifically linked to the natural occurrence of a mineral should be located in urban areas’.  Paragraph 4.38 goes onto say that ‘appropriately managed …waste development is important to support employment and provision of services in rural areas’.
	101.	The applicant has submitted details of their client list showing the locations that the business serves on behalf of their client list. As the applicant considers this is sensitive information, a redacted version has been made available (see Additional Information from the Applicant - Client List (28 July 2022)). The locations are primarily located within a 20 mile radius of the subject site and concentrates on areas around Fleet, Farnham, Odiham, and Aldershot, with some additional locations around Alton and Basingstoke.   It is also relevant to consider the Planning Inspector comments on the nature of the operation at its previous location at Peacocks Nursery, which was 1.8km east along A287 of the subject site.
	102.	As the Planning Inspector discussion on ‘need for the development’ (Paragraph 7) Inspector notes, Policy 5, Part b), supports development in the countryside where there is a ‘local need’.  The consistency with Part (b) of Policy 5 could be weakened by the presence of other similar recycling sites in the wider area (e.g. Beacon Hill) despite the applicant not having access to these sites.  However, in Paragraph 8, the Inspector recognised that there are other facilities in the vicinity that provide similar recycling facilities (e.g. Beacon Hill) but then states ‘the need for such developments carries moderate weight in the appellant’s favour’.
	103.	Later under Paragraph 25 of the decision, ‘The Planning Balance and Overall Conclusion’ of the Appeal decision the Inspector found that the development ‘is consistent with promoting a rural business and would also help serve local markets for soils and other products from inert waste’.
	104.	Based on above and the additional information submitted showing the local market locations served by the applicant, there is no evidence to suggest the Inspectors conclusion wouldn’t continue to apply to the proposed subject development in the proposed subject site.  A local need has therefore been demonstrated in this context.
	b)	Previously Developed Land (PDL):
	105.	Crondall Parish Council and local representations have questioned the previous development status of subject site based on the previous planning permission for redevelopment of the site lapsing prior to implementation of the permission.
	106.	PDL is defined in the NPPF (2021) Annex 2 as:
	‘land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where provision for restoration has been made through development control procedures; land in built-up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape in the process of time.’
	107.	The applicant has asserted that based on their previous correspondence and reports by Hart District Council (HDC) (particularly Officer Report for the previously granted planning permission) the subject site has been recognised as Previously Developed Land. However, as described under Consultation Responses, HDC have now clarified the development status of the site.
	108.	The Minerals and Waste Planning Authority requested additional information from HDC regarding development status of the subject site as described in planning application 14/03075/FUL, noting that the Officers report for that planning application identified the subject site as an ‘operational yard’ associated with the landscape business.  HDC’s initial response indicated that although there was no planning application for a change of use from agricultural to the operational, the reference to its use inadvertently established the land as Previously Development Land as art of the garden/landscape business when the planning permission was granted.
	109.	However, the latest HDC response clarifies that in light of the planning history of the subject site, they do not consider it to be PDL. The Minerals and Waste Planning Authority has accepted District Council’s position on this given the ambiguity of how the subject site is described within the context of the wider site in the Officer Reports for previous HDC planning applications.
	110.	As described elsewhere in this report, the design of the proposed development is found to be consistent with other relevant polices related to the design and operation.
	111.	Crondall Parish Council and local representations have raised the issue of the location of the development in ’the Crondall Gap’.  The Crondall Gap is a Local Gap area defined under Policy 4 of the Crondall Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan (CPCNP) (2021).  The policy states that development proposals within the Local Gap should not result in coalescence or harm the separate identities of Crondall and Mill Lane.  This is also supported by Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020) which states it does not lead to the physical or visual coalescence of settlements, or damage their separate identity. Taking into account the woodland, agricultural fields, and Bowling Alley highway immediately surrounding the site and the previous development of the subject site, the proposed development is considered to be a discrete, well screened development and would not risk contributing to a coalescence of Mill Lane and Crondall.
	112.	Regarding the previous Peacocks Nursery application, it was found by the Inspector that site was not PDL but the appeal was still allowed (though the Inspector did account for the temporary nature of the applicant’s proposal had in that decision).  The appeal documents describe how the applicant was going to have to relocate from the Peacock Nursery location as the landowner had other development ideas for the site.
	113.	The proposed site has limited capacity to expand in the future as the restored quarry/landfill to the west is not considered Previously Developed Land per the NPPF definition of PDL, and surrounding woodland further constrains future expansion.
	c) Design and restoration
	114.	The design of the development is addressed in more detail below in terms of visual (see
	114.	The design of the development is addressed in more detail below in terms of visual (see
	116.	Restoration is a requirement of Policy 5 (Development in the Countryside). To ensure restoration of the site when the proposed use ceases, a condition has been recommended requiring a restoration scheme to be approved and ultimately restoration back to agriculture use implemented.  This is included in Appendix A.
	117.	Taking all matters into account, whilst it is acknowledged that the subject site is considered countryside,  the development has been found to meet the requirements of Policy 5, Part b, by demonstrating a local need for the relatively small scale operation. The District Council’s position that the land is not considered to be PDL is accepted despite it previously being identified as an ‘operational yard’ in district council planning documents. The proposed site would utilise a relatively small area which is disconnected from Crondall and Mill Lane and is bound by woodland, a larger area of agricultural land which is not considered PDL, and the existing structures for the landscaping business which does benefit from Planning Permission. Taking all matters into account, with the proposed mitigation and planning conditions,  the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy 5 (Protection of the Countryside) of the HMWP (2013), Policies NBE2 (Landscape) and ED3 (Rural Economy) of HLP (2020), and Policy 4 (Crondall/Mill Lane Local Gap) of (CPCNP) (2021). However, the proposal is not considered to be in accordance with Policy NBE1 (Development in the Countryside) of HLP (2020).
	Visual impact and landscape
	118.	Policy 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) of the HMWP (2013) requires that minerals waste development should not cause an unacceptable adverse visual impact and should maintain and enhance the distinctive character of the landscape. The design should be appropriate and should be of high-quality and contribute to sustainable development. This reinforces the requirement of Policy 5 (Protection of the countryside) of the HMWP (2013) for highest-quality design. In addition, Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP (2013) protects residents from unacceptable adverse visual impact.
	119.	Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020) also identifies how development proposals must respect and wherever possible enhance the special characteristics, value or visual amenity of the District’s landscapes. It states proposals will be supported where there will be no adverse impact to identified landscape character, visual amenity and scenic impact, trees, woodlands, hedgerows, e.g. rivers and other landscape.
	120.	A Landscape Statement has been submitted with application which includes photos of the subject site from various public viewpoints including the Public Rights of Way (PROW) to the west of the site and the A287.
	121.	As described above, a bund already exists alongside the access road and while outside the redline area for this application benefits from an earlier planning permission from Hart District Council (see Planning History).  This bund is within on land under control of the applicant and as a result can be subject to conditions under this current planning application.  The approved bund planning permission included a number of conditions including that required a planting and maintenance scheme to be submitted to Hart District Council for their approval.  This condition has since been discharged (20/01838/CON) and the approved planting scheme is submitted as part of the current planning application.
	122.	The County Landscape Architect has reviewed the proposal and has no objection subject to conditions.  The applicant has proposed a condition that limits stockpile heights to 5m and allowance to operate 360⁰ excavator on top.  As demonstrated from photos submitted as part of public representations and in the Landscape Statement, this stockpile height will remain visible above the landscape bund and is considered too intrusive. This is likely to change as the proposed vegetation becomes more established. The addition of the concrete wall was considered acceptable although the additional 4m high dust netting would benefit from being a dark colour to blend with the surrounding woodland. The existing earth bunds constructed as part of planning permission 20/01838/FUL have not been seeded as proposed under that planning permission and ruderals are beginning to colonise.  For the visual impact of the proposed development to be considered acceptable the planning permission for the bund must be implemented in full and reference to the implementation and maintenance of the bund will be necessary.  To further block views of the site from the A287 and Bowling Alley reinforcement of the existing hedgerow will also be necessary. Conditions have been recommended to address the above issues and are set out in Appendix A.  The proposed conditions also include the restriction of certain permitted development rights – this is justified on the basis of taller structures on the site potentially being visible above proposed screening.
	123.	On the basis of the proposed mitigation and planning conditions, the proposal is in accordance with Policies 13 ((High-quality design of minerals and waste development), 5 (Protection of the Countryside), and 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of HMWP (2013), and Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020).
	Arboriculture
	124.	Arboricultural matters are addressed under a number of policies in the HMWP (2013). Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) covers ecological impacts while Policies 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) address visual impacts respectively with trees and hedgerows being key elements.
	125.	Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020) also requires there to be no adverse impact on trees, woodlands and hedgerows.
	126.	In addition to the Landscape Statement, an Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted which assess the benefits and impact of the installation of the proposed 2m concrete fencing.  The assessment describes how the fencing will prevent materials encroaching toward the woodland areas and that it can be erected with a stand-off between the trees to ensure the roots.  The Ecological Impact Assessment and submitted plans describe how fine mesh netting to an additional height of 4m will be installed to prevent dust from the site impacting the woodland.  A dust monitoring procedure is also included as part of the submitted Dust Emissions Management Procedure that was included in the application for the site Environmental Permit.
	127.	Crondall Parish Council and public representations raise concerns about the impact of the development on the surrounding woodland and these are noted.
	128.	The site is bounded by mature woodland on the east and south perimeter with woodland to the south a designated SINC.   A few trees on the edge of the woodland are on land under control of the applicant but the majority of the woodland is not.  The County Arboriculturist has reviewed the application and were satisfied that no trees would be lost as part of the development.  They had no objection subject to a condition being added that required submission of an Arboricultural Method Statement (including a Tree Protection Plan). This is included in Appendix A.
	129.	On the basis of the proposed mitigation and planning conditions, the proposal is in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) of the HMWP (2013), and Policy NBE2 (Landscape) of HLP (2020).
	Ecology
	130.	Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the HMWP (2013) sets out a requirement for minerals and waste development to not have a significant adverse effect on, and where possible, should enhance, restore or create designated or important habitats and species. The policy sets out a list of sites, habitats and species which will be protected in accordance with the level of their relative importance.  The policy states that development which is likely to have a significant adverse impact upon the identified sites, habitats and species will only be permitted where it is judged that the merits of the development outweigh any likely environmental damage. The policy also sets out a requirement for appropriate mitigation and compensation measures where development would cause harm to biodiversity interests.
	131.	Policy NBE4 (Biodiversity) of the HLP (2020) states that development will be permitted if it does not have an adverse impact on the integrity of designated sites including SINCS, it does not result in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitat including ancient woodland and ancient trees, and opportunities to protect and enhance biodiversity and contributions to wildlife and habitat connectivity are taken where possible.
	132.	An Ecological Impact Assessment was submitted with the initial application.  A revised version of this assessment was subsequently submitted in response to requests for additional information from the County Ecologist.  In terms of habitat creation, the implementation of the landscaping bund and associated planting along the access driveway along the west edge of the subject site is also relevant (covered by a separate Planning Permission from Hart District Council).  The applicant is also proposing to install bat boxes and bird boxes on trees within the wider site which is under their control.
	133.	The Ecological Impact Assessment includes a number of mitigation measures to address potential impacts to the site.  Silt escaping from the site would be prevented by the installation of the fencing and removal of existing drains and pipes connecting the site to the drainage ditches.  The fence and dust netting would prevent dust and invasive species impacting the surrounding woodland.  The fencing is located away from the surrounding woodland.
	134.	Crondall Parish Council and public representations raise concerns about the impact of the development on the surrounding habitat including the woodland and drainages and these concerns are noted.
	135.	The County Ecologist is satisfied that collectively the mitigation measures identified in the Ecological Assessment, the implementation of the Dust Management, addressed potential impacts to the adjacent habitat.  They also noted the biodiversity benefits resulting from the additional planting along the bund, and bird and bat boxes.   Conditions have been recommended that ensure implementation of the above mitigation and enhancements and are set out in Appendix A.  Since the netting fencing and netting is a key part of the mitigation it is important to ensure it is maintained for the duration of the development and the condition reflects this. This is also set out in Appendix A.
	136.	The Hart District Council Ecologist also provided a response to the consultation noting key issues of remediating any rubbish that had been deposited in the drainage ditch. Conditions to this effect are set out in Appendix A. They also recommended an additional return be added to the concrete wall in the northwest corner of the subject site to ensure full containment of materials. The applicant has submitted updated plans to address this issue.
	137.	On the basis of the proposed mitigation and planning conditions, the proposal is in accordance with Policy 3 (Protection of habitats and species) of the HMWP (2013), and Policy NBE4 (Biodiversity) of the HLP (2020).
	Impact on amenity and health
	138.	Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP (2013) requires that any development should not cause adverse public health and safety impacts, and unacceptable adverse amenity impacts. Also, any proposal should not cause an unacceptable cumulative impact arising from the interactions between waste developments and other forms of development.
	139.	Policy NBE11 (Pollution) of the HLP (2020) says that development will be supported provided it does not give result in unacceptable levels of pollution and that any adverse impacts can be mitigated for or minimised to an acceptable level.   Proposals that may give rise to pollution must be accompanied by an assessment examining risks and possible impacts. Regarding noise it notes that developments that give rise to significant adverse effects will not be supported.  Dust is addressed under the policy in the context of construction and demolition stages of a development which are more temporary in nature than the proposed operation but does refer to the need for adequate controls and so recognises that controls can be put up place.
	140.	The proposed development has potential to create noise and/or dust impacts in particular. Crondall Parish Council and many of the public representations raise pollution in particular noise, air quality (including dust), and water.  Complaints about noise from the site have been raised to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority since the submission of the planning application. These concerns are noted.
	141.	Paragraph 5.15 of the HMWP (2013) states that a 100m buffer from inert waste recycling facilities to nearest sensitive receptor is typical tough this distance is reviewed on a case by case basis.  Hurst House is only 75m from the subject site boundary but is under ownership of the operator.  The next nearest sensitive receptor is Willow House (160m to the East) of the subject site.
	a)	Emissions to the atmosphere (air quality):
	142.	Crondall Parish Council and public representations raised concerns that a full air quality assessment was not submitted with the planning application.  The Hampshire County Council Validation Checklist does require Air Quality Impact Assessments to be submitted for any planning applications which are likely to have an impact on air quality through dust fumes or significant traffic movements.  The application did include the Dust Management Report that was approved as part of the Environmental Permit.  The development is not considered to generate significant traffic movements and based on the approval of the Environmental Permit (and associated management plans), and air quality not being a concern of the EHO, an Air Quality Impact Assessment has not been requested.
	143.	Other than the potential for dust emissions from the site, other air quality pollutants are not an issue from operations such as the one proposed.
	b)	Noise and vibration:
	144.	Crondall Parish Council and public representations raised concerns about the noise produced by the proposed development.  In response to questions from Crondall Parish Council and public representations, regarding the noise assessment with the application, a revised Noise Assessment was requested using an alternative methodology to quantify the noise impact of the proposed development at the nearest sensitive receptors.
	145.	In response the applicant submitted a revised Environmental Noise Survey and Plant Noise Assessment Report which the Environmental Health Officer requested further revisions and clarifications to including the combined ‘worst case scenario of expected noise with all plant operating simultaneously.  The methodology used (BS 4142:2014 + A1:2019) compares the noise levels expected by the various plant on the site with the measured or calculated background levels at the receptors. The greater the difference between the generated noise and the background level, the greater the impact.  The standard identifies the impact under three general levels –
		significant adverse’ (10 dBA or more above background);
		‘adverse’ (around 5dBA above background); and
		‘low’ (below the background level).
	146.	The nearest receptor is Hurst House (75m from site) which is the residence of the operator – the report states the expected noise level from the loudest scenario, with all plant equipment operating and HGVs operating, to be 2dBA above the measured background.  This includes ‘penalty’ feature correction added to the calculated noise to account for the distinctive characteristics of the crusher and unloading of HGVs.  This would place it above the ‘low’ level but below the ‘adverse’ level.  Both Willow House and Bowenhurst Cottage were calculated to experience noise under the worst scenario that was at or below the measured background level.
	147.	The Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the assessment and has no objection to the development.
	148.	The Noise & Vibration Emissions Management System document submitted for the Environmental Permit was also submitted with the planning application.  The document identifies how the site operations should control impacts and also requires a daily noise monitoring regime.  Adherence to the noise management system is recommended as a condition in Appendix A. The requirement to only use the plant included in the Noise Assessment is also included to ensure the results of the submitted noise assessment remain applicable in the future although allowance is made for the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority to allow replacement commensurate plant once the noise and visual impact is considered. In addition, to prevent the ‘worst case scenario’ and provide some buffer in the actual noise versus calculated noise a restriction on the use of both the soil screener and crusher at the same time has also been recommended as a condition in Appendix A.
	149.	In addition, it is recommended that given the specific nature of the activities and uses addressed in the Noise Assessment that the proposed conditions include the restriction of certain permitted development rights to limit any further intensification of activities on site other than those considered from the application.
	150.	It is proposed that HGVs be allowed to enter and leave the site and for the site to operate between - 0700-1800 Mondays to Fridays. On Saturdays activities would be limited to loading or unloading of HGVs between 0800-1300. There would be no working on Sundays or on recognised Bank Holidays. A condition to this effect has been recommended in Appendix A.
	c)	Dust:
	151.	The site has an approved Environmental Permit which includes control and monitoring of dust impacts, and as described elsewhere, the fence/dust netting is satisfactory to prevent dust escaping from the site into adjacent woodland. The Dust Management Plan Report adequately assesses the impact of dust and proposes mitigation measures and a monitoring regime.
	152.	The wall and dust netting surrounding the subject site will need to be maintained and a condition to this effect has been recommended.
	d)	Lighting:
	153.	No artificial lighting is proposed as part of the development. A condition to reflect this has been recommended and set out in Appendix A.
	e)	Odour:
	154.	Inert waste recycling sites rarely emit any odours due the type of material being processed. To ensure no burning of materials occurs on the site a condition is recommended and set out in Appendix A.
	f)	Cumulative impacts:
	155.	Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP (2013) states that a proposal should not cause an unacceptable cumulative impact arising from the interactions between minerals and waste developments, and between mineral, waste and other forms of development. It also states that the potential cumulative impacts of minerals and waste development and the way they relate to existing developments must be addressed to an acceptable standard.
	156.	Some public representations referenced other recent developments in the Mill Lane area.  This is on the opposite site of the A287 and they are sufficiently distant from the subject site for the development not to result in cumulative impacts except for possibly traffic.
	157.	The potential cumulative impacts of the development on the highway were considered as noted elsewhere in this commentary section.
	158.	Overall, the proposal is in accordance with Policy 10 (Protection of public health, safety and amenity) in the HMWP (2013) in relation to cumulative impacts. In terms of pollution aspects of amenity and health, the proposal is accordance with Policy 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) of the HMWP (2013) and Policy NBE11 of the HLP (2020).
	Potential pollution associated with the development
	159.	National Planning Practice Guidance states that Planning Authorities should assume that other regulatory regimes will operate effectively rather than seek to control any processes, health and safety issues or emissions themselves where these are subject to approval under other regimes (Paragraph 050 Reference ID: 28-050-20141016). Planning and permitting decisions are separate but closely linked.  The Environment Agency has a role to play in both.
	160.	Planning permission determines if a development is an acceptable use of the land.  Permitting determines if an operation can be managed on an ongoing basis to prevent or minimise pollution.
	161.	The site already operates under an Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency (EA) which amongst other things considers the waste material being stored and the manner in which it is stored. The application includes a copy of the Environmental Permit, the latest site visit report from the Environment Agency, and a Dust Management System Report and  Environmental Management System Report both of which were submitted for the Environmental Permit application.
	162.	According to NPPG for Waste (Paragraph 51), the aim of the permit is to prevent pollution through the use of measures to prohibit or limit the release of substances to the environment to the lowest practicable level. It also ensures that ambient air and water quality meet standards that guard against impacts to the environment and human health.
	163.	The need for an Environmental Permit is separate to the need for planning permission. The granting of planning permission does not necessarily lead to the granting of an Environmental Permit. An application for an Environmental Permit includes an assessment of the environmental risk of the proposals including the risk under both normal and abnormal operating conditions. The Environment Agency assesses the application and the adequacy of the impact assessment including whether the control measures proposed by the operator are appropriate for mitigating the risks and their potential impact.
	164.	The scope of an Environmental Permit is defined by the activities set out in the Environmental Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 2016 (EPR).
	165.	The regulations define ‘pollution’ as:
	166.	The aim of the EPR regime is to protect the environment from potential impacts associated with certain liable facilities or installations. The permitted activities may form a part of, but not all, of the development needing planning permission. In these cases, the planning application will need to address environmental considerations from those parts of the development that are not covered by the permit.
	167.	The proposed facility is acceptable in terms of planning. Should a permit be granted for the operation, it will be monitored and enforced in the same manner as any other regulated site by the Environment Agency. Several mechanisms are put in place to monitor to ensure compliance such as audits, site visits, data analysis and compliance checks are carried out by the regulator.
	Flooding
	168.	Policy 11 (Flood risk and prevention) of the HMWP (2013) relates to minerals and waste development in flood risk areas and sets criteria which developments should be consistent with relating to flood risk offsite, flood protection, flood resilience and resistance measures, design of drainage, net surface water run-off and Sustainable Drainage Systems.
	169.	Policy NBE5 (Managing Flood Risk) of the HLP (2020) addresses developments and flooding.
	170.	A statement addressing flooding from the site has been included as part of the Planning Statement submitted with the application.  The development is located in Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk).  Per the Hampshire County Council planning application validation checklist, a Flood Risk Assessment is not required for developments under 1 hectare if located in Flood Zone 1.
	171.	The Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed the application and noted that the site has a permeable and the change of use would not change the surface water management or flood risk.
	172.	The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy 11 (Flood risk and prevention) of the HMWP (2013) and Policy NBE5 (Managing Flood Risk) of the HLP (2020).
	Highways impact
	173.	Policy 12 (Managing traffic) of the HMWP (2013) requires minerals and waste development to have a safe and suitable access to the highway network and where possible minimise the impact of its generated traffic through the use of alternative methods of transportation. It also requires highway improvements to mitigate any significant adverse effects on highway safety, pedestrian safety, highway capacity and environment and amenity.
	174.	Policy INF3 (Transport) of the HLP (2020) also addresses impacts of developments on the highway network.   Of relevance to the proposed development the policy states developments will be supported that do not have a severe impact on the operation, safety or accessibility of the local or strategic highway networks, that development should integrate into the existing movement network, and that impacts on the local or strategic road network should be mitigated.
	175.	Import and export of materials would occur by Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs).  The development will generate relatively modest levels of traffic with daily operations would result in 24 HGV movements with 4 HGVs being parked overnight.  There would be two operatives that require to park at the site along with HGV drivers parking their vehicles for the day. This would result in an additional 12 car movements.  HGV vehicles would turn left out of the site and right into the site from Bowling Alley and then proceed to the A287.
	176.	HGV movements into the site would be limited to the operating hours of the site - 0700-1800 Mondays to Fridays and Saturdays 0800-1300. There would be no working on Sundays or on recognised Bank Holidays. This is subject to a planning condition set out in Appendix A.
	177.	As this is a retrospective application, the site has been continuing to operate while the application is being determined.  Complaints from a member of the public have been received since the submission of the planning application about vehicles, including HGVs, entering the site outside of the hours informally agreed with the operator (which are the same as those proposed in this planning application).  The operator has confirmed that were responsible for some of these incidents which others were attributed to the landscape contractors that share the same access.
	178.	The earlier District Council Planning Permission allowing a redevelopment of the site  (14/03075/FUL) included the reconstruction of the bell mouth entrance of the access road onto Bowling Alley.  Although conditions were required to be discharged before any development of the site took place including the entrance, the bell mouth was reconstructed and was covered by a Section 278 Highways Legal Agreement.
	179.	A Transport Assessment has been submitted with the application which includes an analysis of the suitability of the entrance onto Bowling Alley for ingress and egress of HGVs, and accident analysis for the 110m section of Bowling Alley from the site access to the A287, and the junction of the A287 and Bowling Alley.
	180.	Crondall Parish Council and public representations raise concerns about the impact of the development on highway safety especially the junction of Bowling Alley and the A287, the suitability of Bowling Alley for regular HGV along the 110m stretch from the A287 to the site access, and concern HGVs could travel along the longer length of Bowling Alley toward Crondall. These concerns are noted.
	181.	The Local Highway Authority has no objection to the proposed development subject to conditions.  In terms of Highway Safety they noted that three accidents (two slight and one serious) had occurred in the study area but did not involve HGVs and were not at the junction of the A287 and Bowling Alley. Regarding the access onto Bowling Alley, it is noted that two HGVs could not pass one another at the site entrance but it is stated that the management and scheduling of operations at the site will not result in any simultaneous arrivals and departures at the site. The visibility splays onto Bowling Alley were considered adequate.  The Local Highways Authority is also satisfied that the trips generated by the proposed development can be accommodated on the local highway network.
	182.	On this basis, the proposal is in accordance with Policy 12 (Managing traffic) of the HMWP (2013) and Policy INF3 (Transport) of HLP (2020).
	Retrospective nature of the application
	183.	A number of public representations have raised the issue that the current application is retrospective.
	184.	Paragraph 3 of the ‘Enforcement and post-permission matters NPPG’ states there are a range of ways of tackling alleged breaches of planning control, and local planning authorities should act in a proportionate way.  Local Planning Authorities have discretion to take enforcement action when they regard it as expedient to do so, having regard to the development plan and any other material considerations. Paragraphs 12 and 13 of the states that Local Planning Authorities can invite retrospective applications when they consider it an appropriate way forward to regularise the situation.
	185.	The operator purchased the site in December 2019 and the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority was first made aware of the operation of the site in January 2020.  At that time the operator stated that they were under the impression that the previous planning history of the site and the nature of the business would allow it to operate on the land as an ancillary activity to the existing landscaping business.  Hampshire County Council informed Hart District Council about the Operator’s understanding about the existing planning permissions.
	186.	In August 2020, Hart District Council informed the operator that a new planning permission would be required.  The applicant chose to submit a planning application to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority.  Following preparation of the application and necessary and supporting assessments to be prepared the application was subsequently received in May 2021.  Since that time, consultees and the planning officer have requested additional information of the applicant as part of the planning determination process.
	187.	No complaints had been received by the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority prior to the request for the submission of the current planning application though some may have been received by HDC. Between this request and prior to the submission of the current application, 2 complaints were received relating to the hours of working. A further 4 complaints (not including any subsequent follow up correspondences) have been received following submission the application. All complaints have been received from one complainant. The nature of these complaints are noted in the relevant sections of the commentary.
	Community benefits
	188.	Paragraph 5.59 of the HMWP (2013) states that there is an expectation that all 'major' minerals and waste development will be accompanied by a site Liaison Panel. While the proposed waste development is relatively modest in scale in terms of land area, employees and quantity of material processed, given the public objections raised by both Crondall Parish Council and public representations the operation of a Liaison Panel would be beneficial so that any initial operational issues with the site can be addressed in an open manner.
	189.	Appendix A includes an informative on the establishment of a liaison panel for the site if permission were to be granted. The Panel should be setup between the site operator, Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, other interested parties and community representatives to facilitate effective engagement with stakeholders in the interests of promoting communication between the site operator and local community.
	Conclusions
	190.	The proposed development is a retrospective application for an inert waste recycling site processing construction, demolition and excavation waste (CDE) to sell as aggregate and soil.
	191.	The principle of the development is supported by Policies 17 (Aggregate supply – capacity and source), 18 (Recycled and secondary aggregates development), 25 (Sustainable Waste Management), 27 (Capacity for waste management development) and 30 (Construction, demolition and excavation waste development) of the HMWP (2013) in that the movement of waste materials up the waste hierarchy is encouraged to divert them from landfill, and recycling of CDE waste to produce beneficial aggregate products can provide an alternative to marine-won or land won sand and gravel for certain purposes.
	192.	It is considered that the proposal would not have adversely impact surround habitat and biodiversity including those in the designated SINC and Ancient Woodland (Policy 3).  The proposal would also be appropriate in terms of visual impact and landscape in the countryside setting (Policies 5, 10, and 13).  The fencing and netting is judged to be appropriate for the setting subject to conditions on colours and the site will benefit from a screening bund and additional planting.  With conditions to provide reinforcement of the nearby hedgerows and implementation of the separate HDC planning permission regarding planting along the bund will visually screen the operation.  Limits on the height of stockpiles and restriction on the working height of vehicles will further help keep the proposed development out of sight in particular from the nearby PROW and public highway.
	193.	The proposed development already has an Environmental Permit for processing of waste and the Assessments submitted demonstrate that any pollution impacts from dust or site drainage can be adequately mitigated. Regarding noise, the nearest residential receptor is the residence of the operator and would experience between low and adverse noise effects. At other sensitive receptors beyond that noise impacts have also been demonstrated to be at or below background levels.  The operation is not expected to result in adverse public health and safety impacts and no unacceptable amenity impacts (Policy 10).
	194.	The development will not impact the existing flood risk or drainage (Policy 11).
	195.	The existing access is adequate for the proposed vehicles type and numbers, the existing highways network will be able to accommodate the additional traffic, and the highway safety at the Bowling Alley/A287 junction will not be exacerbated by the proposal (Policy 12).
	196.	While it is now confirmed by Hart District Council that the site is not Previously Developed Land (PDL), the applicant has demonstrated that there is a local need for the operation which supports the location of the development in the countryside (Policy 5).  However, the site does not demonstrate it meets a ‘special need’ (Policy 29).
	197.	Paragraph 3.5 of the HMWP (2013) describes how, in making a planning decision judgement should be used in the weight given to the various elements of the plan and other material considerations when concluding whether the balance of evidence shows the development to be sustainable and should be granted planning permission.
	198.	While planning applications should be assessed on their own merits, consideration has also been given to the Planning Inspector’s Decision for an appeal for the same operation at a location 1.8km east along the A287 (Peacocks Nursery).  Particularly relevant, are conclusions on the principle of the proposed development and the benefits provided which included serving a local market for soils and products from inert waste. The Inspector noted ‘the need for such development carries moderate weight in the appellant’s favour’. In that instance, the appeal was allowed despite not being found to be in accordance with Policy 29 of the HMWP (2013) and the site not being Previously Developed Land. It is unclear the level of weight the Inspector placed on the temporary duration of the proposal although they referenced that their decision accounted for the temporary nature of the development.
	199.	Taking all matters into account, on balance, the proposal is considered to be an acceptable development and be sustainable in accordance with Policy 1 (Sustainable minerals and waste development) of the HMWP (2013). It is therefore recommended that permission be GRANTED.

	Recommendation
	200.	It is recommended that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions listed in Appendix A.


	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENTS:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.
	Officers considered the information provided by the applicant, together with the response from consultees and other parties, and determined that the proposal would have no material impact on individuals or identifiable groups with protected characteristics. Accordingly, no changes to the proposal were required to make it acceptable in this regard.


	CONDITIONS
	Reason for approval
	On balance, it is considered that the proposal would be in accordance with the relevant policies of the development plan. The proposal will provide local, relatively small-scale capacity for recycling of construction, demolition and excavation waste, with good highway connections, meeting a local need (Policies 5, 17, 18, 25, 27, 30).  It would not materially harm the character of the area in terms of visual and landscape impacts due to adequate screening and development design, and it would be a confined, isolated development (Policies 5, 10 and 13). Ecological impacts will be adequately controlled through proposed mitigation measures (Policy 3). The proposed development would not result in adverse public health and safety impacts, or unacceptable adverse amenity impacts local residents (Policy 10). It would also be acceptable in terms of highway safety and convenience (Policy 12).
	Tonnages
	1.	No waste other than soils and inert waste shall be imported to the site. No more than 15,000 tonnes of soils and inert waste shall be imported to the site per annum. A written record of tonnage entering and leaving the site shall be kept onsite and made available to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority for inspection upon request.
	2.	No heavy goods vehicles (HGV) associated with the use hereby permitted shall enter or leave the site and no plant or machinery shall be operated except between the following hours: (i) 0700-1800 Mondays to Fridays and (ii) Saturdays 0800-1300. During the allowed Saturday hours only delivery and export of material shall take place and no crushing or screening operations shall take place. There shall be no working on Sundays or on recognised Bank Holidays.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013)
	3.	No external lighting shall be installed or used at the site.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents and the local landscape from unacceptable lighting impacts in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside) and 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	4.	All stockpiles shall be no greater than 4 metres above ground level until such time as the infill planting required by Condition 5 and screening associated with the landscape bund required by Condition 7 provide sufficient screening, as approved in writing by the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, to allow 5 metre high stockpiles.
	No plant or machinery shall be operated on the stockpiles.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of the local landscape in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	5.	Within 1 month of the date of permission being hereby granted, the operator shall submit to and have approved in writing by the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, a planting scheme for infill planting along the field boundary hedgerows on Farnham Lane (A287) and Bowling Alley.
	The scheme shall be implemented within the first planting season. Planting shall be maintained for a period of 5 years post implementation and any plant failures in each and every year of that period, shall be replaced with equivalent selected standard sized trees in the next planting season.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of the local landscape in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	6.	Dust netting attached to the concrete fencing and poles, and as required by Condition 8, shall be dark coloured (dark green or dark brown).
	Reason: To ensure the protection of the local landscape in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	7.	The bunds and associated planting scheme shown on 1579-KC-XX-YTREE-BSLP-01 Rev0, ‘Bund Soft Landscape Plan’ dated May 2021 landscape plan for the bunds shall be implementing within the first planting season of the date of permission being hereby granted.
	Planting shall be maintained for a period of 5 years post implementation and any plant failures in each and every year of that period, shall be replaced with equivalent selected standard sized trees in the next planting season.
	The bunds and installed planting shall be retained for the duration of the development.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of the local landscape in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	8.	Within 3 months of the date of permission being hereby granted, the 2m concrete fencing, 4m pole and associated dust netting shall be installed in accordance with Drawing 1579-KC-XX-YTREE-ASP01 RevF ‘Proposed aggregate and soil recycling site plan’, Dated Feb 2021 and Drawing 872-LA-P-01 RevB ‘Proposed Cross Sections‘, Dated July 2021.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside), and to ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	9.	The Noise and Vibration Emissions Management System Version 1.1, Dated 1 October 2020 shall be implemented in full, from the date of this decision and for the duration of the development hereby permitted.  A record of daily noise and vibration inspections and complaint forms shall be kept and made available to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority for inspection upon request.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	10.	No more than one campaign activity (either soil screening or crushing) shall take place on the site at the same time.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	11.	The soil screener, and crusher, that were the subject of Environmental Noise Survey and Plant Noise Assessment Report, 28536/PNA1/Rev3, dated 18 October 2022, shall be the only ones used on site for the duration of the development, unless alternative plant is approved in writing by the Minerals and Waste Planning after considering if it is commensurate in their noise and visual impact.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	13.	The Dust Emissions Management Plan Version 1.3, Dated 4 April 2022 shall be implemented in full, from the date of this decision and for the duration of the development hereby permitted. A record of daily dust inspections and complaint forms shall be kept and made available to the Waste Planning Authority for inspection upon request.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside), and to ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in accordance with 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	14.	The dust netting shall be maintained and free from holes for the duration of the development.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside), and to ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	15.	No burning of any sort shall take place on the site at any time.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local residents, visitors and those working within the locality in accordance with Policies 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste development) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	16.	Within 1 month of the date of permission being hereby granted, an Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan in accordance with BS:5837 shall be submitted to, and have approved in writing by, the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority.
	The development hereby permitted shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved Tree Protection Plan, including implementation of tree protection prior to any activity effecting arboriculture.
	Reason: In the interests of biodiversity, landscape character and visual amenity in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species), 10 (Protecting public health, safety and amenity) and 13 (High-quality design of minerals and waste developments) of the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	17.	The construction and operation of the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with all measures contained in the Section 5 of the Environmental Impact Assessment, Dated 5 April 2022.
	The protection of the open watercourse habitat around the site shall be ensured throughout the duration of the construction and operation of the development hereby permitted.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	18.	Prior to construction of the surrounding wall required by Condition 8, any litter and other foreign objects located in the open watercourses around the site shall be removed.  The drainage pipe through the bund identified in Figure 2 of the Environmental Impact Assessment, Dated 5 April 2022, shall be removed.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	19.	Within 1 month of the date of permission being hereby granted, a plan showing the proposed locations of the two bird and two bat boxes stated as mitigation in Chapter 5 of the Ecological Impact Assessment, dated April 2022, shall be submitted to, and have approved in writing by, the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority.
	The bird and bat boxes shall be installed according to the approved plan and shall be retained for the duration of the development.
	Reason: To ensure the protection of local ecology and biodiversity from unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policies 3 (Protection of habitats and species) and 5 (Protection of the countryside) in the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan (2013).
	20.	A maximum of 24 HGV movements a day (12 in and 12 out) associated with the use hereby permitted shall enter or leave the site on any working day. Records of vehicle movements to and from the site and the times of entry and departure shall be kept and made available to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority for inspection upon request.
	21.	No vehicle associated with the use hereby permitted shall leave the site unless it has been cleaned sufficiently to prevent mud and spoil being carried onto the highway.
	22.	All vehicles transporting waste to or exporting material from the site shall be sheeted.
	23.	In the event of the cessation of the uses hereby permitted, within 2 months, a Restoration Scheme shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Mineral and Waste Planning Authority detailing the return of the site to agricultural uses within 12 months of the cessation.
	All plant, buildings, structures, hardstandings and associated infrastructure shall be removed from the site and the site should be restored in accordance with approved scheme.
	The scheme shall include details of:
	(i) the thickness and quality of subsoil and topsoil to be used and the method of soil handling and spreading, including the machinery to be used;
	(ii) the ripping of any compacted layers of final cover to ensure adequate drainage and aeration, such ripping to take place before placing of topsoil;
	(iii) measures to be taken to drain the restored land; and
	(iv) details of proposed seeding.
	Reason: To ensure satisfactory restoration in accordance with Policies 5 (Protection of the countryside) and 9 (Restoration of minerals and waste developments) of the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).
	24.	Notwithstanding the provisions of parts 4 (Temporary Buildings and Uses), 7 and 16 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any other order revoking and re-enacting that Order) fixed plant or machinery, buildings, structures and erections, private ways and telecommunications antenna shall not be erected, extended, installed or replaced at the site.
	25.	The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans submitted with the application:  The location plan, 1579-KC-XX-YTREE-BSLP01 Rev0, 872-LA-P-01 Rev B, Location Plan, Block Plan, 1579-KC-XX-YTREE-ASP01RevF
	Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
	1.	In determining this planning application, the Waste Planning Authority has worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner in accordance with the requirement in the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
	2.	This decision does not purport or convey any approval or consent which may be required under the Building Regulations or any other Acts, including Byelaws, orders or Regulations made under such acts.
	3.	For the purposes of matters relating to this decision Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) are defined as vehicles over 3.5 tonne un-laden).
	4.	A Liaison Panel should be set up between the site operator, Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, interested parties and community representatives at a suitable frequency to facilitate effective engagement with stakeholders in the interests of promoting communication between the site operator and local community. The County Council’s guidance on the establishment of panels is available to the applicant.
	5.	The site is currently subject to regulation by the Environment Agency under Environmental Permit EPR/JB3404HT.  The operator should ensure any changes to site design required by this planning permission do not require modification of the current Environmental Permit.

	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	Appendix D
	Sheets and Views
	848 -LA -01


	Appendix E
	Sheets and Views
	BundSoftLandscapePlan




